

FILED OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK OAKLAND

2019 OCT 31 PM 1:04

# **AGENDA REPORT**

TO: Sabrina B. Landreth City Administrator

- FROM: Tonya Gilmore Assistant to the City Administrator
- **SUBJECT:** Oakland Unite Evaluation: Year 2 and 3 Strategy Report by Mathematica Policy Research
- **DATE:** October 21, 2019

City Administrator Approval Date: / 0/31/19

#### RECOMMENDATION

Staff Recommends That City Council Receive Informational Reports By Mathematica Policy Research Of The Oakland Unite Services Funded Through The Safety And Services Act Of 2014 (Measure Z).

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The attached reports represent two sub-strategy evaluations of Oakland Unite services by Mathematica funded through the Safety and Services Act of 2014 (Measure Z). New services under Measure Z began in January 2016. The Year 2 strategy evaluation: 2017-2018 Life Coaching and Employment and Education Support for Youth at Risk of Violence Report *(Attachment A)* was presented to the Public Safety and Services Oversight Commission (SSOC) on July 22, 2019, and the Year 3 strategy evaluation: 2018-2019 Crisis Intervention for Commercially Sexually Exploited Youth Report *(Attachment B)* will be presented to the SSOC on November 25, 2019.

## **BACKGROUND / LEGISLATIVE HISTORY**

In October 2016, the Safety and Services Oversight Commission forwarded a recommendation to the City Council, who subsequently approved a contract in November 2016 with Mathematica Policy Research to evaluate the Oakland Unite violence intervention programs and services annually and to provide a four-year comprehensive evaluation. As required by the Measure Z legislation, Mathematica is an independent research organization. The evaluation includes the following components as requested by the Commission and City Council:

• **Annual strategy-level report.** Each year, the strategy-level report assesses the effectiveness of a selection of Oakland Unite strategies.

- **Annual agency-level snapshots.** The agency-level evaluation summarizes descriptive findings for each Oakland Unite agency.
- **Comprehensive evaluation**. The comprehensive evaluation assesses the impact of youth and adult life coaching on individual delinquency, education, and employment outcomes over a four-year period.

#### ANALYSIS AND POLICY ALTERNATIVES

The City selected two sub-strategies to be the focus of the Year 2 strategy evaluation: youth life coaching and employment/education support services. Commercially sexually exploited youth was selected for the Year 3 strategy evaluation, and the Year 4 strategy evaluation will focus on the on Violent Incident and Crisis Response Network.

The Life Coaching and Employment and Education Support for Youth Report presents findings concerning the implementation and short-term impacts on arrests within these two selected substrategies. The Crisis Intervention for Commercially Sexually Exploited Youth Report presents an in-depth analysis of the implementation of the sub-strategy and the City's role in the local policy context.

#### FISCAL IMPACT

This report is for informational purposes only and does not have a direct fiscal impact or cost.

#### PUBLIC INTEREST /OUTREACH

No pubic outreach was conducted in the preparation of this report.

#### COORDINATION

No coordination was deemed necessary for this report.

#### SUSTAINABLE OPPORTUNITIES

*Economic*: Mathematica has an office in Oakland that employs Oakland residents.

*Environmental*: Reducing violence in communities improves the overall quality of life and safety in Oakland neighborhoods.

**Social Equity**: City of Oakland Municipal Code Chapter <u>2.29.170.1</u> specifies that "the City of Oakland will intentionally integrate, on a Citywide basis, the principle of "fair and just" in all the City does in order to achieve equitable opportunities for all people and communities. To this

Item: \_\_\_\_\_ Life Enrichment November 12, 2019 end, the Oakland Unite programs funded by Measure Z and evaluated by Mathematica directly affect those most impacted by violence.

#### ACTION REQUESTED OF THE CITY COUNCIL

Staff Recommends That City Council Committee Receive An Informational Report by Mathematica Policy Research of the Oakland Unite Services Funded Through The Safety and Services Act of 2014 (Measure Z).

For questions regarding this report, please contact Tonya Gilmore, Assistant to the City Administrator, at 510-238-7587.

Respectfully submitted,

TONYA GIUMORE Assistant to the City Administrator

Reviewed by: Peter Kim, Oakland Unite Manager

Prepared by: Mailee C. Wang, Planner

Attachments (2):

A: Oakland Unite: 2017—2018 Strategy Evaluation: Life Coaching and Employment and Education Support for Youth at Risk of Violence

B: Oakland Unite 2018—2019 Strategy Evaluation: Crisis Intervention for Commercially Sexually Exploited Youth

November 12, 2019

Attachment A



# Oakland Unite 2017–2018 Strategy Evaluation:

# Life Coaching and Employment and Education Support for Youth at Risk of Violence

# July 11, 2019

Naihobe Gonzalez, Johanna Lacoe, Armando Yañez, Alicia Demers, Sarah Crissey, & Natalie Larkin

# Submitted to:

Office of the City Administrator 1 FrankH. Ogawa Plaza 3rd Floor Oakland, CA 94612 Project Officer: Tonya Gilmore

# Submitted by:

Mathematica 50514th Street, Suite 800 Oakland, CA 94612-1475 Telephone: (510) 830-3700 Facsimile: (510) 830-3701 Project Director: Johanna Lacoe Reference Number: 50358

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the staff of Oakland Unite who provided input and assistance for this evaluation. Although we cannot name everyone, we especially want to thank Josie Halpern-Finnerty, Valerie Okelola, Mailee Wang, Peter Kim, Mark Henderson, Dan Simmons, and Kentrell Killens. We also thank Tonya Gilmore of the Office of the City Administrator. We are grateful to all of the agencies that shared data for this evaluation, including Cityspan, Alameda County Probation Department, Alameda County Office of Education, Oakland Police Department, Oakland Unified School District, and all of the Oakland Unite agencies. We thank Steven Raphael of the Goldman School of Public Policy at the University of California, Berkeley for providing technical suggestions. Several staff at Mathematica in addition to the authors also contributed to this report. We thank Kevin Conway for his technical review of the report and Esa Eslami for overseeing the creation of the administrative database used in the analyses. John Kennedy and Mike Donaldson provided editing services. Sheena Flowers formatted the report to prepare it for public release.

# Contents

Ack	knowledgments	ii
List	t of acronyms and abbreviations	xii
I.	Introduction	1
	Background	1
	Overview of the report	3
II.	Data, methods, and limitations	5
	Data sources	5
	Analysis methods	6
	Limitations	9
III.	Youth life coaching	11
	Overview of the youth life coaching sub-strategy	11
	Implementation findings	12
	Impact findings	21
IV.	Youth employment and education support services	27
	Overview of the youth EESS sub-strategy	27
	Implementation findings	27
	Impact findings	
V.	Conclusion	43
	Youth life coaching key findings	43
	Youth EESS key findings	44
	Programmatic considerations	45
	Areas for future research	46
Ref	erences	47
Glo	ossary	51
Арр	pendix A: Data sources	A.1
Арр	pendix B: Methods and results	B.1
Арр	pendix C: Evidence-based programs and best practices	C.1

# Tables

II.1.	Data sources5
III.1.	Summary of implementation findings for youth life coaching
IV.1.	Summary of implementation findings for youth EESS
A.1.	Participant survey summary A.3
A.2.	Site visit and interview summary A.4
A.3.	Administrative data sources
A.4.	Participant consent rates by sub-strategyA.6
B.1.	Summary of Oakland Unite sample size restrictions for the outcomes analyses
B.2.	Baseline variables used in the propensity-score models
B.3.	Baseline characteristics of matched Oakland Unite participants and comparison youth
B.4.	Baseline characteristics of matched Oakland Unite participants and comparison youth, for those enrolled in school in the outcome period
B.5.	Impacts of Oakland Unite in the 12 months after enrollment (percentage points)B.12
B.6.	Impacts of Oakland Unite in the 6 months after enrollment (percentage points)B.13
C.1.	Oakland Unite best practices for youth life coaching C.6
C.2.	Oakland Unite best practices recommended for youth EESSC.10

# FIGURES

l.1.	Conceptual model of Oakland Unite1
I.2.	Oakland Unite funding amounts for fiscal year 2018–20192
II.1.	Youth life coaching participants and comparison youth after matching7
II.2.	Youth EESS participants and comparison youth after matching7
III.1.	Youth life coaching agencies12
III.2.	Youth life coaching participant characteristics at enrollment14
III.3.	Youth life coaching participant retention over time
III.4.	Percentage of youth life coaching participants who return after leaving services
III.5.	Youth life coaching service intensity over time for all participants and active participants19
III.6.	Participant arrest rates by month, before and after starting youth life coaching services22
III.7.	Impact of youth life coaching 12 months after enrollment on arrest, conviction, and victimization rates
III.8.	Impact of youth life coaching 12 months after enrollment on school enrollment and engagement
IV.1.	Youth employment and education support agencies27
IV.2.	Youth EESS participant characteristics at enrollment
IV.3.	Youth EESS participant retention over time
IV.4.	Percentage of youth EESS participants who return after leaving services
IV.5.	Length and dosage of youth EESS program services
IV.6.	Total youth EESS work and service hours received
IV.7.	Participant arrest rates by month, before and after starting youth EESS services
IV.8.	Impact of youth EESS 12 months after enrollment on arrest, conviction, and victimization rates40
IV.9.	Impact of youth EESS 12 months after enrollment on school enrollment, attendance, and discipline41



**Oakland Unite Youth Services:** 

New insights on youth life coaching & youth employment and education support services

# Youth life coaching

Aims to re-engage high-risk youth in school and help them reduce contact with the justice system



Youth employment and education support services (EESS)

Aims to improve the economic self-sufficiency and career readiness of high-risk youth



Arrest and enrollment outcomes are regression-adjusted from a propensity-score matching analysis of participants who received services between January 1, 2016 and May 30, 2017. See the report for full results, including additional outcome measures.



# LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- ACOE Alameda County Office of Education
- ACPD Alameda County Probation Department
- BACR Bay Area Community Resources
- the City the City of Oakland
- CSEC commercially sexually exploited children
- CYO Community & Youth Outreach
- EBAC East Bay Agency for Children
- EBAYC East Bay Asian Youth Center
- EESS employment and education support services
- GED general equivalency diploma
- GPA grade point average
- JJC Juvenile Justice Center
- MISSSEY Motivating, Inspiring, Supporting & Serving Sexually Exploited Youth
- OPD Oakland Police Department
- OUSD Oakland Unified School District
- PEPNet Promising and Effective Practices Network
- SSYI Safe and Successful Youth Initiative
- YAIP New York Young Adult Internship Program
- YEP Youth Employment Partnership, Inc.

# I. INTRODUCTION

# Background

Oakland Unite administers and supports grants to agencies offering community-based violence prevention programs in Oakland, California. The Violence Prevention and Public Safety Act of 2004, also known as Measure Y, raised funds for community-based violence prevention programs and policing and fire safety personnel through a parcel tax on Oakland property and a parking tax assessment. In 2014, Oakland residents voted to extend these levies for 10 years through Measure Z, which now raises about \$27 million annually, to focus efforts on specific types of serious violence, including gun violence, family violence, and sex trafficking. Measure Z funds violence prevention programs, police officers, fire services, and evaluation services. Forty percent of these funds are invested in community-based violence prevention programs through Oakland Unite, which is part of the City of Oakland (the City) Human Services Department.

# Figure I.1. Conceptual model of Oakland Unite



As part of this citywide effort to reduce violence, Oakland Unite aims to interrupt and prevent violence by focusing on the youth and young adults in Oakland who are at the highest risk of

direct exposure to violence, violent victimization, and active involvement in violence. Figure I.1 illustrates the relationship between Oakland's neighborhood contexts, Oakland Unite strategies, and the outcomes Oakland Unite is designed to affect. The model highlights how neighborhood context, including communities' exposure to violence and access to quality education, affordable housing, and employment opportunities affects the population served by Oakland Unite. The strategies employed thus focus on improving outcomes for those most disproportionately affected by these factors. Other parts of Measure Z, such as Ceasefire, crime reduction teams, community resource officers, and emergency response through the Oakland Fire Department, are outside of the purview of Oakland Unite and this evaluation, but play important roles in the city's efforts to reduce violence.

Oakland Unite administers grants through a diverse set of strategies and sub-strategies to accomplish violence prevention and reduction. Every two to three years, Oakland Unite prepares a new spending plan based on community input and evaluation findings. Figure I.2 presents the five strategies (life coaching, education and economic self-sufficiency, violent incident and crisis response, and community asset building) and the 11 sub-strategies supported by Oakland Unite in the 2018–2019 fiscal year. A new 2019–2021 spending plan will refine the current strategies going forward.<sup>1</sup>



Figure I.2. Oakland Unite funding amounts for fiscal year 2018-2019

 $<sup>^{1}\,</sup>See\,\underline{http://oaklandunite.org/blog/oakland-unite-spending-plan/}\,for\,more\,information.$ 

\*These sub-strategies are administered by the Human Services Department. EESS = employment and education support services; CSEC = commercially sexually exploited children.

Under Measure Z, the City also funds an independent evaluation of Oakland Unite. The fouryear evaluation conducted by Mathematica includes (1) annual strategy-level evaluations that assess the implementation and effectiveness of a selection of Oakland Unite strategies, (2) annual agency-level snapshots that summarize the work of each Oakland Unite agency, and (3) a comprehensive evaluation that will study the impact of select Oakland Unite programs on participant outcomes from 2016 to 2020.

In this 2017–2018 strategy evaluation, we present in-depth analyses of the two youth substrategies selected by the City as the focus of this report:

- *Youth life coaching* aims to reengage high-risk youth in school and reduce their engagement with the juvenile justice system. Life coaches work closely with youth to set goals, develop service plans, and connect them to other services.
- Youth employment and education support services (EESS) aims to strengthen the academic success and career readiness of youth at risk of violence by offering youth academic support and subsidized work experience.

In 2016–2017, the strategy evaluation focused on the life coaching and EESS sub-strategies for adults (<u>Gonzalez et al. 2017</u>). A key finding of that report was that participating in adult life coaching or adult EESS services decreased the likelihood of arrest for a violent offense in the six months after enrollment by 1 percentage point relative to a comparison group but had limited effects on other outcomes. In future years, other sub-strategies will be selected for in-depth analysis. Detailed information about the services provided by Oakland Unite agencies across all strategies is available in the 2016–2018 agency report (Eslami et al. 2019).

# Overview of the report

The rest of this report is organized as follows: Chapter II provides an overview of the data collection and research methods, and discusses limitations. Chapter III presents the implementation and impact findings related to youth life coaching, and Chapter IV presents the findings related to youth EESS. Chapter V summarizes the key findings for each sub-strategy and provides suggested considerations for the future. A glossary of terms is presented at the end of the report. Appendix A includes additional information about data collection and processing, Appendix B describes the methodologies and results, and Appendix C includes a review of previous research and best practices for each sub-strategy.

# **II. DATA, METHODS, AND LIMITATIONS**

The strategy evaluation aims to assess the implementation of the youth life coaching and youth EESS sub-strategies and their impacts on relevant participant outcomes, including involvement with the juvenile justice system and engagement in school. Below we describe the data sources and analysis methods we used in the report, as well as potential limitations to our analyses.

# Data sources

To learn about how the youth life coaching and EESS sub-strategies were implemented and assess their impacts on youth outcomes, we collected and analyzed qualitative and quantitative information about agencies and participants. Qualitative data collection included site visits and semistructured interviews at each agency funded by these sub-strategies, as well as a review of documents and materials provided by Oakland Unite and agency staff. In addition, we conducted a survey to gather information about Oakland Unite directly from a subset of participants. Finally, we collected multiple years of administrative data from various sources, as listed in Table II.1. Appendix A contains more-detailed descriptions of each data source.

Data source	Description
Agency visits and semistructured interviews	During visits to each agency, the evaluation team conducted semistructured interviews with agency staff members, including managers and line staff. Visits took place in July and August 2017. Follow-up telephone interviews were then conducted in August and September 2018.
Review of documents and materials	The evaluation team reviewed materials provided by Oakland Unite staff as well as materials collected directly from agencies during the site visits, such as scopes of work, agency budgets, and intake forms.
Participant survey	General topics of the participant survey included satisfaction with services, thoughts about the future, and experiences with violence. The surveys were fielded at each agency during September and October 2018. Across all agencies, 63 youth life coaching participants and 46 youth employment and education support services participants took the survey.
Administrative data	The evaluation team collected school enrollment, attendance, behavior, and academic data from the Oakland Unified School District and Alameda County Office of Education; information on arrests, convictions, and dispositions from the Alameda County Probation Department; arrest and victimization incidents from the Oakland Police Department; and service and participant information from Oakland Unite's Cityspan database.

# Table II.1. Data sources

To link individuals across the multiple sources of administrative data, we used identifying information, including first and last name, date of birth, gender, and address. Oakland Unite participants had to provide consent before their identifying information could be shared with evaluators. For youth life coaching participants who enrolled between January 2016 and May 2017, the consent rate was 90 percent. The consent rate for youth EESS during the same period was 91 percent. Individuals who did not consent to share their personal information are included

in descriptive statistics about services received but excluded from any analyses of outcomes, which require linking participants to other administrative data.

# Analysis methods

We used a mix of qualitative and quantitative methods to assess the implementation of each substrategy and its effect on participant outcomes in the 12-month period after beginning services. For the implementation analysis, we reviewed materials provided by Oakland Unite, analyzed interview responses within and across agencies in the same sub-strategy to highlight key themes, and summarized participant survey and administrative data about services and participants.

For the impact analysis of each sub-strategy, we identified a comparison group of individuals who were similar to participants in that sub-strategy but did not receive any Oakland Unite services. These individuals were drawn from data from the Alameda County Office of Education (ACOE), Alameda County Probation Department (ACPD), Oakland Police Department (OPD), and Oakland Unified School District (OUSD) data. To identify a similar comparison group, we used an approach known as propensity-score matching, which took into account individuals' demographics and prior juvenile justice, victimization, and educational histories based on the available administrative data. Propensity-score matching is a well-established approach for analyzing program impacts and has been found to approximate the results of experimental methods (Fortson et al. 2015; Gill et al. 2015).

To be included in the impact analyses, participants had to (1) consent to share their personal information for evaluation, (2) receive services between January 2016 and May 2017, (3) meet a minimum service threshold (10 hours for youth life coaching and either 10 nonwork hours or 40 work hours for youth EESS), and (4) have recorded demographic data. After these restrictions were applied, there were 297 participants in youth life coaching and 209 participants in youth EESS available for matching. Of these, 260 youth life coaching participants were matched to an average of 16 comparison individuals each and 179 youth EESS participants received matches (19 each, on average).<sup>2</sup> A small number of participants did not receive matches because no comparison group members resembled them sufficiently.

After matching, participants and comparison youth had similar demographic characteristics and juvenile justice, victimization, and educational histories. Figures II.1 and II.2 compare selected baseline characteristics of Oakland Unite and comparison youth in the analysis sample after matching. In the regression analysis used to compare the two groups' outcomes, we also controlled for small remaining differences in individuals' characteristics and histories, taking into account the timing of their juvenile justice, victimization, and education experiences. Appendix B describes additional details about the sample and the matching and regression

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  When examining chronic absence from school and school discipline after beginning Oakland Unite services, we further restricted the sample to youth who were enrolled in school in the outcome period and conducted a separate match for these subset of youth. See Appendix B for additional details.

methodology, and also presents additional data on the baseline characteristics of Oakland Unite participants and the comparison group.



Figure II.1. Youth life coaching participants and comparison youth after matching

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

Note: The total sample is 4,138, including 260 youth life coaching participants. To be included in this analysis, participants needed to have at least 10 hours of services between January 1, 2016 and May 31, 2017, and have consented to share their data for evaluation. The school enrollment rate is based on youth who were under 18 years of age when they began services. None of the differences in the figure are statistically significant at the 5 percent level.



Figure II.2. Youth EESS participants and comparison youth after matching

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

Note: The total sample is 3,496, including 179 youth EESS participants. To be included in this analysis, participants needed to have at least 10 hours of nonwork services or 40 work hours between January 1, 2016 and May 31, 2017, and have consented to share their data for evaluation. The school enrollment rate is based on youth who were under 18 years of age when they began services. None of the differences in the figure are statistically significant at the 5 percent level.

After conducting the match, we analyzed outcomes in the 12-month period after participants began Oakland Unite services. Table II.2 lists the confirmatory and exploratory outcomes of the impact analyses that were determined before beginning the analyses.<sup>3</sup> Participants began receiving services between January 2016 and May 2017 and therefore had different follow-up periods, ranging from February 2016–February 2017 to June 2017–June 2018.<sup>4</sup> The follow-up period for the comparison individuals corresponded to the same follow-up period for the Oakland Unite participant they were matched to. We measured the impact of participating in Oakland Unite on these outcomes using regression analyses.

Confirmatory outcomes	Exploratory outcomes
Had an arrest for any offense in Alameda County	<ul> <li>Had an arrest for an offense involving a gun in Alameda County</li> <li>Had an arrest for a violent offense in Alameda County</li> </ul>
Had any delinquent finding or conviction in Alameda County	<ul> <li>Was sentenced to formal probation supervision in Alameda County</li> <li>Violated probation in Alameda County</li> </ul>
Was a victim of any violent crime reported to OPD	
Enrolled in an OUSD or ACOE school	
If enrolled in school, was chronically absent (missed 10 percent or more of school days)	
If enrolled in school, had a recorded violent incident in school	
	<ul> <li>Alameda County</li> <li>Had any delinquent finding or conviction in Alameda County</li> <li>Was a victim of any violent crime reported to OPD</li> <li>Enrolled in an OUSD or ACOE school</li> <li>If enrolled in school, was chronically absent (missed 10 percent or more of school days)</li> <li>If enrolled in school, had a recorded violent incident in</li> </ul>

OPD = Oakland Police Department; OUSD = Oakland United School District; ACOE = Alameda County Office of Education.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As an additional exploratory analysis, we examined short-term arrest, victimization, and recidivism outcomes in a 6-month, rather than 12-month, window after the start of services. The results of all exploratory analyses are reported in Appendix B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Some people who received services in the early months of 2016 had begun participating in Oakland Unite in the previous year. However, we did not have information about services received before January 1, 2016 (the start of the Measure Z funding period) for this report.

# Limitations

Although the data sources and methods used for this evaluation provided rich information about the youth life coaching and EESS sub-strategies, they have some limitations:

# The impact results may reflect differences between participants and comparison individuals that were not captured in the available data, particularly for the youth life coaching strategy.

We matched Oakland Unite participants to similar comparison individuals using a large number of characteristics, but in any non-experimental analysis it is possible that some differences could remain. In particular, youth life coaching programs are designed to serve youth judged to be at greatest immediate risk for violence, which was difficult to account for in the analysis. Although they had similar rates of contact with law enforcement in the 12 months before starting services (Figure II.1), youth life coaching participants were more likely than comparison youth to be arrested, convicted, or be placed in juvenile hall in the period immediately preceding the start of services (see Table B.3 in Appendix B). As a result, the analysis might underestimate the impact of services on their outcomes.

*The report could exclude educational, criminal justice, and victimization data not reported in the available sources.* The available education data only included public, non-charter schools in OUSD and ACOE. Youth enrolled in other types of schools in Alameda County or beyond would be missing from these sources. Similarly, the report used criminal justice data reported by ACPD or OPD, which could exclude incidents outside of these jurisdictions (for example, arrests and court processing in neighboring cities). Finally, victimization data only reflected incidents reported to OPD, and frequently had incomplete personally identifiable information needed to link to other records.

The impact analyses were limited to participants who consented to have their information matched to other data sources. About 10 percent of participants in each sub-strategy did not consent to share their identifiable information. People who do not consent to participate in the evaluation may differ from those who do. For example, Oakland Unite data show that both youth life coaching and EESS participants who did not consent received fewer service hours, on average, than those who consented.

# The participant and staff perspectives collected may not reflect the perspectives of all

*participants and staff.* Participant surveys were conducted with a small convenience sample of participants who happened to be present or were selected by the agency. In addition, participants (as well as the staff who were interviewed) could have provided responses that they felt would reflect favorably upon themselves or their agencies. Although we informed participants and staff that their answers would be kept confidential, we cannot rule out this possibility.

# III. YOUTH LIFE COACHING

# Overview of the youth life coaching sub-strategy

The youth life coaching sub-strategy aims to reengage high-risk youth in school and help them reduce or eliminate their contact with the juvenile justice system. This sub-strategy is a partnership among Oakland Unite, ACPD, OUSD, and Alameda County Health Care Services. The OUSD education services coordinator, along with Probation Department staff, refer youth who live in Oakland and are being released from the Alameda County Juvenile Justice Center (JJC) to agencies for life coaching services. The life coaching model is centered on building transformative relationships between youth and trained peer professionals with similar life experiences through high-frequency contacts and extended service periods of 12 to 18 months. Life coaches develop detailed life maps with participants and families that identify needs and strengths, guide connections to other services and supports, and use financial incentives to support positive action.

Oakland Unite currently funds six life coaching agencies, for a total annual grant award of \$1,380,000.<sup>5</sup> The agencies that offer youth life coaching services are identified in Figure III.1. In this chapter, we present implementation and impact findings for this sub-strategy. A summary of related evidence-based programs and Oakland Unite recommended best practices for youth life coaching is available in Appendix C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In addition to these six agencies, two partners that provide referral and placement coordination (Alameda County Juvenile Probation Department and OUSD Enrollment Coordinator) also receive funding. We did not interview the Probation Department.

# Figure III.1. Youth life coaching agencies

east boy agency for children	<b>East Bay Agency for Children</b> (EBAC) specializes in addressing the mental health needs of youth with trauma. EBAC staffs a part-time mental health clinician to work with participants, refers them to other in-house support programs (such as its family resource centers), and partners with Bay Area Legal Aid to connect them to legal assistance.
EBAYC	<b>East Bay Asian Youth Center</b> (EBAYC) provides life coaching services with a focus on helping youth enroll in school, complete the terms of their probation, connect to a supportive adult, and access career pathway employment programs and academic learning support. EBAYC also offers multilingual services.
	<b>Motivating, Inspiring, Supporting &amp; Serving Sexually Exploited Youth</b> (MISSSEY) aims to support sexually exploited youth. Life coaches provide trauma-informed support and mentoring and connect youth to w raparound services. Youth can also spend time in MISSSEY's drop-in center, which provides a safe space for them.
*	The Mentoring Center draws on its mentoring curriculum, which is designed to encourage character development, cognitive restructuring, and spiritual development, and includes life
THE MENTORING CENTER	skills, employment, and anger management training. In addition, Mentoring Center staff facilitate prosocial learning groups for youth.
	skills, employment, and anger management training. In addition, Mentoring Center staff
	skills, employment, and anger management training. In addition, Mentoring Center staff facilitate prosocial learning groups for youth. <b>OUSD Alternative Education</b> , in partnership with Community and Youth Outreach (CYO) and the Alameda County Office of Education (ACOE), supports youth in their transition back to school. Youth are connected to life coaches based on their placement in an OUSD

Source: Documents provided by Oakland Unite, agency websites, and interviews with agency staff.

Note: The Alameda County Juvenile Probation Department and the OUSD enrollment coordinator provide referral and placement coordination. Because they do not provide direct services, they are not included in this figure.

# Implementation findings

In this section, we discuss a number of key findings about how Oakland Unite agencies implemented the youth life coaching sub-strategy. These findings are summarized in Table III.1.

Category	Summary of implementation findings
Target population	<ul> <li>Youth life coaching agencies primarily serve high-risk African American and Hispanic youth with high rates of contact with the juvenile justice system, direct or indirect exposure to violence, and low engagement with school.</li> <li>The youth life coaching sub-strategy expanded eligibility criteria to take a more preventive approach to reducing violence.</li> <li>Along with the expanded eligibility criteria, a task force headed by the Alameda County District Attorney's office helped agencies identify commercially sexually exploited children.</li> </ul>
Collaboration and referrals	<ul> <li>Agency staff report that having additional information from the Probation Department about youth when they are initially referred to life coaching services would improve the process.</li> </ul>

# Table III.1. Summary of implementation findings for youth life coaching

Category	Summary of implementation findings	
	<ul> <li>Frequent communication between the enrollment coordinator and life coaching agencies helps ensure that youth are referred to the right agency and life coach.</li> <li>Semimonthly case conferencing meetings organized by Oakland Unite help life coaches receive feedback on challenging cases and share knowledge and expertise.</li> </ul>	
Materials and trainings	• Life coaches have found the tools and trainings offered by the Human Services Department useful, but identified some areas for improvement.	
Staffing	<ul> <li>Most agencies have experienced staff turnover and report that it is difficult to identify and retain candidates with the right skills, training, and personal background for the position.</li> </ul>	
Participant satisfaction and retention	<ul> <li>Participants are expected to remain engaged for up to 18 months under the program model, but more than a quarter drop out in the first month.</li> <li>Participants report high levels of satisfaction with life coaching services and hold positive outlooks for the future.</li> </ul>	
Service provision	<ul> <li>Although Oakland Unite recommends caseloads of up to 15 participants, life coaches said they typically work with 10 to 12 cases at a time due to the intensity of program services.</li> <li>Among the subset of youth who continue to engage in services over time, service intensity is typically 8 to 10 contacts per month.</li> </ul>	
Financial support and incentives	• Life coaches report that financial incentives help motivate youth, but incentive amounts are too low or run out too quickly for some participants.	
Substance abuse and mental health	<ul> <li>Life coaches find it challenging to stop substance abuse and employ a harm reduction approach to address the problem.</li> <li>Life coaches use their discretion to refer participants to counseling services when they do not feel equipped to address youth's trauma.</li> </ul>	
Family engagement	Agencies connect parents and youth with children to other support services and help youth improve relationships with their families when this is a stated goal.	

Source: Site visits, interviews with agency staff, and documents and administrative data provided by Oakland Unite.

## **Target population**

# Youth life coaching agencies primarily serve high-risk African American and Hispanic youth with high rates of contact with the juvenile justice system, direct or indirect exposure to violence, and low engagement with school. Figure III.2 describes key background

characteristics of youth who enrolled in life coaching. Over two-thirds of participants were African American, and 18 percent were Hispanic. Seventy-two percent of participants were male. Notably, one agency that serves youth who have experienced or are at risk of experiencing commercial sexual exploitation primarily works with African American girls and young women. Although the majority of youth life coaching participants are in the 13- to 18-year-old target age range, 42 percent were older than 18 at the time of enrollment.



# Figure III.2. Youth life coaching participant characteristics at enrollment

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

Note: Demographic information is based on 625 participants who received services between January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2018. Measures of arrest, victimization, and school engagement are based on the 87 percent of these participants who consented to share their identifying information for evaluation.

Most participants (86 percent) had been arrested before receiving services, and almost half were on formal probation supervision. In addition to having previous contact with the juvenile justice system, many participants had been directly or indirectly affected by violence. Thirty-nine percent were victims of violence or assault reported to OPD (39 percent). On the participant survey (not reported in the figure), almost half of youth life coaching respondents reported having lost a loved one to violence in the last year.

Among school-aged participants, many had limited engagement with school before starting services. Approximately 20 percent of school-aged participants were not enrolled in either OUSD or ACOE in the 12 months before starting services. Among those who were enrolled in school, 67 percent were chronically absent from school, and 36 percent had been suspended or expelled during that period. Their academic performance (not reported in the figure) was also low—youth life coaching participants who were enrolled in school had a GPA of 1.29 (of 4.0) in the most recent school year.

*The youth life coaching sub-strategy expanded eligibility criteria to take a more preventive approach to reducing violence.* Youth life coaching originally targeted youth who had been referred by the JJC Transition Center. However, as of July 2018, the sub-strategy has broadened the eligibility criteria to include youth who are at risk of engaging in or being victims of violence. The JJC and several life coaches stated that they broadened the eligibility criteria because the number of youth being detained decreased, yet each agency was still responsible for meeting enrollment targets. The Human Services Department confirmed that this change was implemented to address several factors, including a decrease in the number of eligible referrals

and the number of youth that life coaching agencies encountered who demonstrated risk factors but were not justice-involved.

# Along with the expanded eligibility criteria, a task force headed by the Alameda County District Attorney's office helped agencies identify CSEC. Identifying CSEC requires coordination across several partners, as criminal charges alone may not indicate whether youth are at risk of sexual exploitation. The SafetyNet Committee, a task force headed by the District Attorney's Office, plays an important role in identifying CSEC and referring them for life coaching and other services. The committee convenes weekly and includes social workers, case managers, Oakland Unite life coaches, the JJC Transition Center enrollment coordinator, as well as District Attorney's Office staff and public defenders. In addition to traditional referrals from the JJC Transition Center, the expanded eligibility criteria now allow MISSSEY to receive referrals from other Oakland Unite agencies, such as Bay Area Women Against Rape, or from other organizations that attend the SafetyNet meetings, such as Bay Area Legal Aid.

## **Collaboration and referrals**

Agency staff report that having additional information from the Probation Department about youth when they are initially referred to life coaching services would improve the process. Previously, the Probation Department would inform the JJC Transition Center whether youth were at high, medium, or low risk of reoffending, either in writing or through a phone conversation. The detailed results of the risk assessment (including the score) were not shared. Most recently, the Probation Department no longer shares information from the assessment with the JJC Transition Center. Staff reported that a change to the Probation Department's policies around data sharing has limited the flow of information to life coaching agencies.

After the initial referral, life coaches are supposed to contact the youth's family within two days of receiving the referral. However, agencies shared that missing contact information in Oakland Unite's database (Cityspan) makes this protocol difficult to follow. One program manager said, "If I go into Cityspan and look at the baseline information, there is only the youth name and date of birth—no address, nothing. So how do I know how to call this kid?" Similarly, when describing the challenges around contact information, a life coach at another agency shared that phone numbers are often incorrect, and addresses do not reflect where the youth live.

Additionally, staff reported challenges in contacting probation officers and receiving information from them that could help during the referral process. One life coach shared, "The attempt to contact probation officers is part of our protocol but much of the time there is no returned call." Some of the agencies have established relationships with probation officers through personal connections and previous work experience. Agencies without such informal connections shared that they are focused on developing these relationships because greater involvement by the Probation Department helps life coaches make their initial contacts.

# Frequent communication between the enrollment coordinator and life coaching agencies helps ensure that youth are referred to the right agency and life coach. Several factors

determine the agency to which the JJC Transition Center refers youth, including geographic area, gender, safety concerns, race, language, gang/group affiliation, identification as CSEC, and other

specific needs. The JJC enrollment coordinator meets with all life coaches when they are first hired to learn about their background, language fluency, and other information useful for referral purposes. The enrollment coordinator then maintains frequent communication with all life coaches, checking in about once a week to discuss caseloads and learn whether life coaches are able to receive referrals.

Semimonthly case conferencing meetings organized by Oakland Unite help life coaches receive feedback on challenging cases and share knowledge and expertise. Semimonthly case conferencing meetings have helped agencies establish a tight-knit, supportive community. Several life coaches reported that staff across agencies share information, resources, and experiences during monthly case conferencing meetings, as well as informally in between meetings. One life coaching supervisor shared, "It is helpful to feel the sense of community through Oakland Unite between the [life coaching agencies] and Transition Center staff." In particular, life coaches shared that the feedback they receive from their peers and the skills developed in trainings make the monthly case conferencing meetings a valuable opportunity.

## Materials and trainings

Life coaches have found the tools and trainings offered by the Human Services Department useful, but identified some areas for improvement. Life coaches engage with youth to develop a life map within the first 30 days of services, which includes goals that youth work to address during their time with an agency. Most life coaches said this tool helps them plan services and measure participants' progress. However, some mentioned that it is difficult to track youth's outcomes related to their life map goals in Cityspan.

Life coaches found the all-day seminar—popularly referred to as the Oakland Unite Summit—as well as the trauma, burnout, and motivational interviewing trainings helpful. Life coaches shared that the Oakland Unite Summit in particular offered a macro-level perspective for Oakland Unite and the opportunity to connect with other agencies. However, life coaches noted that the times trainings are held tend to conflict with peak service hours, which are after school when youth are most vulnerable. Two life coaches shared that some presenters could have been more informative. Lastly, life coaches from one agency said that the trainings tend to focus on working with male youth and young adults only.

## Staffing

Most agencies have experienced staff turnover and report that it is difficult to identify and retain candidates with the right skills, training, and personal background for the position. All but one agency (EBAYC) reported challenges with staff turnover. One program manager shared that since receiving the grant, the agency had gone through three different life coaches, which affected the agency's ability to meet grant deliverables and provide services to participants. The agencies attributed turnover to their inability to match the salaries offered by other organizations, the high cost of living in the Bay Area, and the stressful and dangerous nature of the life coaching position. Life coaches shared that they are frequently exposed to high-crime areas and work with youth to address difficult situations. One life coach shared that more "self-help" days

would allow the life coaches to manage burnout because they frequently work beyond their regular hours and on weekends.

## Participant satisfaction and retention

*Participants are expected to remain engaged for 12 to 18 months under the program model, but more than a quarter drop out in the first month.* According to Cityspan data, 72 percent of youth who begin receiving life coaching services return in the following month (Figure III.3). By the third month, one-third of youth have dropped out. Although participant retention continues to decline over time, the largest drop-off occurs between the first and second months. At 12 months, only 37 percent of youth continue to receive life coaching services. On average, youth engage with life coaching agencies for over 9 months, although this can include some inactive periods. Taking into account only months in which at least some services were received, the average length of active participation is 8 months.





Source: Cityspan data.

Note: This figure is based on 417 participants who received services between January 1, 2016 and June 30, 2017, so that all participants could be tracked for at least 18 months, through December 31, 2018. The pattern of retention is very similar for youth who began receiving services more recently.

Service duration varies significantly across participants and can include multiple periods of active engagement for some. Life coaches explained that sometimes participants engage in services for a few months, drop off, and then reengage. This is apparent in the retention patterns in Figure III.3. In some months, such as month 12, retention increases slightly as more youth return to services than leave. About 30 percent of youth engage in services during multiple service periods, separated by one month or more of inactivity. Figure III.4 summarizes the percentage of youth who return for services after leaving life coaching early, depending on the

length of their first service period. Although 60 to 64 percent of these youth do not return for services, the other 36 to 40 percent of youth do return, typically within a few months of their first contact with life coaching.





Source: Cityspan data.

Note: This figure is based on 625 participants who received services between January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2018.

Life coaches said that some participants who are referred to life coaching are not ready for services and either drop out early during the process or take some time before fully engaging in services. Exit reasons were not tracked in Cityspan, but life coaches said that youth who drop out commonly have difficulty getting out of their comfort zones, have families move away from Oakland, or are incarcerated for violating the terms of their probation. Life coaches try to make contact with youth for up to 30 days after they have disengaged from life coaching services, but noted that they are not notified when youth are incarcerated, which makes it difficult for them to maintain contact when this occurs.

*Participants report high levels of satisfaction with life coaching services and hold positive outlooks for the future.* Ninety-four percent of surveyed participants indicated that they are satisfied with their life coaching agency, with two-thirds strongly agreeing that they were satisfied. Satisfaction was similarly high (above 90 percent) with the kinds of services offered, staff availability, and how the staff listen, understand, and treat participants with respect. More than three-quarters of life coaching survey respondents (87 percent) agreed or strongly agreed that their situation is better because of the Oakland Unite services.

Despite the number of challenges faced by life coaching participants, when asked what they thought their lives would be like one year in the future, the vast majority of respondents

expressed positive outlooks. All survey respondents indicated that it was likely or very likely that they would have a safe place to live, avoid unwanted contact with the police, and be able to resolve conflicts without violence. At least 90 percent of respondents noted that they would likely or very likely finish their education, be more hopeful about life, be better able to deal with a crisis, avoid unhealthy drug or alcohol use, have a steady job, contribute to their community, have stronger relationships, and resolve their legal problems.

## Service provision

Although Oakland Unite recommends caseloads of up to 15 participants, given the frequency of contacts required and the varying needs of program participants, most life coaches said that working with about 10 to 12 participants at a time was preferable to the recommended 15:1 ratio. However, some life coaches noted that their number of actual cases might reach up to 16 participants if they are currently managing some out of services. Staff reported that in addition to providing services, other tasks such as entering case notes and tracking data in Cityspan, conducting outreach, tracking down participants during the referral process, meeting with supervisors, and attending case conferencing meetings contribute to their overall workload.

Among the subset of youth who continue to engage in services over time, service intensity is typically 8 to 11 contacts per month. Figure III.5 depicts the service trajectory over time for all participants (in the dotted line) and for participants who continue to engage in services in that month (in the solid line). The decline in service intensity for all participants, as measured by the average number of contacts received in each month, reflects the attrition of youth from life coaching services as time progresses.



Figure III.5. Youth life coaching service intensity over time for all participants and active participants

Source: Cityspan data.

Note: This figure is based on 625 participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and June 30, 2017. Active participants are youth who continued to receive services in a given month.
Over the duration of their participation, the average participant receives a total of about 61 hours of case management and 7 hours of peer support counseling. However, because of the significant variation in the length of participation across participants, many youth receive varying amounts of service dosage. Overall, 26 percent of youth receive fewer than 10 hours of services, whereas 24 percent receive more than 100 hours.

### **Financial support and incentives**

Life coaches reported that financial incentives help motivate youth, but also said that incentive amounts are too low or run out too quickly for some participants. While working on the life map, life coaches and participants review each step toward a goal and determine which steps to incentivize. One life coach said this process "helps kids build self-advocacy skills and talk about what they really want to have incentives for." Other life coaches shared similar thoughts on incentives, with one life coach remarking that some youth "wouldn't come if they didn't get the incentives." About 13 percent of the sub-strategy's budget is allocated for participant financial support and incentives.

Life coaches also identified some challenges with incentives. First, the incentive amount is not sufficient for some youth. Some youth have told life coaches that they can earn more money on the streets than from the incentives. Other participants are motivated and work through their milestones quickly, which means they quickly max out on their incentives. Life coaches noted that some participants lose motivation and leave services when the incentives are exhausted. Some agencies try to find additional funds for youth by leveraging other funding streams or incentivizing youth to obtain employment. A different challenge is that undocumented participants cannot receive incentive checks, so life coaches find other ways to support them. Finally, a program manager suggested that agencies should provide a financial literacy component before allocating incentives.

### Substance abuse and mental health

Life coaches find it challenging to stop substance abuse and employ a harm reduction approach to address the problem. Life coaches explained that it is important for participants to feel safe and not perceive that they are being judged for engaging in substance use or abuse. In particular, staff acknowledged that it is unlikely that youth will stop occasional use of marijuana, and generally find the harm reduction approach is appropriate for youth who are able to understand and mitigate the risks. Typically, the biggest challenge with the occasional use of marijuana relates to participants' terms for probation. Although life coaches work with youth to develop a detox plan or encourage youth to at least stop using marijuana until they are off probation, some refuse or are unable to follow through with their plan. Youth who use other controlled substances such as heroin or demonstrate an addiction to a substance are referred to additional services, including outpatient treatment centers.

Life coaches use their discretion to refer participants to counseling services when they do not feel equipped to address youth's trauma. Life coaches said they often mentor youth around how to cope with violence, working with them to prevent potential retaliation and referring them to mental health counseling services if necessary. For example, if youth were arrested for

possession of a firearm because they felt unsafe, life coaches may encourage those youth to avoid areas where they feel unsafe. If participants' experience with violence is more personal, such as having a parent who was shot or witnessing domestic violence, they may refer them to therapy and counseling or recommend a change to their living environment. Life coaches acknowledged that they do not always feel equipped to address youth's trauma.

### **Family engagement**

Agencies connect parents and youth with children to other support services and help youth improve relationships with their families when this is a stated goal. Life coaches from five of the agencies shared that they connect families to supportive services such as food banks, utility assistance, counseling around mental health or substance use, health care services, and legal services. Agencies also connect participants with children to public benefits and child care services, and one of the agencies allows youth to bring their children with them to life coaching meetings. Staff shared that about half of families are very involved and like to keep informed on their child's progress, but the other half are disengaged. Life coaches from two agencies shared that if youth are disrespectful toward family members, one of the life coaching goals may include improving relationships with family. However, they said this goal is not always appropriate and depends on the youth's family dynamics.

### Impact findings

As described in Chapter II, we analyzed the impacts of participating in youth life coaching on outcomes in the 12-month period after participants began Oakland Unite services. Among participants included in the impact analysis, 66 percent were arrested in the 12 months before starting services, with a notable spike in arrest rates in the months just before beginning youth life coaching services (Figure III.6). This pattern is consistent with the youth life coaching model, which enrolls youth primarily through direct referrals from the juvenile justice system. In contrast, in the 12 months after starting services, 43 percent of participants were arrested. To assess whether this decline was a result of participating in youth life coaching, we matched youth life coaching participants to other Oakland youth with similar demographics and juvenile justice, victimization, and schooling histories and compared their outcomes in the same 12-month follow-up period.



# Figure III.6. Participant arrest rates by month, before and after starting youth life coaching services

### Source: Cityspan, OPD, and ACPD data.

Note: This figure is based on 260 youth life coaching participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and May 31, 2017, consented to share their information for evaluation, and were included in the impact analysis.

Youth life coaching participants had similar rates of contact with law enforcement as the comparison group in the 12 months after beginning services. During the 12-month follow-up period, 43 percent of youth life coaching participants were arrested, 28 percent were convicted for a new offense, and 14 percent were victims of a violent offense reported to OPD (Figure IV.7). These rates were similar for the matched comparison group over the same follow-up period (that is, none of the differences between the two groups was statistically significant). When we examined additional exploratory measures of contact with law enforcement during this period, including arrests involving a gun or violent offense and violations of probation, these rates were also similar for the comparison group (see Table B.5 in Appendix B).



Figure III.7. Impact of youth life coaching 12 months after enrollment on arrest, conviction, and victimization rates

Source: Oakland Unite, OPD, and ACPD administrative data.

Note: The total sample is 4,138, including 260 youth life coaching participants. To be included in this analysis, participants needed to have at least 10 hours of services between January 1, 2016 and May 31, 2017, and have consented to share their data for evaluation. Comparison group rates were adjusted using ordinary least square regressions that account for remaining baseline differences between Oakland Unite participants and youth in the comparison group. None of the differences in outcomes in the figure are statistically significant at the 5 percent level.

*However, youth life coaching participants were 3 percentage points less likely to be arrested for a violent offense in the six months after beginning services.* As an additional exploratory analysis, we also examined all arrest, victimization, and recidivism outcomes during a shorter six-month follow-up period. During those first six months, approximately 3 percent of youth life coaching participants were arrested for a violent offense, compared to 6 percent of youth in the comparison group (the difference is statistically significant). Other short-term outcomes were similar between the two groups (see Table B.6 in Appendix B). These findings are comparable to the results of the adult life coaching analysis (Gonzalez et al. 2017), which found that participating in adult life coaching decreased the likelihood of arrest for a violent offense in the six months after enrollment by 1 percentage point, but had limited impacts on other outcomes.

School-aged life coaching participants were 16 percentage points more likely to be enrolled in school in the 12 months after starting services and had similar school attendance and discipline as the comparison group. In the 12 months after beginning services, 68 percent of school-aged life coaching participants were enrolled in an OUSD or ACOE school, compared to 52 percent of similar comparison youth (Figure IV.8). This 16-percentage-point difference between the two groups is statistically significant. In the 12 months prior, 78 percent of both life

coaching and comparison youth had been enrolled in school. Thus, although some life coaching youth who were under 18 when they began services dropped out of school in the 12 months after starting services, participating in life coaching led to a large reduction in their likelihood of dropping out. Among those who were enrolled in school in the outcome period, 63 percent of youth life coaching participants were chronically absent (defined as missing at least 10 percent of enrolled days for any reason) and 17 percent had a reported violent incident in school. Although there were no statistically significant differences between life coaching and comparison youth, these rates are substantially higher than the average. Among all high school students in OUSD and ACOE, 25 percent were chronically absent and 5 percent had a violent school incident in the most recent school year.



# Figure III.8. Impact of youth life coaching 12 months after enrollment on school enrollment and engagement

Source: Oakland Unite, OUSD, and ACOE administrative data.

Note: The total sample for the school enrollment outcome is 4,138, including 260 youth life coaching participants. To be included in this analysis, participants needed to have at least 10 hours of services between January 1, 2016 and May 31, 2017, and have consented to share their data for evaluation. The school enrollment rate is based on youth who were under 18 years of age when they began services. To examine chronic absence and violent school incidents, the sample was restricted to 1,473 youth who were enrolled in school in the outcome period, which included 114 youth life coaching participants. Comparison group rates were adjusted using ordinary least square regressions that account for remaining baseline differences between Oakland Unite participants and youth in the comparison group.

\*Impact is statistically significant at the 1 percent level.

Although we found limited impacts of participating in youth life coaching on contact with law *enforcement, there are some caveats to this analysis.* First, finding comparison youth who have not participated in Oakland Unite but have similar histories with the juvenile justice system as life coaching participants is inherently challenging. The majority of youth processed through the

JJC are referred to Oakland Unite life coaching services if they express interest. Further, youth life coaching participants begin services at a particularly high-risk period in their lives, as illustrated in the spike in arrest rates around the month of enrollment in services (Figure III.6). Youth in the comparison group did not experience a comparable spike in those months. Although we control for differences in the timing of prior arrests when comparing their outcomes, it is possible that youth life coaching participants represent a higher-risk population than the comparison group. Second, many of the youth who participate in this sub-strategy participate for a limited time and therefore receive much less than the intended service intensity. These findings reflect the average impact for all participants who received at least 10 hours of services, for outcomes measured starting in the first month after they began participating in life coaching. Third, some individuals in the comparison group may have received services from other organizations, including case management and referrals to support services from the Probation Department, which are not recorded in our available data. Future research, discussed in Chapter V, will further explore some of these limitations.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

# IV. YOUTH EMPLOYMENT AND EDUCATION SUPPORT SERVICES

## Overview of the youth EESS sub-strategy

The youth EESS sub-strategy seeks to improve the economic self-sufficiency and career readiness of high-risk youth through academic support, subsidized work experience, job training, and community service. Oakland Unite currently funds four agencies to provide services in youth EESS, for a total annual grant award of \$716,900. The agencies that offer youth EESS are identified in Figure IV.1. Each agency's service model varies, but services usually begin with a vocational or life skills training component, which is followed by transitional employment. Most agencies also provide academic support and formal case management services. In this chapter, we present implementation and impact findings for this sub-strategy. A summary of related evidence-based programs and Oakland Unite recommended best practices for youth EESS is available in Appendix C.

### Figure IV.1. Youth employment and education support agencies



Alameda County Office of Education (ACOE), in collaboration with Youth Employment Partnership (YEP), serves youth who need additional supports not available in the 19 school districts in Alameda County. Youth are referred to ACOE either by their home district or their probation officer. ACOE manages these referrals, and YEP provides most program services. ACOE staff also offer academic support and crisis response.



Bay Area Community Resources (BACR) provides school-based education and employment services, including case management, career coaching, employment training, experiential learning/internships, and paid work experience to high-risk youth. BACR aims to help prepare youth for postsecondary education or job placement.



**Youth Employment Partnership (YEP)** helps youth with multiple barriers to employment to develop job readiness skills and connects them to employment opportunities during the summer and after school. YEP provides a range of onthe-job vocational training opportunities in high-demand fields such as construction and warehouse logistics.



**Youth Radio** is an after-school job training program that offers career exploration, experiential learning/internships, and paid work experiences. Participants receive hands-on education in media, technology, and the arts and must complete a six-month keystone project before applying to paid internships in fields such as journalism and music production.

Source: Documents provided by Oakland Unite, agency websites, and interviews with agency staff.

## Implementation findings

In this section, we discuss a number of key findings about how Oakland Unite agencies implemented the youth life coaching sub-strategy. These findings are summarized in Table IV.1.

Category	Summary of implementation findings	
Target population	<ul> <li>Youth EESS agencies primarily serve African American and Hispanic youth who have low commitment to school and/or have been exposed to violence.</li> <li>Although agencies report that they target youth who meet at least five of the risk factors approved by Oakland Unite, only 33 percent of participants met this requirement.</li> </ul>	
Collaboration and referral networks	Although the Oakland Unite model intends for the majority of referrals to come from life coaches, agencies report that most of their referrals result from their own outreach efforts. Competition for youth's time and differences in approaches to serving youth have stifled collaboration between the youth EESS and youth life coaching sub-strategies.	
Materials and trainings	Although staff have found trainings provided by the Human Services Department to be helpful, senior staff recommend that future trainings be tailored to staff's experience level.	
Staffing	Agencies report that they cannot match salaries offered by other employers in the Bay Area, which they say has contributed to staff turnover.	
Participant retention and satisfaction	<ul> <li>By the third month of services, about one-third of participants have stopped receiving youth EESS services.</li> <li>Staff report that some youth obtain full-time employment before completing program requirements, but that early exits for positive outcomes are not easily reflected in Cityspan.</li> <li>Almost all survey respondents report being satisfied with the services provided by their EESS agency and holding positive outlooks for the future.</li> </ul>	
Service provision	<ul> <li>Each agency addresses youths' needs for developing hard and soft skills, as well as non-skills-related barriers to employment.</li> <li>Agencies partner with employers and postsecondary institutions to offer youth meaningful work and education experiences.</li> <li>Participants receive varying amounts of work experience and services, reflecting differences both in retention and program models.</li> </ul>	
Financial support	Youth are connected to opportunities to earn income almost immediately, and may earn additional financial incentives after completing programmatic milestones.	
Substance abuse and mental health	Workforce agencies do not allow onto a job site youth who are under the influence, which staff say contributes to cultural differences between their programs and life coaching. To address trauma, substance use or abuse, and mental health issues, youth EESS agencies refer participants to other services.	
Family engagement	<ul> <li>Aside from obtaining parental or guardian consent for youth to receive services, engaging family members is not a key element of the program models.</li> </ul>	

## Table IV.1. Summary of implementation findings for youth EESS

### **Target population**

*Youth EESS agencies primarily serve African American and Hispanic youth who have low commitment to school and/or have been exposed to violence.* Figure IV.2 describes key baseline characteristics of youth who enroll in youth EESS services. Agencies in this sub-strategy serve a mix of male and female youth, most of whom are African American (74 percent) or Hispanic (13 percent). Although the sub-strategy targets youth who are ages 13 to 18, 39 percent of participants were older than 18 at the time of enrollment.

According to risk assessment data entered into Cityspan, 70 percent of youth demonstrated low commitment to school (not shown in the figure). Only 54 percent of school-aged EESS youth were enrolled in an OUSD or ACOE school in the 12 months before starting services. Among these students, 50 percent were chronically absent from school and 22 percent were suspended or expelled during that period. On average, youth EESS participants had a GPA of 1.55 (of 4.0) in the most recent school year (not shown in the figure).



### Figure IV.2. Youth EESS participant characteristics at enrollment

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

Note: Demographic information is based on 503 participants who received services between January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2018. Measures of arrest, victimization, and school engagement are based on the 92 percent of these participants who consented to share their identifying information for evaluation.

A number of participants in youth EESS also had direct or indirect exposure to violence. Almost a quarter reported being a victim of violence to OPD before receiving services. Not shown in the figure, 59 percent reported at intake that they had a peer or family member who had been shot or seriously injured. Some youth also had previous contact with the juvenile justice system. Thirty-nine percent had been arrested, and 17 percent were on formal probation supervision before receiving services.

Although agencies report that they target youth who meet at least five of the risk factors approved by Oakland Unite, only 33 percent of participants met this requirement. Oakland Unite eligibility rules indicate that youth must meet at least 5 of 9 risk factors specified by the program. For each participant, agencies are required to assess these risk factors and enter that information into Cityspan. However, according to Cityspan data, only 33 percent of participants met 5 or more risk factors. On average, youth met a total of 3.5 risk factors. Staff at one agency suggested that Oakland Unite should include risk factors related to housing and food insecurity because these conditions could contribute to risky or violent behaviors.

### **Collaboration and referral networks**

Although the Oakland Unite model intends for the majority of referrals to come from life coaches, agencies report that most of their referrals result from their own outreach efforts. Cityspan data show that about 23 percent of youth EESS participants also participated in life coaching, although the data do not indicate whether the participants were referred to youth EESS from life coaching. During agency interviews, two of the agencies shared that the majority of their referrals were from probation officers; one agency, which runs a school-based program, receives referrals directly from school sites. Agencies shared that they also engage in community outreach efforts to recruit youth. Most agencies have been so successful in recruiting participants that they have either paused recruiting efforts or created waiting lists. However, one agency reported a decrease in the number of referrals due to a drop in enrollment at ACOE schools, which is the population it serves.

Agencies said that they would like to collaborate more with other Oakland Unite strategies in serving youth and acknowledged that the City has responded to their concerns about cross-strategy collaboration. For example, the City has organized several meetings on the topic of how to increase collaboration across agencies, held a summit during the summer, and conducted a speed-dating–like event, all of which allowed agency staff to learn about each other's programs. Most of the agencies recommended that the City continue to conduct events that promote services available through other agencies.

*Competition for youth's time and differences in approaches to serving youth have stifled collaboration between the youth EESS and life coaching sub-strategies*. Agencies sometimes receive referrals from the Probation Department that do not already have a life coaching agencies, but referrals are not always successful due to competing demands for youth's time: "There is a real breakdown in the conflicting deliverables category. If youth are in school all day, receive workforce training, and then have to log 16 hours of activities with their life coaches, there just is not enough time to do so." In addition to competing demands for service hours, staff said that differences between the youth EESS and life coaching approaches to serving youth, such as how to address substance use or abuse issues and tardiness to program services, have stifled collaboration. Despite noting these differences, youth EESS staff said that there is potential for the two sub-strategies to work together. For example, a program manager noted that life coaches are instrumental in supporting youth through trauma.

### Materials and trainings

# Although staff have found trainings provided by the Human Services Department to be helpful, senior staff recommend that future trainings be tailored to staff's experience level.

Staff mentioned that the speed dating event and trainings around compassion fatigue and trauma have been particularly helpful. However, staff said that trainings could be improved if the City took into account the different educational and career levels of the staff across the youth EESS agencies. In particular, senior staff with previous training and experience in this area said many of the topics offered were already familiar to them after several years of working in the field. Therefore, tailoring trainings to newer versus more senior staff could provide a better overall experience.

### Staffing

Agencies report that they cannot match salaries offered by other employers in the Bay Area, which they say has contributed to staff turnover. Agencies report that their staff are often sought by other employers in the Bay Area because of their skills. One agency in particular shared that although some of its staff stay for a while, their organization feels like a "farm system" for other government or nonprofit organizations. Staff from another agency shared that the short grant cycles contribute to staff turnover. To address staff turnover, agencies hire previous participants, promote internally, and engage in regular hiring activities (posting job openings, interviewing, and hiring). They also provide extensive trainings to those who may share a similar background with youth and are a good organizational fit but lack skills in another area. ACOE employs AmeriCorps members to tutor, but most only stay for a short period. Therefore, the agency hires more tutors than are needed in anticipation of attrition.

### Participant retention and satisfaction

By the third month of services, about one-third of participants have stopped receiving youth *EESS services*. Figure IV.3 shows participant retention over time. Although participant retention declines consistently after the start of services, the largest drop off in participation occurs between the second and third months of services. On average, youth EESS participants engage with agencies for 5.5 months, although this can include some inactive periods. Taking into account only months were at least some services were received, the average length of active participation is 5 months.



Figure IV.3. Youth EESS participant retention over time

Source: Cityspan data.

Note: This figure is based on 373 participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and March 31, 2018 so that all participants could be tracked for at least 9 months, through December 31, 2018. The pattern of retention is very similar for youth who began receiving services more recently.

Service duration varies significantly across participants and can include multiple periods of active engagement for some. Thirty-two percent of youth engage in services during multiple service periods, defined as service periods separated by one or more months of inactivity. Figure IV.4 summarizes the percentage of youth who return to EESS after leaving services. Among youth who leave services after one month, 52 percent do not return to EESS. The remaining 48 percent typically return after a few months (usually 2 to 4 months later). A smaller proportion of youth who initially participate in EESS for 2 to 4 months return for services (35 percent), whereas a quarter of youth who initially participate for 5 to 7 months come back.



### Figure IV.4. Percentage of youth EESS participants who return after leaving services

Source: Cityspan data.

Note: This figure is based on 503 participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2018.

Multiple staff noted that the abundance of available services and activities for youth in the area made it difficult to keep some participants engaged. Youth are often tied to many different systems, including the Probation Department, life coaching, school, and other support services outside of Oakland Unite. In addition to those obligations, youth sometimes want to work and participate in after-school or sports activities. Staff also shared that their geographic locations present some challenges to maintaining engagement because they may be difficult for youth to reach or may be considered unsafe. Staff at one agency also noted that the sub-strategy as a whole lacks bilingual services, which could be helpful in engaging non-English speaking youth.

# Staff report that some youth obtain full-time employment before completing program requirements, but that early exits for positive outcomes are not easily reflected in Cityspan.

Two agencies shared that some of the youth who engage in services but do not complete the work experience component have obtained employment elsewhere. This phenomenon is both a success and a challenge for agencies. At times, the minimum wage and number of hours youth are allowed to work each week are not enough to meet their financial needs, and youth who are parents or whose families need additional income may leave the program to obtain employment in retail or fast food, where they can work more hours at the same wages and therefore earn more money. On the positive side, agencies report that some youth demonstrate during the work experience component that they are ready to enter the workforce and obtain employment elsewhere. Although agencies consider this readiness for work a success, they note that it is reflected as youth not completing their required hours in Cityspan.

Almost all survey respondents report being satisfied with the services provided by their EESS agency and holding positive outlooks for the future. About 90 percent of EESS participants who responded to the survey reported being satisfied with their agency, with 48 percent strongly agreeing that they were satisfied. The level of satisfaction was similar for many of the specific topics asked about in the participant survey, including the kinds of services offered, staff availability, and how the staff listen and show respect to participants. About three-quarters of participants think that their situation is better because of the Oakland Unite services they've received, with 35 percent strongly agreeing with that statement. When asked about what they thought their lives would be like one year in the future, at least 90 percent of youth EESS participants thought it was likely or very likely they would have a safe place to live, a steady job, and be more hopeful about their lives. At least 90 percent also thought it was likely or very likely that they would be able to avoid unwanted contact with the police and avoid unhealthy drug or alcohol use, whereas more than 80 percent thought it was likely or very likely they would finish their education within the next year.

### Service provision

*Each agency addresses youths' needs for developing hard and soft skills, as well as non-skillsrelated barriers to employment.* The intake process varies across agencies, but it typically includes assessments of risk, educational needs, and job readiness, all of which are used to individualize program services. Program services usually begin with a vocational or life skills training component, and participants have the opportunity to engage in transitional employment as well as other service offerings after completing this phase. Most agencies also provide academic support as well as formal case management services to address other barriers to employment, such as transportation, legal, and health care needs. The length of time and content of each of these components can vary widely based on program requirements (Figure IV.5).

Agencies partner with employers and postsecondary institutions to offer meaningful work and education experiences to youth. Agencies are responsive to youth's interests when developing employer partnerships. For example, at one agency, youth expressed an interest in entrepreneurship, so the program developed a partnership with Beast Mode clothing, where youth are exposed to how a small business operates and work on developing customer service skills. Agencies also collaborate with postsecondary institutions where youth are connected to educational and vocational training opportunities. If youth are interested, they are also connected to career technical education and vocational schools where they can enroll to obtain other certifications. Agencies said they prioritize programs that may lead to careers in in-demand and growth industries.

### Figure IV.5. Length and dosage of youth EESS program services



Source: Grantee documents provided by City of Oakland, site visits, and agency interviews.

Note: Program components shaded in green are required for program completion.

\* ACOE academic support hours do not include regular academic support provided during the school day.

*Participants receive varying amounts of work experience and services, reflecting differences both in retention and program models.* Figure IV.6 illustrates the total number of work experience and service hours that participants receive, which can vary widely. One-quarter of participants completed fewer than 10 hours of work experience. On average, participants who completed fewer than 10 hours of work experience received 74 hours of nonwork services (which includes vocational and preemployment training and case management) over approximately three months. This disparity suggests that a number of participants complete the training component but not the work experience component. In contrast, 51 percent of participants completed at least 70 hours of work experience, which is the minimum number of work experience hours of fered by any of the agencies. On average, these participants received 72 hours of nonwork services but engaged with agencies for a longer period—just over seven months. Agencies may provide youth with up to 100 hours of paid work experience, although one agency shared that work experience hours are flexible.



Figure IV.6. Total youth EESS work and service hours received

Source: Cityspan data.

Note: This figure is based on 503 participants who received services between January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2018.

Service hours vary across agencies depending on the agency's model. For example, participants at BACR receive a high number of case management hours—108 hours, on average, compared to 8 hours in the other three agencies—because BACR requires youth to complete at least 96 hours of case management. Conversely, BACR does not require job skills or vocational training for program completion, so its participants receive less than 1 hour of training, on average, compared to 21 hours in the other three agencies. Youth Radio also differs from other agencies by requiring 100 hours of job skills or vocational training. In addition to differences in service

models across agencies, the total number of service hours participants receive also varies due to the length of time they engage with services.

### **Financial support**

Youth are connected to opportunities to earn income almost immediately, and they may earn additional financial incentives after completing programmatic milestones. About 30 percent of the youth EESS budget is allocated to participant wages, financial support, and incentives. During their transitional work experience, youth receive paid stipends at the City's minimum wage and are paid every two weeks. Youth are allowed to work up to 100 transitional work experience hours, although agencies shared that this is not a hard cap, and some youth will work more hours and earn more wages. On average, youth complete about 80 hours of individual and group work experience, thus leaving funds available for youth who need to work more hours. The average wages per participant ranged from \$941 to \$2,441 across the four agencies, based only on funding from Oakland Unite.

Each agency also provides youth the opportunity to earn additional paid incentives for achieving program milestones such as attendance, completing their trainings, and obtaining their high school diploma or a credential/certificate. For example, one agency helps participants set goals and action steps for achieving those goals; for each action step the youth complete, they earn an incentive. Another agency follows a similar incentive structure but deducts from the total potential incentive earned for excessive tardiness or absences and any behavioral problems. Generally, agencies find the incentives helpful for keeping youth engaged in programming. Across the four agencies, the average financial support or incentive awarded to youth ranged from \$268 to \$477, based only on funding from Oakland Unite. Some agencies are able to leverage other funding streams.

### Substance use and mental health

Workforce agencies do not allow onto a job site youth who are under the influence, which staff say contributes to cultural differences between their programs and life coaching. Youth EESS agencies employ a behavior modification strategy, which is unlike the harm reduction approach used by life coaches. Youth EESS staff said that youth cannot come to work late, smelling of marijuana, or under the influence, and that youth are turned away until the issue is corrected. Youth sometimes share with their life coach that they were turned away, and their life coach may then call the youth EESS agency to advocate on behalf of the youth. Youth EESS staff said they try to instill the point that a real job will not tolerate this behavior, but noted that life coaches do not always agree with youth being turned away from services. Staff suggested that Oakland Unite should help foster a complementary, rather than conflicting, dynamic between the two sub-strategies.

To address trauma, substance use or abuse, and mental health issues, youth EESS agencies refer participants to other services. Several youth EESS staff stated that their sub-strategy does not directly address trauma and that many of their participants demonstrate significant trauma as well as the need for more intensive case management. Although all of the agencies provide some

case management services, they typically refer youth to other agencies for supportive services around substance use and mental health. As noted above, youth EESS agencies also connect youth who have experienced trauma to life coaching.

### **Family engagement**

Aside from obtaining parental or guardian consent for youth to receive services, engaging family members is not a key element of the program models. Staff reported that not all parents are receptive to programming. One agency said that some parents perceive the programs as invasive, whereas another agency shared that some parents do not see the value in the services they provide. Aside from contacting parents to obtain their consent, the agencies do not typically engage families in programming. One agency shared that engaging with families is difficult because some parents are not involved at all and others may be too involved.

### Impact findings

As described in Chapter II, we analyzed the effects of participating in youth EESS on outcomes in the 12-month period after participants began Oakland Unite services. Among youth included in the impact analysis, 25 percent were arrested in the 12 months before starting services, compared to 20 percent in the 12 months after starting services. Unlike in the youth life coaching sub-strategy, there is no clear pattern of arrests in the period surrounding the start of youth EESS services (Figure IV.7). This is expected, because referrals to youth EESS do not generally come directly from the JJC. To assess whether there was an impact from participating in youth EESS, we matched participants to other Oakland youth with similar demographics and juvenile justice, victimization, and schooling histories and compared their outcomes in the same 12-month follow-up period.



Figure IV.7. Participant arrest rates by month, before and after starting youth EESS services

Source: Cityspan, OPD, and ACPD data.

Note: This figure is based on 179 youth EESS participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and May 31, 2017, consented to share their information for evaluation, and were included in the impact analysis.

Youth EESS participants had similar rates of contact with law enforcement as the comparison group in the 12 months after beginning services. During this period, 20 percent of youth EESS participants were arrested, 9 percent were convicted for a new offense, and 12 percent were victims of a violent offense reported to OPD (Figure IV.8). These rates were similar for the matched comparison group over the same follow-up period (that is, none of the differences between the two groups were statistically significant). When we examined additional exploratory measures of contact with law enforcement, including arrests involving a gun or violent offense and violations of probation, and shorter-term outcomes during a six-month follow-up period, these rates were also similar for the comparison group. Appendix B includes more detailed results, including all exploratory outcomes. Overall, we found no impact of participating in youth EESS programs on the likelihood of coming into contact with law enforcement in either the short or medium term after beginning services.





Source: Oakland Unite, OPD, and ACPD administrative data.

Note: The total sample is 3,496, including 179 youth EESS participants. To be included in this analysis, participants needed to have at least 10 hours of nonwork services or 40 work hours between January 1, 2016 and May 31, 2017, and have consented to share their data for evaluation. Comparison group rates were adjusted using ordinary least square regressions that account for remaining baseline differences between Oakland Unite participants and youth in the comparison group. None of the differences in outcomes in the figure are statistically significant at the 5 percent level.

School-aged EESS participants were 13 percentage points more likely to be enrolled in school in the 12 months after starting services, and had similar school attendance and discipline as

*the comparison group.* In the 12 months after beginning services, 73 percent of EESS participants who were under 18 when they began services were enrolled in an OUSD or ACOE school, compared to 60 percent of similar comparison youth (Figure IV.9). This 13-percentage-point difference is statistically significant.<sup>6</sup> In the prior 12 months, approximately 76 percent of both EESS and comparison youth had been enrolled in school. Thus, compared to youth in the comparison group, few EESS youth dropped out of school during this period. Among those who were enrolled in school in the outcome period, 54 percent of enrolled days for any reason) and 13 percent had a reported violent incident in school. Although there were no statistically significant differences between youth EESS participants and comparison youth, these rates are substantially

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Among all youth, including those who were 18 and older at the time of starting services, the difference in school enrollment rates between EESS and comparison youth is 18 percentage points (see Table B.5 in AppendixB). This larger difference suggests that participating in EESS also helps older youth stay in school.

higher than the average. Among all high school students in OUSD and ACOE, 25 percent were chronically absent and 5 percent had a violent school incident in the most recent school year.





Source: Oakland Unite, OUSD, and ACOE administrative data.

*Note:* The total sample for the school enrollment outcome is 3,496, including 179 youth EESS participants. To be included in this analysis, participants needed to have at least 10 hours of nonwork services or 40 work hours between January 1, 2016 and May 31, 2017, and have consented to share their data for evaluation. The school enrollment rate is based on youth who were under 18 years of age when they began services. To examine chronic absence and violent school incidents, the sample was restricted to 2,656 youth who were enrolled in school in the outcome period, which included 113 youth EESS participants. Comparison group rates were adjusted using ordinary least square regressions that account for remaining baseline differences between Oakland Unite participants and youth in the comparison group.

\*Impact is statistically significant at the 1 percent level.

Although we found limited impacts of participating in youth EESS on contact with law enforcement, there are some caveats to this analysis. First, many of the youth who participate in this sub-strategy do not complete the program requirements. These findings reflect the average impact for all participants who completed at least 40 hours of work experience or received at least 10 hours of services, for outcomes measured starting in the first month after they began participating in youth EESS. Second, as with any non-experimental analysis, it is possible that there could be differences between the two groups that we could not account for using the available data. Namely, some of the individuals in the comparison group could have received similar services from other organizations outside of Oakland Unite. However, relative to the youth life coaching analysis, we were able to identify a comparison group for youth EESS participants that had very similar histories of contact with law enforcement. This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

## **V. CONCLUSION**

This report describes the services provided by youth life coaching and youth EESS agencies funded through Oakland Unite. In summary, we offer the following key findings:

## Youth life coaching key findings

*Youth life coaching participants have histories of justice system involvement and experiences with violence.* Youth life coaching agencies primarily serve high-risk African American and Hispanic youth with high rates of contact with the juvenile justice system, direct or indirect exposure to violence, and low engagement with school. The life coaching agencies have had success identifying youth for services through close communication with the JJC Transition Center, collaboration with the Alameda County District Attorney's Office (particularly for identifying CSEC), and most recently, expanded eligibility criteria.

*There is a need for improved collaboration between youth life coaching agencies and the Probation Department.* Agencies could benefit from improved communication and data sharing with the Alameda County Probation Department. Agency staff reported that a change to the Probation Department's policies around data sharing has limited the flow of information to life coaching agencies. Giving agencies access to youth's contact and risk assessment information and increasing communication between agency staff and probation officers could improve the referral process and the effectiveness of service provision.

*High cost of living and job-related stress are challenges for agency staff.* Most life coaching agencies have experienced staff turnover and report that it is difficult to identify and retain candidates with the right skills, training, and personal background for the position. Agency staff attributed turnover to their inability to match the salaries offered by other organizations, the high cost of living in the Bay Area, and the stressful and dangerous nature of the job. Although staff said they found the burnout training offered by Oakland Unite to be helpful, additional support and time for self-care could help staff cope with burnout.

*Many participants leave life coaching services after the first month*. Life coaching participants are expected to remain engaged for 12 to 18 months under the program model, but more than a quarter drop out in the first month. At 12 months, only 37 percent of youth continue to receive life coaching services. Attrition is the primary reason why a large number of youth do not receive the intended service dosage. Efforts to increase youth engagement should be focused on the first month, when the largest share of youth leave services.

*There is a need for a more unified approach to substance use and abuse.* Life coaches find it challenging to stop substance abuse and employ a harm reduction approach to address the problem, which can create tension with other stakeholders in youth's lives, such as probation officers or EESS agency staff. Life coaches also sometimes feel unequipped to address youth's more serious trauma and use their discretion to refer participants to therapy or counseling services. Youth-serving strategies may consider developing a more coordinated approach to meeting youth's substance abuse and mental health needs.

Youth life coaching participants were significantly more likely to be enrolled in school but had similar rates of arrest, conviction, and victimization in the 12 months after starting services as a similar comparison group of youth. Participating in life coaching prevented school dropout. It also reduced the likelihood of arrests for a violent offense, but only in the six months after starting services. Over a longer 12-month follow-up period, participating in life coaching had little impact on contact with law enforcement. Further, life coaching participants who were enrolled in school had high rates of chronic absence and violent school incidents. These findings could partly reflect that youth who participate in life coaching begin services at a particularly high-risk period in their lives (which makes it difficult to match them to a comparable set of youth) and that many do not receive the intended amount of services due to high rates of attrition.

## Youth EESS key findings

*Many youth EESS participants have disengaged from school, and about 40 percent have had contact with the justice system.* Although youth EESS agencies serve a high-risk population, they face fewer challenges than the youth served by life coaching. For instance, youth EESS participants were half as likely to have been arrested before enrollment as youth life coaching participants. Both groups had high chronic absence rates and suspension rates at school, but a greater proportion of youth life coaching participants faced these challenges. Although agencies report that they target youth who meet at least five of the risk factors approved by Oakland Unite, only 33 percent of participants met this requirement, according to Cityspan data.

There is a need for greater coordination between the youth EESS and life coaching substrategies around referrals and their approaches to substance abuse. Although the Oakland Unite model intends for the majority of youth EESS referrals to come from life coaches, youth EESS agencies report that most of their referrals have resulted from their own outreach efforts. About one-quarter of youth EESS participants also participated in youth life coaching. Youth EESS agencies have been successful in recruiting participants from other sources, but these youth are not as high risk as life coaching participants. Improved coordination and communication may also help alleviate the tension between the life coaching and EESS approaches to substance abuse and harm reduction.

*Because there is no standard youth EESS model, agencies offer a variety of services and programs.* Although service models vary across agencies, each agency provides support for hard and soft skill development and addresses individual barriers to employment. Variation across the agencies results in a wider range of service options for youth in Oakland. However, without a standard youth EESS model and clear program requirements, defining successful completion of a youth EESS program can be difficult.

A competitive market for youth EESS staff drives staff turnover. Agencies report that their staff are often sought by other employers in the Bay Area because of their skills, contributing to staff turnover. Staff develop valuable skills and receive on-the-job training at youth EESS agencies, but the agencies cannot always match the salaries offered to their staff by other employers in the

Bay Area, including government employers. To improve staff retention, agencies try to hire former participants, promote internal candidates, and engage in regular hiring cycles.

*Youth participation drops between the second and third month of services.* Challenges with participant engagement and retention include competing demands on youths' time, including other activities and programs. Staff also report that some participants stop attending the program because they have successfully met their goals—either reenrolling in school or finding a job. Other participants return to the program later on. Although family engagement is not an integral part of the youth EESS agencies' services, agencies might consider ways in which working with families may help improve youth retention and engagement.

Youth EESS participants were significantly more likely to be enrolled in school, but their rates of arrest, conviction, and victimization in the 12 months after starting services were comparable to those of a similar comparison group of youth. Participating in EESS prevented school dropout but had little impact on contact with law enforcement in the short or medium term. Further, youth EESS participants who were enrolled in school had high rates of chronic absence and violent school incidents. These results reflect the average impacts across all participants, which include youth who engaged in services for a short period of time and then disengaged as well as those who completed all program requirements.

## Programmatic considerations

Based on these findings, we offer some possible considerations for continuing to improve program services in these sub-strategies:

- 1. Make the first month of youth life coaching more intensive and comprehensive. The high rate of rearrest among life coaching participants highlights not only the fact that youth life coaching agencies are serving the most high-risk youth in Oakland, but also that serving this population is particularly challenging. Oakland Unite should consider how to bolster initial service delivery to participants in the first weeks of program participation to improve participant engagement beyond the first month and reduce the rate of rearrest. Approaches may include much more intensive contact in the first weeks, a high level of coordination with justice system stakeholders involved in the youth's life (including probation officers and lawyers), and setting very short-term goals with youth to identify their strengths and help them avoid situations that may lead to violence.
- 2. Focus on improving participant connections to school. Although youth in both strategies are enrolling in school at higher rates than similar youth who did not participate in Oakland Unite, both life coaching and EESS participants continue to have high chronic absence rates following participation in the programs. Addressing barriers to school success is a primary area for Oakland Unite to focus on to strengthen the protective bond between youth and school, help them avoid police contact and delinquent activity during school hours, and support youth to reach the goals they have for their futures. To do this, Oakland Unite could consider convening a working group of youth involved in life coaching, EESS, and/or CSEC to ask about their transition back to school, the barriers they face, and ideas they have to improve their school experiences and those of their peers.

- **3.** Update data systems to reflect the possible successful exits from programs and reasons for program exits. As Cityspan is refined, Oakland Unite might consider adding additional fields to record reasons for program exit, as well as reasons that participants come back, and making these fields required. Agencies could also benefit from being able to track participants' progress over time in achieving key milestones. Further, including functionality within the database to allow tracking of participants across agencies would allow Oakland Unite to better understand referrals and sorting across agencies. This information may shed light on primary drivers of attrition for both youth life coaching and EESS agencies.
- 4. Amplify efforts to engage trusted members of participants' families and social circles. Although family members and friends are not a focus of current agency services, Oakland Unite could consider asking agencies to engage these key supports in participants' lives to encourage positive messages and choices and improve participant retention and engagement. Focus groups with family members that will be held this summer as part of the evaluation could offer an opportunity to hear from them about how best to engage families in service provision.
- 5. Support agencies to address staff turnover and burnout. Oakland Unite already offers many opportunities for staff to gather, learn together, and share best practices and challenges. The City could consider ways these training and meeting activities could be strengthened to further support community building among agency staff and provide them with additional benefits to being a part of Oakland Unite. In addition, the City could provide guidance to agencies about pay scales for government and nongovernment employees so agencies can identify areas where they may need to increase compensation to retain employees.

## Areas for future research

There are several areas for additional research and analysis that could support the City in understanding and improving program effectiveness in the coming years. The following areas of inquiry will be explored in the upcoming comprehensive evaluation, focused on youth and adult life coaching:

- Explore how impacts may vary for youth who participate in life coaching for longer periods of time or participate in multiple Oakland Unite services.
- Explore measures of socio-emotional function for life coaching participants relative to participants in other strategies to learn whether short-term changes in socio-emotional skills are associated with longer-term changes in other outcomes, such as arrest or victimization.
- Take a deeper dive into the challenges youth life coaching participants face in the months surrounding enrollment, including legal issues, contact with law enforcement, detention in the juvenile justice center, and disengagement from school, and the time trends in their key outcomes.

## REFERENCES

- Baldwin, Molly, Anisha Chablani-Medley, Luana Marques, Sarah Valentine, and Yotam Zeira. "Cognitive Behavioral Theory, Young Adults, and Community Corrections: Pathways for Innovation." Program in Criminal Justice Policy and Management, Harvard Kennedy School, April 2018.
- Bradham, D.D., P.E. Campie, and A. Petrosino. "Massachusetts Safe and Successful Youth Initiative. Benefit-to-Cost Analysis of Springfield and Boston Sites." Boston, MA: Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services, November 2014.
- Butts, Jeffrey, Kevin T. Wolff, Evan Misshula, and Sheyla Delgado. "Effectiveness of the Cure Violence Model in New York City." New York: John Jay Research and Evaluation Center, January 2015.
- Campie, P.E., A. Petrosino, J. Pace, T. Fronius, S. Guckenberg, M. Wiatrowski, and S. Ward."What Works to Prevent Urban Violence Among Proven Risk Young Men? The Safe and Successful Youth Initiative Evidence and Implementation Review." Boston, MA: Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services, September 2013.
- Christman, Anastasia, Rebecca Dixon, Maurice Emsellem, Nicole Linhal, and Lynn Minick. "Advancing Employment Opportunities for California's Foster Care and Justice Involved Youth." California: National Employment Law Center, September 2016.
- Council of State Governments Justice Center. "Dos and Don'ts for Reducing Recidivism Among Young Adults in the Justice System." Available at <u>https://csgjusticecenter.org/youth/publications/dos-and-donts-for-reducing-recidivism-among-young-adults-in-the-justice-system/</u>. Accessed September 2018.
- Cummings, Danielle, Mary Farrell, and Melanie Skemer. "Forging a Path: Final Impacts and Costs of New York City's Young Adult Internship Program." New York: MDRC, August 2018.
- Delgado, Sheyla, Laila Aslabahi, and Jeffrey Butts. "Young Men in Neighborhoods with Cure Violence Programs Adopt Attitudes Less Supportive of Violence." DataBits. New York: John Jay Research and Evaluation Center, March 2017.
- Duriez, Stephanie, Carrie Sullivan, Christopher Sullivan, Sarah Manchak, and Edward Latressa. "Mentoring Best Practices: Effectiveness of Juvenile Mentoring Programs on Recidivism." Washington, DC: National Criminal Justice Reference Service, November 2017.
- Eddy, Mark, and Jean Schumer. "Mentoring for Youth and Young Adults During Reentry from Confinement." National Mentoring Resource Center Population Review, June 2016.
- Eslami, Esa, Johanna Lacoe, Naihobe Gonzalez, Sarah Crissey, Charles Tilley, and Natalie Larkin. "2016–2018 Oakland Unite Agency Report." Report to the City of Oakland, Office of the City Administrator. Oakland, CA: Mathematica Policy Research, 2019.
- Fortson, Kenneth, Philip Gleason, Emma Kopa, and Natalya Verbitsky Savitz. "Horseshoes, Hand Grenades, and Treatment Effects? Reassessing Whether Nonexperimental Estimators Are Biased." *Economics of Education Review*, vol. 44, 2015, pp. 100–113.

- Gill, B., J. Furgeson, H. Chiang, B. Teh, J. Haimson, and N. Verbitsky Savitz. "Replicating Experimental Impact Estimates with Nonexperimental Methods in the Context of Control-Group Noncompliance." *Statistics and Public Policy*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2015, pp. 1-11.
- Gonzalez, Naihobe, Johanna Lacoe, Ebo Dawson-Andoh, Armando Yañez, Natasha Nicolai, and Sarah Crissey. "Evaluation of Oakland Unite: Year 1 Strategy Report." Report to the City of Oakland, Office of the City Administrator. Oakland, CA: Mathematica Policy Research, 2017.
- Guevera, Meghan, and Enver Solomon. "Implementing Evidence-Based Policy and Practice in Community Corrections." Second Edition, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of Corrections, October 2009.
- Hayek, Connie. "Environmental Scan of Developmentally Appropriate Criminal Justice Responses to Justice-Involved Youth." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of Justice, June 2016.
- Heller, Sara B., Anuj K. Shah, Jonathan Guryan, Jens Ludwig, Sendhil Mullainathan, and Harold A. Pollack. "Thinking, Fast and Slow? Some Field Experiments to Reduce Crime and Drop Out in Chicago." *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 132, no. 1, 2017, pp. 1–54.
- Heller, Sara B., Harold Pollack, and Jonathan Davis. "The Effects of Summer Jobs on Youth Violence." Final Technical Report for Grant 2012-MU-FX-0002, U.S. Department of Justice, 2017.
- Hengeller, Soott, and Sonja Schoenwald. "Evidence Based Interventions for Juvenile Offenders and Juvenile Justice Policies that Support Them." *Social Policy Report*, vol. 25, no. 1, 2011.
- Howell, James, and Mark W. Lipsey. "Research-Guidelines for Juvenile Justice." Justice Research and Policy, vol.14, no.1, 2012.
- James, Chrissy, Geert Jan J.M. Stams, Jessica J. Asscher, Anne Katrien De Roo, and Peter H. van der Laan. "Aftercare Programs for Reducing Recidivism Among Juvenile and Young Adult Offenders: A Meta-Analytic Review." *Clinical Psychology Review*, vol.33, 2013, pp. 263–274.
- Jannetta, Jesse, and Cameron Okeke. "Strategies for Reducing Criminal and Juvenile Justice Involvement." Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2017.
- Juvenile Sanctions Center. "Overcoming Barriers to Employment for Youth in the Juvenile Justice System: A Practical Guide." *Training and Technical Assistance Program Bulletin*, vol.2, no.5, 2005.
- Landenberger, Nana, and Mark W. Lipsey. "The Positive Effects of Cognitive-Behavioral Programs for Offenders: A Meta-Analysis of Factors Associated with Effective Treatment." *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, vol.1, no.4, 2005, pp. 451–476.
- Lynch, Mathew, Nan Marie Estone, Juan Collazos, Micaela Lipman, and Sino Esthappan. "Arches Transformative Mentoring Program: An Implementation and Impact Evaluation in New York City." Washington, DC: Urban Institute, February 2018.
- Miller, Cynthia, Megan Millenky, Lisa Schwartz, Lisbeth Goble, and Jillian Stein. "Building a Future: Interim Impact Findings from the YouthBuild Evaluation." New York: MDRC, November 2016.

- Miller, M., D. Fumia, and L. He. "The King County Education and Employment Training (EET) Program: Outcome Evaluation and Benefit-Cost Analysis." Doc. No. 15-12-3901. Olympia, Washington: Washington State Institute for Public Policy, December 2015.
- National Juvenile Justice Network. "Improving Educational Opportunities for Youth in the Juvenile Justice System." Washington, DC: 2016.
- Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. "Employment and Training for Court-Involved Youth." Task Force on Employment and Training for Court-Involved Youth 2000. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, November 2000.
- Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. "Vocational Job Training" Washington DC: U.S. Department of Justice, 2010.
- O'Sullivan, Katie, Nancy Rose, and Thomas Murphy, "PEPNet: Connecting Juvenile Offenders to Education and Employment." Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Fact Sheet, #29. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, July 2001.
- Pearson, F.S., D.S. Lipton, C.M. Cleland, and D.S. Yee. "The Effects of Behavioral/Cognitive Behavioral Programs on Recidivism." *Crime and Delinquency*, vol. 48, no. 3, 2002, pp. 476–496.
- Petrosino, A., H. Turner, T. Hanson, and P.E. Campie. "The Impact of the Safe and Successful Youth Initiative (SSYI) on City-Level Youth Crime Victimization Rates. An Interrupted Time Series Analysis with Comparison Groups." Boston, MA: Massachusetts Executive Office of Health and Human Services, October 2014.
- Schiraldi, Vincent, Bruce Western, and Kendra Bradner. "Community-Based Responses to Justice-Involved Young Adults." New Thinking in Community Corrections Bulletin, no.1. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, National Institute of Justice, September 2015.
- Schochet, Peter Z., John Burghardt, and Sheena McConnell. "Does Job Corps Work? Impact Findings from the National Job Corp Study." *American Economic Review*, vol.98, no.5, 2008, pp.1864–1886.
- Tolan, Patrick H., David B. Henry, Michael S. Schoeny, Peter Lovegrove, and Emily Nichols. "Mentoring Programs to Affect Delinquency and Associated Outcomes of Youth At-Risk: A Comprehensive Meta-Analytic Review." *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, vol.10, no.2, 2014, pp. 179–206.
- Wilson, D.B., L.A. Bouffard, and D.L. MacKenzie. "A Quantitative Review of Structured, Group-Oriented, Cognitive-Behavioral Programs for Offenders." *Journal of Criminal Justice Behavior*, vol. 32, no.2, 2005, pp. 172–204.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

## GLOSSARY

- Case management: Individual service coordination helping people access multiple health care, social work, disability insurance, employment, and law services.
- Dosage: The length or frequency of service contacts, such as the number of service hours.
- Experimental: A research design that compares outcomes between a program group and a group not participating in the program, where group status is determined by random chance (for example, by a coin flip).
- Life coaching: A process for empowering individuals to gain greater awareness of their choices, set goals, and cultivate strong connections to others.
- Qualitative research: A research method relying on interviews, focus groups, and observations to draw conclusions about a research question.
- Quantitative research: A research method relying on analysis of numeric data, including administrative or survey data, to draw conclusions about a research question.
- Quasi-experimental: A research design that compares outcomes between a program group and a group not participating in the program, where group status is not determined by random chance.
- Recidivism: A measure of repeat involvement in the criminal or juvenile justice system, such as rearrest, reconviction, or reincarceration.
- Risk assessment: A systematic process of evaluating the potential risks that may be involved in an activity or a decision, often used in the criminal and juvenile justice system to assess risk of failure to appear in court or risk of reoffense.
- Statistically significant: A description of a quantitative result meaning the likelihood that a relationship between two variables, such as participation in a program and arrest rates, is due to something other than random chance.
- Strategies: The primary approaches to violence prevention employed by Oakland Unite, including (1) life coaching, (2) education and economic self-sufficiency, (3) violent incident and crisis response, (4) community asset building, and (5) innovation fund.
- Sub-strategies: The specific approaches to violence prevention within the primary strategies. For instance, within the violent incident and crisis response strategy, agencies are funded under five sub-strategies to address distinct sources of violent victimization, exposure, and perpetration: street outreach, shooting response, homicide support network, commercially sexually exploited children intervention, and family violence intervention.
- Transitional employment: An employment-based model that provides short-term subsidized employment for individuals to build their experience and skills.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

Appendix A:

Data sources

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

This report is based on a mix of qualitative and quantitative analyses of multiple data sources. We discuss both the qualitative and administrative data sources in detail below. All data collection procedures were reviewed and approved by the Health Media Lab Institutional Review Board.

## **QUALITATIVE DATA**

The qualitative component of this report included primary data collection through a participant survey, site visits and interviews with agency staff, and a review of materials provided by Oakland Unite and collected during site visits.

## Survey data

The purpose of the survey data collection was to gather information about Oakland Unite directly from strategy participants. The general topics of study included experiences and satisfaction with services, importance of agency characteristics, thoughts about the future, experiences with violence, and demographic characteristics. Before the survey was administered, it was pretested with former Oakland Unite participants in two strategies. The pretest focused on whether respondents understood the questions, whether anything was difficult to answer, and the time required to complete. Based on this pretest, the survey was revised and a final version was translated into Spanish.

### Table A.1. Participant survey summary

Sub-strategy	Number of agencies	Number of completed surveys
Youth life coaching	6	63
Youth EESS	4	46

The surveys were fielded with participants at each agency during September and October 2018. Survey administration was typically conducted on two back-to-back days where any Oakland Unite participant who visited that agency on one of the days was asked to complete a survey. Due to the differences in services provided and the number of participants at each agency, some sites delayed the start of data collection or included additional days. Nearly all surveys were conducted using a paper copy of the survey, with 5 percent of respondents electing to use a web version. The survey took approximately 5 minutes to complete. No identifying information was included on the survey, so all responses were anonymous. In total, 109 participants completed a survey across the 10 agencies providing services in the focal strategies (see Table A.1 for survey counts by sub-strategy). Because the number of surveys varied by agency, the responses were weighted proportional to the number of completed surveys at each agency. This means that each agency contributed equally to the sub-strategy averages regardless of the number of participants who completed a survey.
### Site visits and interviews

The purpose of the site visits and interviews was to gather information about Oakland Unite strategy implementation from agency staff. The general topics of study included participant engagement, program implementation, program progress and tracking, collaboration networks, and successes and challenges. Site visits took place in July and August 2017 and were followed by telephone interviews in August 2018. During each visit, Mathematica staff conducted semistructured interviews with grantee staff members, including managers and line staff. In total, we conducted 48 interviews at the 10 agencies providing services in the focal strategies, plus the JJC Transition Center (see Table A.2 for interview counts by sub-strategy).

Sub-strategy	Site visits conducted	Director or program manager interviews	Frontline staff interviews
Youth life coaching	7	15	15
Youth EESS	4	8	10

### Table A.2. Site visit and interview summary

At each site, we interviewed site directors and/or managers for approximately 45 to 60 minutes. These interviews focused on topics such as defining and reaching the program's target population, program performance measures, and staffing. We also conducted interviews with frontline staff members at each site. These interviews were typically 30 to 45 minutes and focused on participant engagement, service provision, and program data. For agencies with grants across multiple strategies, we interviewed frontline staff members for each of the strategies.

The interview protocols varied depending on the Oakland Unite sub-strategy. Interviews at all agencies included a set of topics, with questions varying depending on which type of respondent was interviewed. The protocol also included targeted questions about the focal strategies, which asked about best practices specific to each sub-strategy and additional details about services and outcomes. The youth life coaching protocol included questions about implementing the life coaching model, staff workload, and client communication. The youth EESS protocol focused on skills assessment and development, as well as engagement with local employers and schools.

The interviews were semistructured, meaning the evaluation team asked the same questions during each interview, but responses were open-ended and the interviewer had flexibility to probe for details or clarification in the responses. During the site visits, a notetaker recorded responses in a standardized template, which linked the responses to specific interview questions and to broader topics for analysis. The evaluation team analyzed responses across interviewees within the site and across agencies within the same sub-strategy. The goal was to highlight key themes about the implementation of the sub-strategy, as well as identify similarities and differences between agencies.

In addition to the site visits, the evaluation team reviewed materials provided by Oakland Unite staff and collected directly from agencies during the site visits. The documents included the scope of work statement, agency budgets, quarterly reports, and intake forms. We used this information to better understand the types of services offered by each agency, as well as their benchmarks and performance measures.

Although the qualitative data provided a rich source of information about the agencies and the Oakland Unite program, this evaluation approach has some limitations. In particular, the participant surveys were done with a convenience sample of clients who happened to be on-site, or with clients specifically selected for participation by the agency, so their responses may not reflect the experiences of all clients. As with all data from interviews, particularly those including sensitive topics, there is also a potential for social desirability bias, where staff may provide responses that reflect favorably upon themselves. Although we specifically informed each interviewee that their answers would be kept confidential and that there would be no impact on their employment or the agency's participation in Oakland Unite, respondents may still have felt that negative responses could have repercussions. We designed our site visit procedures to minimize the potential for this bias, including interviewing in private spaces and emphasizing the confidential nature of the research in the consent language, but we cannot rule out the effect of these factors in the results.

### ADMINISTRATIVE DATA

The quantitative analyses in this report used administrative data from Oakland Unite, OPD, ACPD, OUSD, and ACOE that were linked together (Table A.3).

Data source	Total number of individual records retrieved	Date range
Alameda County Office of Education	1,492	August 1, 2014 to June 30, 2018
Alameda County Probation Department	23,377	January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2018
Oakland Unite Cityspan data	8,631	January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2018
Oakland Police Department arrest incidents	76,630	January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2018
Oakland Police Department victimization incidents	392,680	January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2018
Oakland Unified School District	82,028	August 1, 2010 to June 30, 2018

### Table A.3. Administrative data sources

### **Oakland Unite data**

All Oakland Unite agencies are required to maintain administrative records in a common database managed by Cityspan. Agencies use the database to record service contacts and hours, milestones reached, incentives received, referral sources, and demographic and risk information

about each participant. The data extract we received from Cityspan included participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2018. Although some individuals may have begun participating in Oakland Unite in the prior year, we did not have information about services received before January 1, 2016.

Between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2018, about 90 percent of participants in each substrategy consented to share their personal information for evaluation purposes (see Table A.4).<sup>7</sup> Accordingly, Cityspan did not provide names, dates of birth, or addresses for participants who did not consent. Although nonconsenting participants are included in most descriptive statistics about Oakland Unite, they are excluded from any analyses of outcomes, because the analyses require identifying information so participants can be linked to outside records.

Sub-strategy	Number of participants	Consent rate (%)
Youth EESS	503	92
Youth life coaching	625	87

Source: Oakland Unite administrative data, based on participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2018.

### **OPD** data

OPD provided data on arrests and victimization incidents that occurred between January 1, 2006, and December 31, 2018. The arrest data included information about each arrest incident, including its location, statute code, and Uniform Crime Reporting statute category code, as well as information about the arrestee, including name, date of birth, address, and demographics. The victimization data included similar information for each incident involving a victim of a crime. We used the Uniform Crime Reporting statute categories and statute codes to determine each arrest or victimization incident's type. For example, we classified incidents by whether they involved a gun or other weapon, public order, property, drugs, a violent offense, or a violation of probation. For victimization incidents, we also identified a broader category of violent incidents, including whether they involved homicide, rape, robbery, assault, offenses against the family and children, prostitution, or sex offenses. For arrest or victimization incidents with multiple offenses, we used the most serious offense to determine the severity.

### ACPD data

ACPD provided data on state and local Criminal Offender Record Information for individuals age 13 and older served through the Juvenile Division between 2010 and 2019, and records for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For the impact analysis, we restricted participants to those who received services between January 2016 and May 2017 so that we could examine all outcomes during a 12-month follow-up period (the last available schooling data ended in June 2018). These participants had consent rates similar to those in the longer service period: 91 for youth EESS and 90 percent for youth life coaching

individuals age 18 to 40 served through the Adult Division, including realigned populations, also between 2010 and 2019. The Juvenile Division data files included arrest date and arrested offenses, sustained offenses, disposition, and facility information. These files included juveniles arrested throughout Alameda County, including the City of Oakland. The Adult Division file included only information on sustained offenses for individuals who were on formal probation. The ACPD data was matched to the other data sources using first and last name, date of birth, race and ethnicity, and gender. Mathematica conducted the match on-site at ACPD and removed identifying information from the matched file before conducting the analysis.

### **OUSD** data

OUSD provided data on all individuals enrolled in the district at any point between August 1, 2010, and June 30, 2018. For each academic year, the data included information about the student's school, days enrolled, days absent, days suspended, and academic performance. In addition, the data contained demographic and identifying information about each student.

### ACOE data

ACOE provided data on all individuals enrolled in the county's community schools at any point between August 1, 2014, and June 30, 2018. For each academic year, the data included information about the student's days enrolled, days absent, days suspended, and academic performance. In addition, the data contained demographic and identifying information about each student.

### **Data matching**

To conduct the analyses, we needed to link individuals within and across data sets. To conduct these matches, we used an algorithm to assign individuals a unique identifier both within and across data sets. The algorithm used consenting individuals' identifying information, including their first and last name, date of birth, gender, and address, to perform matches. All of these data points did not have to be available or match exactly for records to be matched. Instead, the algorithm was designed to take into account the likelihood that two or more records represented the same person, even if there were minor differences across records (such as in the spelling of names). The algorithm placed the most weight on name and date of birth but also used gender and address, if available. These weights were carefully calibrated to avoid erroneous matches while still allowing flexibility.

There were 9,700 unique Cityspan IDs in the Oakland Unite data. The matching algorithm identified 8,631 individuals, which reflects that a number of people received services from more than one Oakland Unite agency. However, this number may still overcount the unique individuals served by Oakland Unite, because we were only able to identify participants who received services from more than one agency if they consented to sharing their identifying information for evaluation. Of the 8,631 individuals identified in the Oakland Unite data, we matched 1,780 records to OPD arrest data, 1,627 to OPD victimization data, 1,625 to ACPD

data, 1,319 to OUSD data, and 273 to ACOE data; 4,074 did not consent to share their identifying information with evaluators and thus could not be linked to other records.

### **Data security**

Mathematica exercises due care to protect all data provided for this evaluation from unauthorized physical and electronic access. Per our current data-sharing agreements, we do not share identifiable data with Oakland Unite or any other entity. All data are stored in an encrypted project-specific folder in a secure server. Access to this folder is restricted to authorized users through access control lists that require approval from the evaluation's project director. Only staff members needed to complete the evaluation objectives were granted access to the restricted data folder: three researchers (including the project director) and a lead programmer. These staff members have all completed data security training and background checks and are up to date on Mathematica's data storage and security policies.

Appendix B:

Methods and results

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

In this appendix, we describe the sample selection, matching, and analysis steps for the impact analyses and present the impact estimates that form the basis of the results summarized in the main text.

### Sample selection

We applied a number of sample selection criteria to the Oakland Unite data before matching participants to comparison individuals. First, we restricted the sample to Oakland Unite participants who began receiving services by May 2017 because we wished to examine outcomes in a 12-month follow-up window and outcome data were consistently available only through June 2018 at the time we began the analyses. We then excluded participants who did not consent to share their personally identifiable information for evaluation purposes. Consent rates were 90 percent for both youth life coaching and EESS. We also required participants to meet a minimum service threshold to be included in the analyses. For participants in youth life coaching, the service threshold was 10 hours. Participants in youth EESS needed to have at least 10 hours of nonwork services *or* 40 work hours. Oakland Unite participants also had to have demographic information in order to be matched.

After these restrictions were applied, there were 297 participants in youth life coaching and 209 participants in youth EESS available for matching. For the analyses of school attendance and discipline outcomes specifically, participants further had to be enrolled in school in the outcome period. Under this additional restriction, 195 participants in youth life coaching and 141 participants in youth EESS were available to be matched. Table B.1 describes how each restriction affected the sample sizes, where each row includes a new restriction added to the previous restriction(s) listed.

		Youth life coaching	Youth EESS
(1)	Number of youth who received services by May 2017	411	241
(2)	Those in (2) who consented to share data for evaluation	371	218
(3)	Those in (1) and (2) who met the minimum service hour threshold	299	209
(4)	Those in (1) through (3) who had demographic data (that is, those available for matching)	297	195
(5)	Those in (1) through (4) who were enrolled in school in the outcome period (that is, those available for matching for the analysis of schooling outcomes)	195	141

### Table B.1. Summary of Oakland Unite sample size restrictions for the outcomes analyses

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

We also applied some criteria to the potential comparison group, drawn from OPD, ACPD, ACOE, and OUSD data, before conducting the matching. First, comparison individuals could not participate in any Oakland Unite sub-strategy during the period available in the Cityspan data

(January 1, 2016, to May 31, 2017). We then restricted the age range of comparison individuals to overlap with the age range of Oakland Unite participants in the relevant sub-strategy. We also restricted the potential comparison group to individuals residing in Oakland to increase the likelihood that any future outcomes would occur in Oakland and thus appear in the available data. In addition, we removed a small number of individuals who were arrested or convicted for homicide or rape in the months leading up to the service window, because they were likely to be incarcerated during the follow-up period. As with Oakland Unite participants, comparison individuals had to have demographic information recorded to be matched.

After these restrictions were applied, there were 29,816 potential comparison individuals for the youth life coaching analysis and 28,138 potential comparison individuals for the youth EESS analysis. For the analyses of school attendance and discipline outcomes, comparison youth also had to be enrolled in school in the outcome period. Under this additional restriction, 16,346 potential comparison individuals were available for the youth life coaching analyses of school attendance and discipline. For the youth EESS analyses of these outcomes, 13,528 potential comparison individuals were available to be matched.

### Matching

We matched Oakland Unite participants in each sub-strategy to similar comparison individuals using an approach known as propensity-score matching. For each sub-strategy, we estimated a propensity score for each eligible Oakland Unite participant and comparison individual using a logistic regression model. This propensity score indicates an individual's likelihood of participating in a particular Oakland Unite sub-strategy given his or her gender, ethnicity, age, area of residence, and prior educational and juvenile justice histories before participation in Oakland Unite. Due to the wide range of start dates (spanning 17 months) and the fact that some youth are referred to Oakland Unite shortly after an arrest or other incident, we divided participants into three groups of time frames based on their service start dates, with each time frame being five or six months.<sup>8</sup> We then generated three sets of covariates for each potential comparison member that measured their baseline data relative to each of these start windows. To find matches with similar patterns of behavior over time, we matched on juvenile justice and education history data in the previous 3, 6, and 12 months from the start month of each window, as well as baseline data before the 12-month baseline period. We then estimated propensity scores separately for each group. Table B.2 lists the variables used to estimate the propensity scores.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ideally we would have liked to match Oakland Unite youth separately by each start month to identify comparison youth with the most similar patterns of behavior around the exact same time period. However, monthly sample sizes were too small to reliably predict program participation.

#### Table B.2. Baseline variables used in the propensity-score models

- Demographics (gender, race/ethnicity, age)
- Area of residence (east Oakland, west Oakland, central Oakland, other)
- Indicators of whether the individual had been arrested, convicted, incarcerated, in juvenile hall, or monitored with a GPS or electronic tracking device at any time before the start of Oakland Unite services, as well as in the 3, 6, and 12 months before the start of services. Arrests and convictions were counted both overall and by type of offense (felony, misdemeanor, gun, violent, violation of probation, and other offenses)
- Categories of the number of arrests, convictions, and times in juvenile hall in the 3, 6, and 12 months before the start of Oakland Unite services
- Indicators of whether the individual had been a victim of any crime or a violent crime specifically any time before the start of Oakland Unite services, as well as in the 3, 6, and 12 months before the start of services
- Categories of the number of times the individual had been a victim of any crime in the 12 months before the start of Oakland Unite services
- Indicators of whether the individual was enrolled in OUSD or ACOE before 2015 and in the year before the start of Oakland Unite services, as well as whether they were enrolled in an alternative school during these periods
- School attendance rate before 2015 and in the year before the start of Oakland Unite services (if enrolled in school)<sup>a</sup>
- Indicators of whether the individual was chronically absent, suspended, involved in a school discipline incident, involved in a violent school incident, or had a GPA below 2.0 before 2015 and in the year before the start of Oakland Unite services (if enrolled in school)<sup>a</sup>
- Categories of the number of school discipline incidents in the 12 months before the start of Oakland Unite services<sup>a</sup>
- Interactions of whether the individual was African American and various demographic, justice, and education variables
- Note: The covariates used to estimate the propensity scores were generally the same for all groups and sub-strategies. However, in some instances we modified this list and constructed different interactions to achieve better matching results.

<sup>a</sup> For individuals who were not enrolled in school during the baseline periods, we imputed all educationrelated baseline data to zero and controlled for an enrollment indicator in the matching.

After estimating these propensity scores, we matched each Oakland Unite participant with up to 20 comparison individuals for youth life coaching and up to 25 comparison individuals for youth EESS who had similar propensity scores within a given threshold, or radius, of the Oakland Unite participant's propensity score. After conducting the match, we recalculated baseline measures for each participant and all of his or her matched comparison individuals to align with that participant's start month (rather than the longer start window used in the matching). Using these realigned data, we then combined all participants and their matches and reassessed the quality of the baseline match for the combined treatment and comparison groups.

A small number of Oakland Unite participants did not resemble any comparison individuals closely enough and therefore were not matched. Of the 297 participants in the youth life coaching sample, 260 were matched to an average of 18 comparison individuals each. In youth

EESS, 179 out of 195 participants received matches (19 each, on average).<sup>9</sup> We matched comparison individuals to Oakland Unite participants with replacement, meaning that the same comparison individual could be matched to more than one Oakland Unite participant. Table B.3 presents summary statistics showing how well Oakland Unite participants were matched to comparison individuals on baseline characteristics. On average, comparison individuals were not significantly different from Oakland Unite participants in either sub-strategy on most of the baseline characteristics used in the analyses. However, youth in the life coaching sub-strategy were more likely than the matched comparison group to have contact with law enforcement in the 3 and 6 months before the start of services. Unfortunately, we were unable to identify a comparison group for the youth life coaching sub-strategy that had the same juvenile justice experiences in that exact time period. Thus, we control for the timing of youth's juvenile justice histories in the regression model described below.

Table B.3. Baseline characteristics of matched Oakland Unite participants and
comparison youth

	Youth life coaching	Matched comparison	Youth EESS	Matched comparison
Total number of arrests 3 months before OU (mean)	0.72**	0.47	13.4	13.6
Any arrest 3 months before OU (%)	44.2**	29.8	10.6	10.4
Any gun offenses 3 months before OU (%)	17.7*	10.2	3.9	2.7
Any violent offenses 3 months before OU (%)	10.8	7.0	2.2	1.6
Any new conviction 3 months before OU (%)	25.8**	15.6	3.9	3.6
Any probation 3 months before OU (%)	20.8**	10.4	1.7	2.2
Any violation of probation 3 months before OU (%)	16.9**	8.0	2.2	2.2
Ever a victim of violent incident 3 months before OU (%)	7.3	3.8	3.9	2.4
Any juvenile hall 3 months before OU (%)	35.0**	20.4	6.1	6.5
Total number of arrests 6 months before OU (mean)	0.9	0.7	0.2	0.2
Any arrest 6 months before OU (%)	51.2	43.2	15.6	14.0
Any gun offenses 6 months before OU (%)	20.4	15.4	6.7	3.7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Fifty-nine percent of youth life coaching participants received the maximum number of allowable matches (25), whereas about one quarter matched with 10 or fewer comparison individuals. Meanwhile, 90 percent of youth EESS participants matched with the maximum number of allowable matches (20), whereas the remaining 10 percent matched with between 1 and 13 comparison individuals.

	Youth life coaching	Matched comparison	Youth EESS	Matched comparison
Any violent offenses 6 months before OU (%)	11.5	9.9	3.9	2.3
Any new conviction 6 months before OU (%)	29.2	22.0	5.0	4.8
Any probation 6 months before OU (%)	25.4**	14.4	5.0	3.1
Any violation of probation 6 months before OU (%)	20.0**	10.8	2.2	2.7
Ever a victim of violent incident 6 months before OU (%)	9.6	6.1	5.0	3.9
Any stay in juvenile hall 6 months before OU (%)	39.2*	28.3	7.8	9.6
Total number of arrests 12 months before OU (mean)	1.4	1.3	0.4	0.4
Any arrest 12 months before OU (%)	66.2	62.4	24.6	24.4
Any gun offenses 12 months before OU (%)	29.6	26.3	9.5	9.2
Any violent offenses 12 months before OU (%)	15.0	15.8	5.0	4.6
Any new conviction 12 months before OU (%)	42.7	36.0	10.1	8.3
Any probation 12 months before OU (%)	32.3	26.3	8.9	7.1
Any violation of probation 12 months before OU (%)	25.0	18.9	3.4	3.6
Ever a victim of violent incident 12 months before OU (%)	15.8	11.3	7.3	7.4
Any stay in juvenile hall 12 months before OU (%)	50.8	43.7	13.4	16.0
Total number of arrests before OU (mean)	2.9	3.1	1.1	1.1
Any arrest any time before OU (%)	84.6	82.2	46.4	46.5
Any gun offenses any time before OU (%)	45.0	42.4	17.3	18.1
Any violent offenses any time before OU (%)	25.4	25.6	8.9	8.8
Any new conviction any time before OU (%)	55.8	50.0	20.7	21.6
Any probation any time before OU (%)	43.8	41.5	16.2	18.2
Any violation of probation any time before OU (%)	33.8	30.0	8.9	6.6
Ever a victim of violent incident any time before OU (%)	40.4	37.9	26.3	26.5
Any stay juvenile hall any time before OU (%)	60.0	52.7	22.9	24.4

	Youth life coaching	Matched comparison	Youth EESS	Matched comparison
Enrolled in OUSD or ACOE 12 months before OU (%)	77.3	73.6	74.9	72.5
Enrolled in an alternative school 12 months before OU (%)	8.8	11.1	5.6	7.0
Chronically absent in the 12 months before OU (%)	40.1	40.7	13.6	20.8
Any violent school incidents 12 months before OU (%)	15.8	14.5	10.1	10.5
Female (%)	27.7	25.6	38.0	33.6
White (%)	0.4	0.8	1.1	0.7
African American (%)	68.8	69.8	79.3	79.8
Asian or Pacific Islander (%)	4.2	3.6	1.7	2.1
Hispanic (%)	20.8	21.4	11.7	12.3
Other race/ethnicity (%)	5.8	4.4	6.1	4.8
Age (mean)	15.6	15.7	15.9	15.9
Resides in west Oakland (%)	23.1	21.6	21.2	20.7
Resides in central Oakland (%)	25.8	26.0	25.7	24.8
Resides in east Oakland (%)	47.3	48.2	44.1	46.8
Other area of residence (%)	3.8	4.1	8.9	7.7
Number of individuals	260	3,878	179	3,317

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

\*Difference is statistically significant at the 5 percent level.

\*\*Difference is statistically significant at the 1 percent level.

To analyze school attendance and discipline outcomes, we repeated the process described above on a subset of treatment and comparison youth who were enrolled in school in the 12-month outcome period. To account for additional educational background characteristics, we also matched on student's grade in the baseline year, free and reduced-priced school lunch recipient status, special education status, English language learner status, total credits earned in the baseline year, whether the student transferred schools in the past, and whether the student was behind the expected grade level for his or her age. The summary statistics for this match are presented in Table B.4. Of the 195 participants in the youth life coaching sample who were enrolled in school in the outcome period, 114 were matched to an average of 15 comparison individuals each. For youth EESS, 113 out of 141 participants received matches (23 each, on average).<sup>10</sup>

Table B.4. Baseline characteristics of matched Oakland Unite participants and
comparison youth, for those enrolled in school in the outcome period

	Youth life coaching	Matched comparison	Youth EESS	Matched comparison
Enrolled in OUSD or ACOE 12 months before OU (%)	89.9	86.9	89.3	88.7
Enrolled in an alternative school 12 months before OU (%)	3.7	6.3	4.5	5.0
Attendance rate 12 months before OU (mean)	87.3	86.0	94.2	94.1
Chronically absent in the 12 months before OU (%)	35.7	39.6	13.2	15.4
Any violent school incidents 12 months before OU (%)	22.0	24.4	13.4	14.9
Any school incidents 12 months before OU (%)	45.0	42.0	38.4	39.6
Any suspensions 12 months before OU (%)	25.7	19.7	17.9	17.3
GPA 12 months before OU (mean)	1.3	1.4	1.6	1.6
GPA less than 2.0 12 months before OU (%)	85.7	81.3	74.7	76.6
Transferred or left school 12 months before OU (%)	75.2	68.9	51.4	50.1
Ever special education (%)	35.8	37.4	24.1	24.7
English language learner before 2015 (%)	13.8	12.2	11.6	12.2
Behind expected grade level (%)	6.4	5.0	6.3	6.7
Ever free or reduced price lunch recipient (%)	92.7*	83.6	92.9	93.1
Any arrest 12 months before OU (%)	54.1	50.4	24.1	23.5
Any new conviction 12 months before OU (%)	33.0	30.1	8.9	9.8
Ever a victim of a violent incident 12 months before OU (%)	18.3	12.1	8.0	10.5
Female (%)	22.9	19.8	36.6	36.3
African American (%)	70.6	71.8	77.7	75.3

<sup>10</sup> We matched each Oakland Unite participant enrolled in school with up to 25 comparison individuals for youth life coaching and 30 comparison individuals for youth EESS who were also enrolled in school in the outcome period.

	Youth life coaching	Matched comparison	Youth EESS	Matched comparison
Asian or Pacific Islander (%)	0.9	1.2	1.8	2.1
Hispanic (%)	23.9	20.7	14.3	15.7
Other race/ethnicity (%)	4.6	6.3	6.3	6.7
Age (mean)	15.2	15.5	15.6	15.8
Resides in west Oakland (%)	21.1	21.3	21.4	21.7
Resides in central Oakland (%)	23.9	29.0	21.4	20.9
Resides in east Oakland (%)	50.5	46.0	50.0	50.8
Other area of residence (%)	4.6	3.7	7.1	6.6
Number of individuals	109	1,263	112	2,409

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

\*Difference is statistically significant at the 5 percent level.

### Impact model

After conducting the match, we analyzed outcomes in the 12-month period after participants began Oakland Unite services. Participants began receiving services between January 2016 and May 2017 and therefore had different follow-up periods. Follow-up periods ranged from February 2016–January 2017 (for youth who began services in January 2016) through June 2017–May 2018 (for youth who began services in May 2017).<sup>11</sup> The follow-up periods of comparison individuals corresponded to the same follow-up periods, we determined whether individuals had any of the outcomes listed in Table II.2 in the main text. With input from the Human Services Department, we classified outcomes as either confirmatory—indicating the main outcomes that could shed light on these main impacts. As an additional exploratory analysis, we examined short-term arrest, victimization, and recidivism outcomes in a 6-month, rather than 12-month, window after the start of services, following the same procedure as described below for 12-month outcomes.

To measure the impacts of participating in youth life coaching and youth EESS on these outcomes, we estimated an ordinary least squares regression model that accounted for any remaining differences between Oakland Unite and comparison individuals in their juvenile justice and educational histories and other baseline characteristics:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Some youth who received services in the early months of 2016 had begun participating in Oakland Unite in the previous year. However, we did not have information about services received before January 1, 2016 for this report.

(B1) 
$$y_i = \alpha + X_i \beta + \delta T_i + \varepsilon_i,$$

where  $y_i$  is a 12-month outcome;  $X_i$  is a vector of baseline characteristics for individual *i* accounting for their demographic, educational, and juvenile justice histories that takes into account the timing of incidents relative to the start of services<sup>12</sup>;  $T_i$  is the treatment status, indicating whether individual *i* participated in the Oakland Unite sub-strategy of interest;  $\varepsilon_i$  is a random error term that reflects the influence of unobserved factors on the outcome; and  $\delta$  and  $\beta$  are parameters or vectors of parameters to be estimated, with  $\delta$  representing the impact of participating in Oakland Unite. We used a weighting scheme in which each Oakland Unite participant had a weight of one, and the total weight of each participant's matched comparison individuals also summed to one. To accomplish this, each comparison individual had a weight inverse to the number of other comparison individuals matched to the same Oakland Unite participant. The standard errors were clustered at the individual level to account for the fact that the same comparison individual could appear multiple times in the data depending on the number of Oakland Unite participants to which they were matched.

### **Results**

Table B.5 presents the impact estimates for each sub-strategy and 12-month outcome in percentage point units. As discussed in the main text, youth life coaching and youth EESS participants were significantly more likely to be enrolled in school in the 12 months after starting services, but had rates of arrest, conviction, and victimization comparable to those of a similar comparison group of youth during this follow-up period. (The impact estimates presented in the main text were rounded to whole numbers.) The impact estimates for other 12-month outcomes were small and not statistically significant in either sub-strategy. Similarly, most of the impacts on 6-month outcomes (presented in Table B.6) were not statistically significant, with the exception of a reduction in the likelihood of arrests for violent offenses for youth life coaching.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> To better account for the timing of juvenile justice incidents in the months leading up to the start month, we additionally controlled for incidents that occurred in the 12 months before the start month by dividing them into 3-month windows.

# Table B.5. Impacts of Oakland Unite in the 12 months after enrollment (percentage points)

Youth life coaching		Youth EESS		
Impact of Oakland Unite on the probability of:	Impact	Sample size	Impact	Sample size
Confirmatory outcomes				
An arrest for any offense in Alameda County	0.3 (3.5)	4,138	2.3 (2.9)	3,496
Any delinquent finding or conviction in Alameda County	-1.9 (3.1)	4,138	2.3 (2.0)	3,496
Being a victim of any violent crime reported to OPD	4.4 (2.5)	4,138	3.8 (2.5)	3,496
Enrolling in an OUSD or ACOE school	16.5** (3.6)	4,138	17.7** (3.3)	3,496
Enrolling in an OUSD or ACOE school, school- aged youth only	15.4** (4.0)	3,263	13.2** (3.5)	2,764
If enrolled in school, being chronically absent	-2.2 (5.2)	1,274	-5.1 (5.0)	2,229
If enrolled in school, having a recorded violent school incident	-4.4 (3.6)	1,275	-3.3 (3.1)	2,231
Exploratory outcomes				
An arrest for an offense involving a gun in Alameda County	2.5 (2.7)	4,138	1.7 (2.3)	3,496
An arrest for a violent offense in Alameda County	-2.8 (2.1)	4,138	0.1 (1.5)	3,496
Being sentenced to formal probation supervision in Alameda County	1.7 (3.1)	4,138	0.9 (1.7)	3,496
Violating probation in Alameda County	0.2 (2.8)	4,138	2.1 (1.5)	3,496

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

Note: The sample sizes include the total number of Oakland Unite participants and matched comparison youth. Standard errors appear below the impact estimates in parent heses. Impacts and standard errors are presented in percentage points. A negative number indicates that Oakland Unite participants had a lower rate than the comparison group.

\*\*Impact is statistically significant at the 1 percent level.

	Youth life	coaching	You	th EESS
Impact of Oakland Unite on the probability of:	Impact	Sample size	Impact	Sample size
Confirmatory outcomes				
An arrest for any offense in Alameda County	1.3 (3.2)	4,138	1.0 (2.6)	3,496
Any delinquent finding or conviction in Alameda County	-3.0 (2.6)	4,138	0.0 (1.4)	3,496
Being a victim of any violent crime reported to OPD	2.1 (1.5)	4,138	0.4* (2.0)	3,496
If enrolled in school, having a recorded violent school incident	0.8 (2.0)	1,275	-2.4 (1.3)	2,231
Exploratory outcomes				
An arrest for an offense involving a gun in Alameda County	1.1 (2.2)	4,138	0.7 (1.9)	3,496
An arrest for a violent offense in Alameda County	-3.3* (1.6)	4,138	-0.2 (1.2)	3,496
Being sentenced to formal probation supervision in Alameda County	2.0 (2.8)	4,138	-1.0 (1.0)	3,496
Violating probation in Alameda County	-0.3 (2.5)	4,138	-0.6 (1.1)	3,496

### Table B.6. Impacts of Oakland Unite in the 6 months after enrollment (percentage points)

Source: Oakland Unite, ACOE, ACPD, OPD, and OUSD administrative data.

Note: The sample sizes include the total number of Oakland Unite participants and matched comparison youth. Standard errors appear below the impact estimates in parentheses. Impacts and standard errors are presented in percentage points. A negative number indicates that Oakland Unite participants had a lower rate than the comparison group.

\*Impact is statistically significant at the 5 percent level.

To illustrate these impacts relative to the matched comparison group in the report, we calculated the percentage of Oakland Unite participants with each outcome and then subtracted the impact estimates from this rate to obtain a counterfactual rate for the comparison group. These regression-adjusted rates are presented in Figures III.7 and III.8 for youth life coaching and Figures IV.8 and IV.9 for youth EESS in the main text.

To check the sensitivity of the results to our choice of a linear probability (ordinary least squares) model, we also estimated a logistic regression model. A logistic regression models a linear relationship between the log of the odds of the outcome and the dependent variables, whereas an ordinary least squares regression models a linear relationship between the probability of the outcome and the dependent variables. The results (not shown) were consistent with those obtained from the linear probability model.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

Appendix C:

Evidence-based programs and best practices

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

### YOUTH LIFE COACHING

Although many different types of programs target youth who have been involved in the juvenile justice system, these programs tend to have minimal impact on recidivism. In a meta-analysis of 22 studies of reentry and aftercare programs for juvenile and young adult offenders, James et al. (2013) examined experimental and quasi-experimental evaluations of therapeutically oriented programs that included skills training, counseling, and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT). Overall, these programs achieved small reductions in recidivism (as measured by rearrests or reconvictions), although impacts varied across programs. More-effective programs were implemented at an individual rather than group level, were more intensive in terms of number of contacts per month although not necessarily longer in duration, and were targeted toward older youth and those at the highest risk of recidivism.<sup>13</sup>

A number of community-based programs targeting youth at risk of involvement in violence have been effective. An example is Roca, a Massachusetts-based program that works with high-risk men ages 17 to 24. Roca staff provide intensive case management, a CBT-based curriculum, and education and employment support through stage-based programming over a four-year period (Baldwin et al. 2018). In the first six months, staff focus on building meaningful, trusting relationships with participants. In the next 18 months, staff increase the dosage of programming and focus on building the skills and competencies participants need to meet their goals. In the last two years, staff follow up with participants and offer support in critical moments. Relative to a comparison group of system-involved young men, Roca participants demonstrated a 65 percent reduction in recidivism (Schiraldi et al. 2015).

Another successful community-based program is the Safe and Successful Youth Initiative (SSYI), which operates in 11 cities in Massachusetts. SSYI serves male youth ages 14 to 24 at risk of being involved in firearms violence, based on local police data.<sup>14</sup> Street outreach workers engage these young men and use a comprehensive case management approach to assess their needs and connect them to other supports, including education, employment, and intensive supervision. Quasi-experimental studies of SSYI found that the program reduced violence both at the individual level and citywide. Participants were 58 percent less likely to be incarcerated in the two years after starting services than a matched comparison group (Petrosino et al. 2014). In addition, the program decreased the number of victims of violence ages 14 to 24 by about five victims per month per 100,000 residents, compared to other cities in Massachusetts with similar previous trends in violent crime that did not receive SSYI funding (Bradham et al. 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The authors of the meta-analysis categorized the risk levels of the study samples using the available sample characteristics, including age of first arrest, number of prior offenses, proportion ethnic minority, gang involvement, and drug abuse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Youth were deemed to be at risk if they met one or more of the following characteristics: committed a violent crime using a gun or knife, was victimized by violent crime and prone to retaliation, or was a known gang member.

In Chicago, the Becoming a Man curriculum, which incorporates many elements of CBT, as well as role playing and experiential activities, has been administered in school and detention center settings to youth at risk of experiencing or participating in violence. Experimental studies of these interventions found large decreases in arrests and recidivism for participants (Heller, Pollack, et al. 2017).

Juvenile mentoring is another common type of program for high-risk youth, although evidence about its effectiveness is mixed. One meta-analysis of 46 experimental or quasi-experimental studies of youth mentoring programs found that, overall, these programs reduced delinquency, aggression, and drug use and improved academic performance (Tolan et al. 2014). However, impacts varied across programs and were greater when mentors actively advocated for their mentee through the multiple systems and situations they needed to navigate, and paired this advocacy with emotional support and trust building. Other research has yielded less definitive results. An evaluation of six mentoring programs in Ohio that targeted juvenile offenders either on parole or probation found no significant differences in recidivism rates for participants (Duriez et al. 2017). Another meta-analysis found that there was not sufficient evidence to determine the effectiveness of mentoring on delinquency-related outcomes (Eddy and Schumer 2016).

The Arches Transformative Mentoring program, which is administered by the New York City Department of Probation, is an example of a promising mentoring intervention for justiceinvolved youth. Arches provides group mentoring to youth ages 16 to 24 who are on probation using an interactive journaling curriculum based on CBT principles and delivered by mentors with backgrounds similar to those of the youth in the program. Participants typically take 6 to 12 months to complete the program. Compared to a matched comparison group, Arches participants were less likely to have a felony reconviction within 12 months (1.8 to 5.9 percent) and 24 months (6.2 to 14.3 percent) of beginning probation (Lynch et al. 2018). The program was particularly successful for participants age 17 and younger, and had limited impacts on rearrests and reconvictions for any offense.

These and other studies have identified a number of best practices for programs serving high-risk and justice-involved youth.

### Target youth at highest risk and assess their risk and needs before beginning programming.

Several studies and policy briefs have concurred that programs have the most success when they target youth at highest risk (James et al. 2013; Howell and Lipsey 2012; Campie et al. 2013, Jannetta and Okeke 2017; Landenberger and Lipsey 2005). The National Institute of Corrections, Crime, and Justice's Integrated Model for Implementation of Evidence-Based Policy recommended that programs use risk and needs assessments to tailor their services and determine the necessary dosage of treatment (Guevera and Solomon 2009).

*Integrate CBT and other behavioral approaches, as well as mental health and substance abuse treatment.* Several meta-analyses have identified cognitive behavioral programs as a particularly effective intervention for reducing the recidivism of juvenile and adult offenders (Pearson et al. 2002; Wilson et al. 2005; Landenberger and Lipsey 2005). Strategies related particularly to anger

management and interpersonal conflict have demonstrated the strongest results (Landenberger and Lipsey 2005). The Council of State Governments Justice Center (2017) recommends both CBT and substance use and mental health treatment as best practices for reducing recidivism among young adults in the justice system because substance use and mental health conditions often emerge during this stage of development.

*Hire individuals with a range of expertise and backgrounds and provide them with necessary training.* Many successful programs—such as SSYI, CureViolence, Roca, and Arches—rely on staff who are local to the community or share similar backgrounds as the youth they serve to break down barriers with participants. Baldwin et al. (2018) found that successful programs do not need staff members to be highly educated. For example, Roca adapted its CBT intervention so that it could be delivered by paraprofessionals and provided them with the necessary training. Other training topics that could help staff deliver services include youth development and trauma-informed approaches (Council of State Governments Justice Center 2017).

*Involve family members or other caring adults in youth's lives in service provision.* The Justice Department's survey of programs serving justice-involved youth found that involving families is central to program success (Hayek 2016). In cases where a program is unable to engage with family members, either because the parent or guardian is absent or the relationship is dysfunctional, the program tries to connect youth with another caring adult who is committed to their success. Some evidence-based programs for justice-involved youth, such as Functional Family Therapy, focus specifically on repairing both individual behavior and familial relations (Hengeller and Schoenwald 2011).

*Coordinate and collaborate with other providers working with youth.* Programs should facilitate coordination and collaboration across other agencies, benefit providers, and government entities (Campie 2013; Council of State Governments Justice Center 2015; Jannetta and Okeke 2017). Many high-risk youth must navigate multiple systems and services, including those from which they are transitioning due to their age. Helping consolidate and smooth this complex and often fragmented network of services can be beneficial to participants. Partner organizations can also work together to share information and data.

#### Best practices recommended by the City of Oakland

Consistent with the evidence base, the City requires that agencies funded by Oakland Unite employ a defined set of best practices in their service delivery. The City's defined best practices for the life coaching strategy are detailed in Table C.1.

Recommended best practices
<ul> <li>Life coaches share similar life experience or are otherwise intimately connected to the communities from which participants are drawn.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Services are intensive, with low caseloads (15:1), high-frequency contacts, and service periods of 12 to 18 months, adapted on the basis of risk.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Frequent, persistent efforts are made to engage referred participants in services, including home visits and follow-up with those who have refused services, to reoffer support. Life coaches are responsive and strive to offer flexible availability to meet participants' emergency needs.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Coaches get to know the families and loved ones of participants and involve them in planning and service provision.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Services include the use of an assessment tool (ideally one that is validated) or method to determine risks, particularly around violence, strengths, and needs of participants.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Services respond to immediate safety concerns and risks for violence by connecting to conflict mediation, discussing harm reduction, securing temporary emergency relocation services, etc.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Services include a comprehensive, individualized service plan based upon assessment information, developed in partnership with the participant and in coordination with other involved parties. Services include regular follow-up guided by the service plan that is jointly reviewed and updated.</li> </ul>
• Participants and family members are referred to appropriate services to address identified needs, such as education, employment, mental health, substance use, legal aid, housing, and transportation. Coaches intercede on behalf of participants and their family members to ensure services are equitable and appropriate.
• Coaches maintain organized case files and consistent, high quality documentation of case notes and milestones in a database, according to shared standards of practice.

Table C.1. Oakland Unite bes	practices for	youth life coaching
------------------------------	---------------	---------------------

### YOUTH EMPLOYMENT AND EDUCATION SUPPORT

Research on the effectiveness of youth employment and education support programs has yielded mixed results. A review of the research literature on youth vocational training and employment programs by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (2010) concluded that most of the programs evaluated had either negligible or mixed success, improving some but not all relevant outcomes for youth. However, the review also noted that much of the existing research is not rigorous or examines outcomes in follow-up periods that may be too short. Some of the best-known studies in this field, which overcome both of these limitations, are of Job Corps and YouthBuild, two nationwide programs for young adults ages 16 to 24 who are disconnected from school and work.<sup>15</sup> These programs showed positive effects, particularly in the area of education and training. Their impacts on employment, earnings, and criminal justice involvement were smaller and less consistent.

Job Corps provides remedial education, GED preparation, vocational training, job placement assistance, and other supports such as health care and meals, and most participants live on-site during the program. Participants typically receive more than 1,000 hours of education and training over eight months. Job Corps improved educational attainment, employment, and earnings and reduced criminal activity over a four-year follow-up period (Schochet et al. 2008). Participants were 21 percentage points more likely to obtain a GED certificate and 31 percentage points more likely to obtain a vocational, technical, or trade certificate than the control group. Also, the Job Corps program increased employment rates by 2 percentage points, but gains in earnings faded over time. Compared to the control group, participants were less likely to be arrested (29 to 33 percent), convicted (22 to 25 percent), and incarcerated (16 to 18 percent). These reductions were largest in the first year after random assignment and for less serious crimes. Although Job Corps was generally effective, the impacts were considered small relative to the cost per participant, which was about \$16,500 in 1995.

YouthBuild provides participants vocational training (usually in the area of construction), educational services, leadership development, and other supports such as case management, life-skills training, and stipends. Youth typically participate for 6 to 12 months. YouthBuild improved educational attainment, but the program had limited effects on other outcomes (Miller et al. 2016). Thirty months after random assignment, YouthBuild participants were 14 percentage points more likely to earn a GED, 2 percentage points more likely to receive a trade license or training certificate, and had slightly higher earnings than the control group. However, there was no difference in program participants' employment, arrest, or conviction rates. The study also examined measures of youth development and attitudes, and found that YouthBuild increased civic engagement but had no effect on measures such as self-esteem, self-confidence, feelings about the future, and feelings of social support.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> About 27 percent of Job Corps and 25 percent of YouthBuild participants reported being arrested before starting the programs (Schochet et al. 2008; Miller et al. 2016). In contrast, 32 percent of Oakland Unite youth EESS participants had been arrested by OPD at baseline.

Many employment and education support programs for high-risk youth tend to be local and less intensive than Job Corps and YouthBuild. Rigorous evaluations of these programs are not widespread, but existing research tends to find mixed results (Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention 2010). One example of a promising local program is in King County, Washington, where juvenile offenders with moderate to high risk of reoffending received education and employment training. The program, which cost about \$2,800 per participant in 2012, offered a total of 150 work hours, job readiness training, job placement services, and support reenrolling in school or obtaining a GED. On average, youth participated for 6 months. Relative to a matched comparison group, the program reduced recidivism rates in the 18 months after program start by 12 percentage points (39 percent to 51 percent), as measured by any misdemeanor or felony conviction (Washington State Institute for Public Policy 2015). There were no differences in felony or violent felony convictions.

Positive effects of employment and education programs can fade over longer follow-up periods. This phenomenon is illustrated by an evaluation of the New York Young Adult Internship Program (YAIP), which offers subsidized employment and support to youth ages 16 to 24 who are disconnected from school and work (Cummings et al. 2018).<sup>16</sup> A randomized study found that after one year, YAIP more than doubled earnings and increased employment by almost 30 percentage points. However, those benefits did not persist over time. After 30 months, there was no difference in the education, employment, or earnings outcomes of participants compared to the control group. YAIP cost \$5,431 per participant in 2016, and offered a 10- to 12-week paid internship, job-readiness training, individual counseling and case management, and follow-up services. Summer youth employment programs, which provide short-term summer jobs to high school students, are available in many cities across the country. An experimental evaluation of summer jobs program in Chicago, which included a job for 8 weeks at minimum wage, a mentor, and some elements of CBT, found large differences in arrests for violent crimes between treatment and control group members in the first year following the program (Heller, Pollack, et al. 2017). However, the difference in violent arrests did not persist into the second year following the program, and the study found no differences in total arrests or arrests for property, drug, or other crimes, and no difference in employment.

A number of best practices has emerged for education and employment programs, though few have been rigorously evaluated. Many of these best practices align with those recommended by Oakland Unite.

*Provide comprehensive, coordinated wraparound services to better serve high-risk youth.* The State Council of Governments Justice Center (2017) concluded that programs with a narrow focus, such as employment and education only, are less likely to improve outcomes for justice-involved young adults, who tend to have multiple needs for support. Programs should be encouraged to provide wraparound services beyond their focus on vocational training and job placement, and to prioritize collaboration between the stakeholders surrounding each participant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> About 26 percent of YAIP participants had been arrested before starting the program.

(Task Force on Employment and Training for Court-Involved Youth 2000; Christman et al. 2016).

*Take a long-term approach to services.* The Promising and Effective Practices Network (PEPNet), a group that identified promising initiatives in connecting juvenile offenders to education and employment, found that successful programs included at least 12 months of support (O'Sullivan et al. 2001). The Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (2010) also found that short-term summer career development programs had few positive outcomes for youth.

*Uphold participant accountability, but be prepared to deal with setbacks.* O'Sullivan et al. (2001) reported that promising PEPNet programs upheld high expectations surrounding attendance, drug testing, and other benchmarks, promoting positive youth development while stressing young people's strengths and assets. However, programs should also be prepared to deal with challenges, barriers, and relapses that may arise (Schiraldi et al. 2015). In particular, participants should be allowed to exit and return as needed if they are not yet ready to fully engage in programming (Council of State Governments Justice Center 2017).

*Develop strategic partnerships with employers.* Greater success is found when there are established partnerships with employers that ensure a positive work experience for participants (O'Sullivan et al. 2001). In particular, the National Employment Law Project (Christman et al. 2016) found that partnerships with smaller- to mid-sized community-based employers are more successful than those with larger companies that are less likely to hold a stake in the surrounding area. Social enterprises can also allow young people to gain work experience while embedded in a supportive, community-based environment (Hayek 2016). Finally, programs can take advantage of government contracts, local industry partnerships, and other initiatives to increase access to subsidized employment for participants (Christman et al. 2016).

**Tailor job and school placements to participants' characteristics and needs.** Given the atrisk nature of the populations served, programs should carefully address the issue of participants' criminal records and focus on the training they have received when working with potential employment partners (Juvenile Sanctions Center 2005). A focus on strategic placement is essential in the realm of education as well because success is more likely when placement into schools is not automatic and programs take into account each participant's background and needs (National Juvenile Justice Network 2016).

**Offer financial incentives to participants to promote success.** The Juvenile Sanctions Center (2005) recognizes incentives and subsidies for participants are central to promoting job retention. In one model, programs set up so-called trust accounts for participants, paying them to stay in the program but deferring that payment until they have obtained and retained employment for a specific period. In an environmental scan of programs serving justice-involved young adults, Hayek (2016) also found that incentives can be useful for motivating participants.

### Best practices recommended by the City of Oakland

Consistent with the evidence base, the City requires that agencies funded by Oakland Unite employ a defined set of best practices in their service delivery. The City's defined best practices for the employment and education support strategy are detailed in Table C.2.

Category	Recommended best practices
Participant engagement	Develop deep levels of participant engagement through consistent relationship- building and mentoring that focus on pro-work behaviors and attitudes.
Assessments	<ul> <li>Assess job readiness needs and barriers and develop job placements that anticipate challenges and obstacles to employment.</li> </ul>
Connections with Employers	<ul> <li>Develop connections with employers and use those connections to leverage resources such as training, wages, and operational needs.</li> </ul>
Academic Support	<ul> <li>Support academic development (through program design or formal partnerships) and ensure work activities do not conflict with school.</li> </ul>
Job readiness training	<ul> <li>Promote job readiness, including motivation, soft skills, and hard skills.</li> <li>Address non-skill-related barriers to employment, including with other community-based programs to provide access to concrete supports.</li> <li>Help clients increase their social capital through participation in social activities where working people congregate.</li> </ul>
Employment services	<ul> <li>Offer transitional job placement, which is usually temporary, subsidized, income- and skill-generating, and often combined with other financial incentives.</li> <li>Offer learning work environments, such as internships or on-the-job experience.</li> <li>Focus on finding and retaining employment, including career planning, job coaching, connecting to work opportunities, and development of retention plans.</li> </ul>
Incentives	<ul> <li>Incentivize educational attainment and provide funds to support job readiness and retention (travel, attire, tools, and certification).</li> </ul>
Follow-up	<ul> <li>Provide comprehensive follow-up with participants, families, and employers to address any issues quickly and celebrate success.</li> </ul>
Source: Oakland U	nite. January through June 2018 funding cycle request for proposals.

Table C.2. Oakland Unite best practices recommended for youth EESS
--

Source: Oakland Unite, January through June 2018 funding cycle request for proposals.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

### Mathematica

Princeton, NJ • Ann Arbor, MI • Cambridge, MA Chicago, IL • Oakland, CA • Seattle, WA Tucson, AZ • Woodlawn, MD • Washington, DC

**EDI Global, a Mathematica Company** Bukoba, Tanzania • High Wy combe, United Kingdom



mathematica-mpr.com

Attachment B



### **Oakland Unite 2018–2019 Strategy Evaluation:**

# Crisis Intervention for Commercially Sexually Exploited Youth

### October 18, 2019

Naihobe Gonzalez, Mindy Hu, Natalie Larkin, and Michela Garber

#### Submitted to:

Office of the City Administrator 1 FrankH. Ogawa Plaza 3rd Floor Oakland, CA 94612 Project Officer: Tonya Gilmore

### Submitted by:

Mathematica 50514th Street, Suite 800 Oakland, CA 94612-1475 Telephone: (510) 830-3700 Facsimile: (510) 830-3701 Project Director: Naihobe Gonzalez Reference Number: 50358

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the staff of Oakland Unite who provided input and assistance for this evaluation. Although we cannot name everyone, we especially want to thank Josie Halpern-Finnerty, Sara Rose Serin-Christ, Valerie Okelola, Mailee Wang, and Peter Kim. We also thank Tonya Gilmore of the Office of the City Administrator. We are grateful to all of the agencies that shared data for this evaluation, including Cityspan, Alameda County Probation Department, Alameda County Office of Education, Oakland Police Department, Oakland Unified School District, and all of the Oakland Unite agencies. Several staff at Mathematica in addition to the authors also contributed to this report. We thank Kevin Conway for his technical review of the report and Esa Eslami for overseeing the creation of the administrative database used in the analyses. Dale Anderson provided editorial support and Sheena Flowers formatted the document.

## Contents

LIS	T OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONSv
EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARYvii
I.	INTRODUCTION1
	Background1
	Data1
	Overview of the report
II.	POLICY AND EVIDENCE LANDSCAPE
	Overview of the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy4
	CSE youth in Oakland6
	Local policy context
	Best practices for supporting CSE youth
III.	IMPLEMENTATION FINDINGS11
	Who are the agencies serving?11
	How do agencies identify participants?15
	What services do participants receive?17
	What are the needs of participants?20
	How do agencies collaborate with other partners within and outside of Oakland Unite?21
	What role does Oakland Unite play in broader efforts to support CSE youth in Oakland?23
IV.	CONCLUSION25
	Considerations for the future
	Areas for future research
REF	ERENCES
APF	PENDIX A: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CSE POLICY AND PROGRAMS
APF	PENDIX B: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON DATA SOURCES

# Tables

l.1.	Summary of past strategy-level evaluation findings	1
I.2.	Data sources	2
III.1.	Oakland Unite participant referral sources, by agency	15
III.2.	CSE youth participation in multiple Oakland Unite agencies and sub-strategies	22
A.1.	Summary of promising programs for CSE youth	A.6
B.1.	Site visit and interview summary	B.3
B.2.	Administrative data sources	B.4

# Figures

E.1.	Background characteristics of CSE youth participants in Oakland Unite	.vii
E.2.	CSE youth participants' weekly engagement and service hours received	viii
l.1.	Conceptual model of Oakland Unite	1
I.2.	Oakland Unite funding amounts for fiscal year 2019–2020	2
II.1.	CSE youth intervention agencies	5
II.2.	Number of participants served by the CSE youth intervention strategy, by year	5
II.3.	Individuals arrested for prostitution and likely CSEC arrested for minor offenses in Alameda County, 2008–2018	7
III.1.	Oakland Unite participant gender and ethnicity, compared to likely CSE youth in Alameda County	11
III.2.	Oakland Unite participant victimization, arrest, and probation histories before services	12
III.3.	Oakland Unite participants' age at first victimization and arrest	13
III.4.	Oakland Unite participants' victimization and arrest history in the three months prior to starting services	13
III.5.	Oakland Unite school-age participants' engagement in school in the year prior to starting services	14
III.6.	Oakland Unite participants' contact with law enforcement prior to starting services, by initial year of service	16
III.7.	Oakland Unite participants' total service hours received	17
III.8.	Oakland Unite participants' engagement and service hours received, by week	18
III.9.	Oakland Unite number of service periods participants engaged with agencies	19

# LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

Assessment Center	Alameda County Assessment Center
AC United	Alameda County United Against Human Trafficking Advisory Council
ACDAO	Alameda County District Attorney's Office
ACDCFS	Alameda County Department of Children and Families Services
ACGC	Alameda County Girls' Court
ACOE	Alameda County Office of Education
ACPD	Alameda County Probation Department
ACT	Acknowledge, Commit, Transform (Massachusetts)
BAWAR	Bay Area Women Against Rape
CASE Act	California Against Slavery and Exploitation Act
(the) City	City of Oakland
CSE	commercial sexual exploitation
CSEC	commercially sexually exploited children
CSE youth	commercially sexually exploited youth
CTVPA	California Trafficking Victims Protection Act
DCFS	Department of Children and Family Services (of Los Angeles County)
DreamCatcher	DreamCatcher Youth Services (a program of Covenant House)
EESS	education and employment support services
GEMS	Girls Educational and Mentoring Services
HEAT Watch	Human Exploitation and Trafficking Watch
LGBTQI	lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning, or intersex
MISSSEY	Motivating, Inspiring, Supporting & Serving Sexually Exploited Youth
OPD	Oakland Police Department
OUSD	Oakland Unified School District
RIP	Runaway Intervention Program
RYSE	Resilient Young Adult Survivor Empowerment program
SARC	Sexual Assault Resource Center
STAR	Sisters Transforming and Rising
STRYDE	Survivors Together Reaching Your Dreams Empowerment
TAY	transitional age youth
- TVPA Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act
- VSAC Victim Service Advisory Committee
- WCCC WestCoast Children's Clinic

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

# Insights on Oakland Unite's commercially sexually exploited youth intervention

## Background

Oakland Unite aims to interrupt and prevent violence by focusing on the youth and young adults in Oakland who are at highest risk of direct exposure to violence, violent victimization, and active involvement in violence. Oakland Unite administers grants to community-based organizations through a diverse set of strategies and sub-strategies to accomplish this goal.

The commercially sexually exploited youth (CSE youth) intervention sub-strategy offers funding for services that support youth at risk of or experiencing commercial sexual exploitation. In particular, it aims to help survivors meet their immediate needs for safety and be connected to resources to aid them on their path to healing and stability. The sub-strategy funds outreach and crisis response, emergency housing, safe spaces, and wraparound supports. In addition, it funds training efforts to strengthen the capacity of the Oakland Unite network and local law enforcement agencies to identify and respond to CSE youth.

This 2018–2019 strategy evaluation report provides an in-depth analysis of the implementation of the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy and its role in the local policy context.

## **Key Findings**



Agencies serve the intended population of girls and young women of color with a history of victimization, contact with law enforcement, and school disengagement.

The profile of participants was consistent with other research on CSE youth, suggesting that agencies are serving the intended population.



#### Figure E.1. Background characteristics of CSE youth participants in Oakland Unite





#### Agencies are following many best practices in their work. Agencies have a shared understanding of the CSE youth

population, which is grounded in the expertise and lived experience of providers. Staff take into account participants' readiness for change and tailor services to the individual. In addition, the agencies have a flexible open-door policy that allows youth to return for services as needed.



#### **Oakland Unite's decision to expand** age eligibility for this sub-strategy will allow agencies to support transitional

age youth (TAY), who have been an underserved group with different needs. TAY appear less likely to be in a moment of crisis and are perceived to be more ready to make a change in their lives when they come to services. However, they often are too old to receive needed supports and have different needs related to housing, employment, and child care than younger participants. The recently expanded age eligibility should enable agencies to better support these older youth.



Although the services offered by Oakland Unite agencies focus on short-term crisis response, many youth return for support over time. Almost half of participants

receive support over multiple service periods. Their engagement with services spikes every few weeks, with youth returning and receiving a higher intensity of services from time to time. These patterns suggest that some youth build a continuum of care by returning to the agencies as needed after their initial crisis has been addressed.



Figure E.2. CSE youth participants' weekly engagement and service hours received



CSE youth's unmet needs include mental health support; stable relationships with caring adults; and safe, stable housing. Oakland Unite agencies focus on helping

youth through crisis response and stabilization. However, the unmet needs that were identified may require longer-term care and relationship building, either through Oakland Unite or other partners.



## Despite strong collaboration within the sub-strategy, there is room for more cross-referrals as well as greater collaboration with other Oakland Unite strategies.

Although the sub-strategy is designed to meet different needs of CSE youth, only 13 percent of participants received services from more than one CSE youth intervention agency. A larger share received services from another Oakland Unite sub-strategy (21 percent), but most were minors from a single agency offering services in two strategies.



Although agencies serving CSE youth have a shared understanding of the population, the broader violence prevention community does not have a standard identification process. Despite various efforts to develop protocols and tools to help

youth-serving adults identify signs of CSE, the process of identifying and referring youth at risk of or experiencing CSE does not appear to be standardized in Oakland.



Multiple agencies and branches of government are tackling the issue of CSE in Alameda County, but a cohesive strategy is lacking. Various initiatives have

attempted to create a more coordinated system of addressing CSE youth, but the county has not yet achieved a cohesive strategy. Different informants indicated that stakeholders need to have better communication and collaboration.



- Continue to develop standards of practice for CSE youth intervention agencies
- Support agencies in collecting additional participant data that can be used for continuous improvement
- Continue to integrate CSE and other gender-based violence responses into broader violence prevention efforts
- Promote a shared understanding of CSE youth identification and response across the county through advocacy, protocols, training, and research
- Explore areas for future research, such as assessing the effectiveness of crisis response services and identifying factors that predict youth CSE

## I. INTRODUCTION

### Background

Oakland Unite administers and supports grants to agencies offering community-based violence prevention programs in Oakland, California. The Violence Prevention and Public Safety Act of 2004, also known as Measure Y, raised funds for community-based violence prevention programs and policing and fire safety personnel through a parcel tax on Oakland property and a parking tax assessment. In 2014, Oakland residents voted to extend these levies for 10 years through Measure Z, which now raises about \$27 million annually, to focus efforts on specific types of serious violence, including gun and gender-based violence. Measure Z funds violence prevention programs, police officers, fire services, and evaluation services. Roughly 40 percent of these funds are invested in community-based violence prevention programs through Oakland Unite, which is part of the City of Oakland (the City) Human Services Department.



Note: Oakland Unite prepares a new spending plan every two to three years. This figure reflects the strategies in the 2019–2020 plan, which changed the strategy structure and names from previous years.

As part of this citywide effort, Oakland Unite aims to interrupt and prevent violence by focusing on the youth and young adults in Oakland who are at highest risk of direct exposure to violence, violent victimization, and active involvement in violence. Figure I.1 illustrates the relationship between Oakland's neighborhood contexts, Oakland Unite strategies, and the outcomes Oakland Unite is designed to affect. Neighborhood context—including exposure to violence and access to quality education, affordable housing, and employment opportunities—affect the population served by Oakland Unite. The strategies thus focus on improving outcomes for those most disproportionately affected by these factors. Other parts of Measure Z, such as Ceasefire, Oakland Police Department (OPD) crime reduction teams, community resource officers, and emergency response through the Oakland Fire Department, are outside of the purview of Oakland Unite and this evaluation, but play important roles in the city's efforts to reduce violence.

During fiscal year 2019–2020, Oakland Unite is administering \$8,605,000 in 29 grants. Oakland Unite administers grants through a diverse set of strategies and sub-strategies to accomplish violence prevention and reduction. Every two to three years, Oakland Unite prepares a new spending plan based on community input and evaluation findings. Figure I.2 summarizes the four strategies (gun violence response, youth diversion and reentry, gender-based violence response, and community healing) and nine sub-strategies supported in the current period.



Figure I.2. Oakland Unite funding amounts for fiscal year 2019–2020

Source: Documents provided by Oakland Unite.

This most recent spending plan changed the structure and names of the strategies and substrategies. Previously, the strategies were life coaching, education and economic self-sufficiency, violent incident and crisis response, community asset building, and innovation. Detailed information about the services provided by Oakland Unite agencies in 2016–2018 is available in the 2016–2018 agency report (Eslami et al. 2019).

Under Measure Z, the City funds an independent evaluation of Oakland Unite. The four-year evaluation conducted by Mathematica includes three components: (1) annual evaluations that assess the implementation and effectiveness of a selection of Oakland Unite strategies, (2) annual snapshots that summarize the work of each Oakland Unite agency, and (3) a comprehensive evaluation that will study the impact of select Oakland Unite programs from 2016 to 2020. Table I.1 summarizes the main findings from the first two strategy-level evaluations. In this 2018–2019 strategy evaluation, we present an in-depth analysis of the implementation of the commercially sexually exploited youth (CSE youth) intervention sub-strategy and its role in the local policy context.<sup>1</sup> The report focuses on services provided from 2016 to 2018, described more fully in Chapter II.

Evaluation year	Sub-strategies evaluated	Summary of main findings
2016–2017	Adult life coaching and employment and education support (Gonzalez et al. 2017)	<ul> <li>Adult life coaching reduces short-term arrests for violent offenses in the 6 months after services but has limited impact on arrests for any offense.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Adult EESS decrease short-term arrests both for any offense and for a violent offense.</li> </ul>
2017–2018	Youth life coaching and employment and education support (EESS) ( <u>Gonzalez et al. 2019)</u>	<ul> <li>Youth life coaching reduces school dropout and short-term arrests for violence but has limited impact on 12-month arrest rates.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Youth EESS reduce school dropout but have limited impact on 12-month arrest rates.</li> </ul>

#### Data

To learn about how the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy was implemented, we collected and analyzed qualitative and quantitative information about agencies and participants. Qualitative data collection included site visits with semistructured interviews at each of the three agencies funded by this sub-strategy, interviews with key informants with expertise working with CSE youth, and a review of documents and materials provided by Oakland Unite and agency staff. In addition, we conducted a survey to gather information about Oakland Unite directly from a subset of participants. Finally, we collected multiple years of administrative data from various sources, as listed in Table II.1. Appendix A contains more detailed descriptions of each data source.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Until the 2019–2020 fiscal year, the sub-strategy was known as the commercially sexually exploited children (CSEC) intervention strategy.

#### Table I.2. Data sources

Data source	Description		
Agency visits with semistructured interviews	During visits to each agency conducted in winter 2017 and summer 2019, the evaluation team conducted semistructured interviews with agency staff members, including managers and line staff.		
Key informant interviews	In August 2019, the team conducted interviews with six key informants with backgrounds in policy and advocacy, law enforcement, community health, and coalition building.		
Review of documents and materials	The team reviewed materials provided by Oakland Unite staff as well as materials collected directly from agencies during the site visits, such as scopes of work, agency budgets, and intake forms.		
Participant survey	General topics of the participant survey included satisfaction with services, thoughts about the future, and experiences with violence. The team fielded surveys at each agency during September and October 2018, with 28 CSE youth intervention participants taking part.		
Administrative data	The team collected school enrollment, attendance, behavior, and academic data from the Oakland Unified School District and Alameda County Office of Education; information on arrests, convictions, and dispositions from the Alameda County Probation Department; information on arrest and victimization incidents from the Oakland Police Department; and service and participant information from Oakland Unite's Cityspan database.		

To link information on the same individual across the multiple sources of administrative data, we used identifying information, including first and last name, date of birth, gender, and address. Oakland Unite participants had to provide consent before their identifying information could be shared with evaluators, which 69 percent of participants in the CSE youth intervention consented to do.<sup>2</sup> Individuals who did not consent to share their personal information are included in descriptive statistics about services received but excluded from any analyses of victimization, arrests, probation, and schooling, which require linking participants to other administrative data.

We used a mix of qualitative and quantitative methods to assess the implementation of the substrategy, including reviewing materials provided by Oakland Unite, analyzing interview responses within and across agencies to highlight key themes, and summarizing participant survey and administrative data about services and participants.

#### Limitations

Although the data sources and methods used for this report provided rich information about the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy, our analysis has the following limitations:

• The evaluation does not assess the impact of services on youth outcomes. Although we have assessed the impact of services on participant outcomes in other strategy-level

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This consent rate is based on all participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2018. Consent rates varied across the three agencies as follows: Bay Area Women Against Rape (66 percent), DreamCatcher Youth Services (79 percent), and Motivating, Inspiring, Supporting and Serving Sexually Exploited Youth (73 percent).

evaluations, we determined in partnership with Oakland Unite that an impact evaluation of the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy was not appropriate for this report. The services funded by Oakland Unite to date have focused on short-term crisis response, with over half of participants receiving fewer than five hours of services. Thus, we did not have a clear hypothesis about the impact of participation on victimization, arrest, and schooling outcomes measurable in the available administrative data. In addition, limited baseline data were available to match participants to an appropriate comparison group. Without a comparison group of youth at similar risk of exploitation who did not receive services from Oakland Unite CSE agencies, we could not reliably determine whether any changes in outcomes resulted from participation in Oakland Unite. Rather than assess the effectiveness of services, this report evaluates the implementation of those services and analyzes the role of Oakland Unite's CSE youth intervention sub-strategy in the local policy context.

- The report excludes educational, criminal justice, and victimization data not reported in the available sources. The available education data only included public, noncharter schools in the Oakland Unified School District (OUSD) and Alameda County Office of Education (ACOE). Youth enrolled in other types of schools in Alameda County or beyond would be missing from these sources. Similarly, the report used criminal justice data reported by Alameda County Probation Department (ACPD) or OPD, which would not include incidents outside of these jurisdictions. Finally, victimization data only reflected incidents reported to OPD, which is subject to underreporting, and frequently lacked complete personally identifiable information needed to link to other records.
- Analyses of educational, criminal justice, and victimization data were limited to participants who consented to have their information matched to other data sources. Thirty-one percent of CSE youth intervention participants did not consent to share their identifiable information. Individuals who do not consent to participate in the evaluation may differ from those who do. For example, Oakland Unite data show that CSE youth who did not consent received fewer service hours, on average, than those who consented.
- The perspectives collected through surveys and interviews may not reflect the perspectives of all stakeholders. Participant surveys were conducted with a small sample of participants who happened to be present or were selected by the agency. In addition, participants (as well as the staff and key informants we interviewed) could have provided responses that they felt would reflect favorably upon themselves or their agencies. Finally, key informant interviews reflect the perspectives of a limited number of stakeholders.

#### Overview of the report

The rest of this report is organized as follows: in Chapter II, we present contextual information about the policy and evidence landscape in which Oakland Unite's CSE youth intervention substrategy operates. We describe the implementation findings for the sub-strategy in Chapter III. In Chapter IV, we conclude the report and suggest considerations and areas of research for the future. Appendix A has additional information on the CSE policy context and provides examples of related efforts and promising programs in other parts of the country. Appendix B has additional details about the evaluation's data collection and processing.

## II. POLICY AND EVIDENCE LANDSCAPE

In this chapter, we provide contextual information about the policy and evidence landscape in which Oakland Unite's CSE youth intervention sub-strategy operates. After providing an overview of the sub-strategy, we discuss what is known about CSE youth in Oakland and Alameda County, summarize the local policy context, and present best practices for supporting CSE youth. Additional information on relevant policies and initiatives and promising programs is available in Appendix A.

#### Overview of the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy

The CSE youth intervention sub-strategy offers funding for services that support youth at risk of or experiencing commercial sexual exploitation. In particular, it aims to help survivors meet their immediate needs for safety and to be connected to resources to aid them on their path to healing and stability. The sub-strategy funds outreach and crisis response, emergency housing, safe spaces, and wraparound supports. In addition, it funds training efforts to strengthen the capacity of the Oakland Unite network and local law enforcement agencies to identify and respond to CSE youth. Given its focus on victims of CSE, the sub-strategy primarily (though not exclusively) focuses on young women, girls, and people who identify as LGBTQI (lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning, or intersex). Referrals are intended to come from multiple sources, including OPD, Alameda County Juvenile Probation, the Alameda County District Attorney's Office (ACDAO), the Family Justice Center, Alameda County Girls' Court (ACGC)<sup>3</sup>, OUSD and Highland Hospital. Figure II.1 provides a summary of the three agencies in this sub-strategy.

Over the years, the sub-strategy has expanded its focus and level of investment. During the 2016–2017 fiscal year, Oakland Unite funded these three agencies for a combined grant amount of \$153,000. The following fiscal year, the combined amount grew to \$428,710. In 2019–2020, the three agencies received a combined total of \$750,000. In addition to reflecting a growing emphasis on gender-based violence by Oakland Unite, the increased funding level reflects Oakland Unite's decision to fund fewer grants overall for larger amounts and to support increases in indirect cost allowances and higher salaries for direct service staff.

The target population for the sub-strategy also expanded in the most recent grant period. Initially, the sub-strategy focused on children and youth age 18 and younger who were or had been sexually exploited. Figure II.2 presents the number of youth that received services in each calendar year covered in this report (2016 to 2018). Each year, a small share of youth 18 or older received services. As of July 2019, the priority population now includes children and young adults ages 12 to 25 who are at risk of exploitation or were or had been exploited.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Alameda County Girls' Court (ACGC) is no longer in operation.

#### Figure II.1. CSE youth intervention agencies



Source: Documents provided by Oakland Unite, agency websites, and interviews with agency staff.

who need immediate assistance.



#### Figure II.2. Number of participants served by the CSE youth intervention strategy, by year

■ Younger than 18 ■ Age 18 to 25 ■ Unknown age

Source: Cityspan.

Notes: Age is based on the date when the participant began receiving services.

Oakland Unite's approach to this sub-strategy is aligned to the California Department of Social Services CSEC Program guidelines, which state that commercial sexual exploitation should be understood as child abuse and therefore victims should not be criminalized (Child Welfare Council CSEC Action Team 2015). The state outlines a three-tiered response to support CSEC,

ranging from immediate crisis response in the first 72 hours, initial services provided within 10 to 14 days to address the youth's immediate safety needs, and ongoing support that involves case planning and coordination. The three programs funded by Oakland Unite—BAWAR, DreamCatcher, and MISSSEY—focus primarily on immediate crisis response and initial services and are intended to work together to serve youths' needs. BAWAR primarily offers immediate crisis response services, DreamCatcher offers emergency shelter and access to on-site medical and mental health support, and MISSSEY offers a drop-in center with group activities and access to case management.<sup>4</sup> All three agencies also refer youth to outside services.

## CSE youth in Oakland

Sexual exploitation of youth is prevalent in the Bay Area, which has been identified as a high intensity child prostitution area by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (Department of Justice, Office of the Inspector General, 2009). However, limited information exists on the current size of the CSE youth population in the region. Human Exploitation and Trafficking (HEAT) Watch, an initiative founded by ACDAO to combat human trafficking, reports that 851 minors identified as being at risk for or already involved in CSE were referred to case review meetings between January 2011 and December 2018—an average of 106 minors per year (HEAT Watch 2019). These numbers include, but are not limited to, youth who were involved in the juvenile justice system, social services, other government agencies, or community-based organizations. During this same period, an average of 220 individuals age 25 and younger were arrested in Alameda County for prostitution each year. Before the decriminalization of child sex trafficking victims in 2017, this number included an average of 40 minors each year (Figure II.3). In years past, local law enforcement estimated that approximately 100 children were sold for sex in Oakland on a given night (Grady 2010).

As part of the SafetyNet case review program, ACDAO has collected information about participating CSE youth's demographics and risk factors (HEAT Watch 2019). Among these youth, the vast majority were female (98 percent) and predominantly African American (64 percent) or Latino (15 percent). Their most common risk factors included having a juvenile arrest history (80 percent), prior victimization (72 percent), runaway history (66 percent), juvenile probation history (65 percent), history of drug use (53 percent), and chronic absenteeism from school (46 percent). Other risk factors included family criminal history and being or having been in the custody of social services.

A study by WestCoast Children's Clinic (WCCC) gathered rich information on the challenges faced by CSEC in Oakland and surrounding cities (Basson et al. 2012). The study's sample consisted of 113 girls and young women ages 10 to 24 who were clients of WCCC and partner agencies. In most cases, youth experienced the onset of exploitation by age 14. In addition to identifying demographics and risk factors similar to those described by HEAT Watch, the study found that 75 percent of the youth had experienced child abuse or neglect, including severe or repeated episodes; sexual abuse; emotional abuse; physical abuse; and family violence. Many of the youth also had unstable housing situations: 21 percent lived in a transient household (where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Intensive case management was supported by Oakland Unite's youth life coaching sub-strategy.

many family members, acquaintances, or others live for periods of time or come and go sporadically), and 48 percent experienced foster care placement disruptions. The study identified extensive mental health needs, including depression, anxiety, anger control, and attachment disorder in over half the sample. In addition, the majority of the youth did not understand that they were being exploited.

#### Local policy context

Since the federal Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act (TVPA) passed in 2000, California has increased efforts to support CSE youth. Most recently, California followed the lead of multiple other states by passing a safe harbor law, Senate Bill 1322, which took effect in 2017 and prohibits arrest of minors younger than 18 on prostitution, loitering, or solicitation charges. In 2016, 51 minors and 349 transitional age youth (TAY) were arrested for prostitution in Alameda County (Figure II.3). Following Senate Bill 1322, no more minors were arrested for prostitution in Alameda County. The number of TAY arrested for prostitution also decreased after 2016, down to 171 in 2018. The Human Rights Center suggests that although this change in the law represented a "significant paradigm shift" in how law enforcement and the public perceive the victimization of CSEC, police could potentially shift to arresting CSEC for other offenses (Alrabe and Stover 2018). However, the number of likely CSEC who were arrested in Alameda County for minor offenses also decreased after the law went into effect (Figure II.3).





Source: OPD and ACPD data.

Notes: Likely CSE minors in a given year are youth younger than 18 who ever had a reported victimization incident related to prostitution or human trafficking, or where ever arrested for a runaw ay or prostitution offense. Minor offenses include status, delinquent, and misdemeanor offenses.

Prior to Senate Bill 1322, local law enforcement partnered with BAWAR to provide immediate support during prostitution sting operations. Before its dissolution following the passage of Senate Bill 1322, the Alameda County Girls Court (ACGC), a gender-specific court at the Juvenile Justice Center, provided a dedicated judicial proceeding for girls who had been exploited or were at risk of exploitation, following victim-centered protocols. ACPD also partnered with MISSSEY and WCCC to counsel CSEC in juvenile hall and worked with BAWAR to administer a victim assessment.

Outside of the justice system, the Alameda County Department of Children and Families Services (ACDCFS) works with community providers and partners to identify victims of CSE and address their needs. ACDCFS operates the Alameda County Assessment Center, an unlocked facility where most children are taken when they are first removed from their homes due to abuse or neglect. Following Senate Bill 1322, law enforcement also take CSEC to the Assessment Center. Physical and mental health assessments are administered there, and advocates from MISSSEY are present to talk to youth, connect them to appropriate providers, and follow up as needed for up to 120 days (Walker 2013). MISSSEY advocates also train placement staff at the Assessment Center as well as foster parents and group home workers.

Within Alameda County, HEAT Watch has served as a hub for efforts to develop a coordinated response to supporting CSEC. In 2010, ACDAO worked with health care, law enforcement, and service providers to create HEAT Watch, a collaborative strategy for combating human trafficking (HEAT Watch 2019). In 2017, the Alameda County United Against Human Trafficking Advisory Council, or AC United, was formed as a collaborative project led by ACDAO and the Alameda County Social Services Agency to increase the services available for preventing and intervening in human trafficking, close gaps in critical services for victims, and enhance coordination of awareness and outreach efforts (HEAT Watch 2019). It is comprised of 83 partners, including county and city government agencies, law enforcement, hospitals, and community-based organizations. The manager of Oakland Unite serves as co-chair of AC United, along with the county's district attorney. BAWAR, DreamCatcher, and MISSSEY are also part of AC United.

### Best practices for supporting CSE youth

Based on related efforts in other regions, promising programs for CSE youth, and existing research, we identified a number of best practices for serving CSE youth. For detailed examples of related efforts and promising programs, see Appendix A.

• Develop a shared definition and validated method to identify CSE youth. Stakeholders should develop a common definition of CSE youth across social services, law enforcement, and care providers (Clawson and Grace 2007; Moynihan et al. 2018). Implementing routine screening practices may be more effective than identification strategies that rely on individual practitioners' intuition (and therefore, potential assumptions) about CSE youth. Agreeing on a validated assessment tool to identify CSE victims can be an important first step (Dierkhising et al. 2016). For instance, Simich et al. (2014) developed a screening and assessment tool to identify CSEC.

- Take a trauma-informed approach to services. The Child Welfare Council CSEC Action Team (2015) recommends that interventions and services be trauma-informed, victim-centered, strengths-based, and culturally sensitive. Core elements of trauma-informed care include safety, trustworthiness, collaboration, empowerment, choice, and cultural relevance. Providing on-going information to both staff and victims about trauma and responses to trauma can help build an understanding of behaviors, the impact of trauma on victims, and the secondary impact on staff (Downey 2019).
- Assess CSE youth's readiness for change and tailor services to their needs. There is some evidence that programs for CSE youth with theoretical underpinnings may be more effective (Moynihan et al. 2018; Thompson et al. 2011). An example is the Stages of Change model, which both Girls Educational and Mentoring Services (GEMS) and Acknowledge, Commit, Transform (ACT) use to identify where youth lie on the continuum and direct them to the services that best meet their needs. (In the Stages of Change model, individuals move in a cycle through pre-contemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, maintenance, relapse, and back to pre-contemplation.) Another theoretical model is the harm reduction model, which in the context of CSE youth focuses on meeting youth where they currently are in their lives. Harm reduction operationalizes the tenets of trauma-informed care with the recognition that trauma impacts a victim's ability to discern danger from safety (Downey 2019).
- Take a long-term, flexible approach to services. Both continuity of care and the provision of long-term services are essential in addressing the needs of CSE victims, who often relapse to exploitation many times before permanently leaving their exploiters (Basson et al. 2012; Child Welfare Council CSEC Action Team 2015). Providers must understand the dynamics of CSE youth, including the gradual process of change. However, many programs aim to reach a broader population of CSE youth and only have the resources to serve shorter-term needs, such as crisis support, basic food or clothing needs, and safety planning. To counter these limitations, it is important for service providers to maintain an open door policy for participants (Gibbs et al. 2015).
- **Provide a reliable, stable relationship with a caring adult.** Because of the transitory nature of many CSE victims and the instability they face, building reliable and stable relationships with caring adults is important to participants' development (Clawson and Grace 2007). As part of the My Life My Choice program, participants never lose access to their survivor mentors. GEMS also focuses on developing transformational relationships with participants using the Roca model, which incorporates motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioral therapy, as described in Table A.1.
- Employ providers with expertise in CSE or lived experience. Mentors with lived experience may be most effective in building relationships with youth (Thompson et al. 2011), as their experience helps staff build rapport with youth and overcome trust issues. Both GEMS and My Life My Choice hold survivor-based empowerment as a core tenet of their programming. Clawson and Grace (2007) also found that it was important that providers "live and breathe trafficking" and possess a deep understanding of what victims have experienced.

• Help youth rebuild family and community ties. Improved family relations are considered a protective factor that can help victims move away from exploitation. Connectedness to family is also associated with lowering risk behaviors, such as running away (Saewyc and Edinburgh 2010). In keeping with this, Basson et al. (2012) and Moynihan et al. (2018) both found that successful programs incorporate family members. For example, ACT uses culturally responsive family therapy to help reconnect victims with their natural support systems.

## **III. IMPLEMENTATION FINDINGS**

In this chapter, we present the results of qualitative and quantitative analyses examining the implementation of the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy based on multiple data sources, including site visits, staff interviews, key informant interviews, participant surveys, and administrative data.

#### Who are the agencies serving?

Agencies serve the intended population of girls and young women of color with a history of victimization and/or contact with law enforcement. Figure III.1 shows the gender and ethnicity of participants in the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy compared to youth identified as likely CSE youth according to arrest and victimization records. Both groups are comprised primarily of girls and young women of color, which suggests that agencies are serving the intended population.



## Figure III.1. Oakland Unite participant gender and ethnicity, compared to likely CSE youth in Alameda County

Sources: Cityspan, OPD, and ACPD.

Note: Likely CSEC are youth who ever had a reported victimization incident related to prostitution or human trafficking, or who were ever arrested for a runaway or prostitution offense. "Other race" includes Native American, multiethnic individuals, and other. Most of the Oakland Unite youth in this category were multiethnic.

When examining participants' histories of victimization reported to OPD, 38 percent of all participants had a reported violent incident (Figure III.2). This proportion includes 12 percent of participants who had repeated victimization, meaning three or more violent incidents (not shown). According to police records, the most common types of incidents were sexual assault and rape, battery, and human trafficking or kidnapping. TAY participants had even higher rates of reported violent victimization than minors (46 percent versus 36 percent). However, because victimization is frequently underreported to police and youth may have also experienced violence in other jurisdictions, these rates very likely underestimate the extent of victimization

among participants. In a survey of a small sample of participants (N = 28), 68 percent said that they had been victims of violence.





Participants also had histories of contact with law enforcement. Fifty-four percent of all participants had been arrested in Alameda County before starting services (Figure III.2), and one quarter had three or more arrests before starting services (not shown). Minors younger than 18 were more likely than TAY to have a prior arrest (56 percent versus 44 percent). The most common arrest incidents involved robbery, running away, battery, resisting an officer, vehicle theft, and prostitution. Rates of arrests for misdemeanor and felony offenses were similar overall, although TAY were less likely to have a felony arrest than minors. However, TAY were more likely to be on probation at the time of starting services.

Victimization often precedes youths' first arrest, but arrests are more likely to immediately precede the start of services than victimization incidents. The average age of participants' first reported victimization was 13, and almost one-third of participants were younger than 12 when they first had a victimization incident reported to OPD (Figure III.3). In contrast, the average age at participants' first arrest was 14, with more than half of participants being arrested for the first time between ages 15 and 17 (Figure III.3).

Sources: Cityspan, OPD, and ACPD.



#### Figure III.3. Oakland Unite participants' age at first victimization and arrest

Sources: Cityspan, OPD, and ACPD.

However, when we examined victimization and arrest incidents in the three months before participants went to Oakland Unite, we found that participants were more than four times as likely to have been arrested during this period than they were to have a reported victimization incident (Figure III.4). This finding is consistent with law enforcement being a primary referral for the sub-strategy, particularly before 2017. In addition, participants who were minors were four times more likely than TAY to be arrested in the three months before services and two times more likely than TAY to have been victims of violence during that period, suggesting that more minors come to services at a particularly high-risk moment in their lives.





Sources: Cityspan, OPD, and ACPD.

School-age participants exhibit high rates of disengagement from school before starting services. Among participants who began services before age 18, only 43 percent were enrolled in an OUSD or ACOE school during the preceding year (Figure III.5). Although this low enrollment rate likely reflects school mobility and dropout, some youth who were exploited in Oakland may have lived and been enrolled in school in surrounding jurisdictions, for which data were not available for this report. Among youth who were enrolled in an OUSD or ACOE school, chronic absence, discipline, and academic issues were relatively common: 57 percent of participants enrolled in school were chronically absent (defined as missing at least 10 percent of enrolled days for any reason), 24 percent had been suspended or expelled, and 51 percent had a grade point average below 2.0.



## Figure III.5. Oakland Unite school-age participants' engagement in school in the year prior to starting services

Sources: Cityspan, OUSD, and ACOE.

Note: Chronic absence is defined as missing at least 10 percent of enrolled days for any reason. GPA = grade point average.

Limited information is available on other participant risk factors. In interviews, agencies identified that LGBTQI youth appear to be rising among the participants they serve. According to data entered into Cityspan, the share of youth who identified as LGBTQI was relatively stable, ranging between 13 percent in 2016 and 14 percent in 2018. However, sexual orientation was not reported by 55 percent of participants. Staff at DreamCatcher further noted that the number of youth who self-identify as affiliated with a gang appears to have increased this year. (Agencies do not record gang affiliation, so this anecdotal information could not be confirmed.) Although agencies may assess various risk factors during intake, this information is not captured in Cityspan.

## How do agencies identify participants?

Agencies have a shared understanding of the CSE youth population, but do not use a standard identification process. Staff in the agencies have a shared perspective of CSE that is consistent with the California Department of Social Services CSEC Program guidelines, and bring their knowledge of common risk factors to the work. However, each agency relies on different identification tools and processes. Although there are assessment tools that attempt to standardize the identification process (such as WCCC's risk factor tool designed to assist local service providers in identifying youth at risk of CSE), Oakland Unite CSE intervention agencies may use less complex tools to identify risk factors, especially for light-touch services such as a drop-in center where a more comprehensive assessment may not be feasible. Several agency staff described using an approach they termed "meet them where they are." Upon first seeking services from an agency, the youth may not be ready to divulge the information necessary to comprehensively assess risk, and agency staff may have limited information from other sources that would enable them to determine risk for CSE. As the youth builds trust, they may share this information with agency staff.

Although staff are aware of common risk factors among CSE youth, the agencies serve differing levels and types of risk, and identification can depend in part on individual judgments made by staff. For example, DreamCatcher uses the WCCC risk factor tool and an intake form, but focuses on homelessness as the single most important risk factor of CSE. In contrast, because BAWAR has close relationships with ACPD and ACDAO, many of its participants are involved in the justice system and tend to exhibit the greatest rates of victimization, arrest, and school disengagement compared to participants in the other agencies. Identification is thus closely tied to the referral source, which also varies across agencies by design (Table III.1).

	BAWAR	DreamCatcher	MISSSEY
Another agency	3%	11%	5%
Justice system	59%	1%	24%
School	1%	9%	1%
Police	7%	0%	0%
Family or friend	1%	13%	22%
Hospital	9%	0%	0%
Outreach	0%	0%	5%
Self	2%	2%	10%
Social services	1%	1%	12%
Other referral source	5%	8%	12%
Missing referral information	11%	56%	10%
Number of participants	281	195	165

#### Table III.1. Oakland Unite participant referral sources, by agency

Source: Cityspan.

Note: Shading reflects the relative frequency of the referral sources within each agency. Other referral sources reported include the internet, group homes, and coordinators from other service agencies outside of Oakland Unite.

**Referral pathways have expanded from law enforcement to include multiple points of entry into services.** As Figure III.6 indicates, participants' contact with law enforcement prior to starting services decreased each year. Increasingly, staff reported that youth could arrive to their agencies through multiple channels. As one informant stated, there should be "no wrong door" for entry into a CSE program, and youth in need should be able to be identified and referred wherever they may encounter someone who can advocate for them. Although it is a best practice to have multiple referral pathways through which youth can be connected to services, processes currently vary depending on the referral source and agency, and sometimes depend on individual relationships. For example, staff said that word of mouth is now a major referral source for MISSSEY and DreamCatcher. Other examples of relationship-based referrals include referrals from specific school staff who happen to be aware of an agency's services and suspect a youth to be at risk of CSE.





Sources: Cityspan, OPD, and ACPD.

The broadening set of referral pathways may be partly attributable to decriminalization, when Senate Bill 1322 took effect. The law was widely seen as a positive step for minor victims of sexual exploitation. However, it also reduced the ability of law enforcement to help a minor connect with the agencies that could help them separate from their exploiter, and created the need to refer at-risk youth to services in other ways. Previously, an arrest would have led to the youth being held in custody. The youth may then have entered the juvenile justice system, through which referrals could be made to supportive services, such as an Oakland Unite agency equipped to address CSE needs. Now law enforcement may bring youth to the county's Assessment Center, an unlocked facility where minors can stay temporarily while appropriate referrals and placements are arranged. Although both WCCC and MISSSEY are represented at the Assessment Center, the center serves vulnerable children between birth and age 18 and is not tailored to address CSE-specific needs.

#### What services do participants receive?

Length of services differs across agencies according to their models, with half of all participants receiving fewer than 5 hours of services. As described in Chapter II, Oakland Unite's investment in the CSE youth intervention strategy has centered on short-term crisis intervention and stabilization services. On average, participants received a total of 17 hours of services, but this total ranged from an average of 5 hours at BAWAR, 18 hours at DreamCatcher, and 35 hours at MISSSEY, consistent with their different models. As noted earlier, each agency offered distinct, complementary services: BAWAR provided intensive outreach focused on crisis intervention, DreamCatcher provided emergency housing and stabilization services (including case management and group mental health, peer support, and social activities), and MISSSEY offered a drop-in center where youth could receive case management, peer support, and counseling. Furthermore, these averages mask the fact that a number of participants received services for a very limited time: 50 percent received less than 5 hours of services, and 19 percent received less than 1 hour over the length of their participation (Figure III.7). Conversely, approximately 10 percent of participants received more than 50 hours of support.



Figure III.7. Oakland Unite participants' total service hours received

Source: Cityspan.

Note: Although MISSSEY also offered services through the youth life coaching sub-strategy, this figure only includes service hours that were recorded under the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy.

Although services focus on short-term crisis response, a subset of participants remains engaged with agencies over time, with engagement spiking every few weeks. Figure III.8 shows the percentage of participants who received services across the weeks following their initial contact with an Oakland Unite agency (solid line). About 30 percent of participants returned for services a second week, consistent with the short-term nature of crisis response. Although engagement

#### Oakland Unite 2018–2019 Strategy Evaluation

generally decreased over time, spikes in engagement appeared every few weeks, with more youth coming back for services than leaving every two to four weeks. A pattern of engagement spiking every few weeks is also apparent in the number of weekly service hours received among the subset of youth who came back for services (dotted line). On average, during periods of low engagement participants received 1 to 2 hours of services per week, whereas during periods of high engagement they received 3 to 5 hours of services per week. These patterns suggest that participants feel comfortable returning to agencies for support after their initial crisis has been addressed, and are consistent with agencies maintaining an open-door policy.





Source: Cityspan.

Almost half of participants receive support over multiple service periods. Another way to examine participant engagement over time is to measure the number of distinct periods during which youth received services. Defining a service period as a time interval in which no more than a month elapsed between service contacts indicates that 46 percent of participants received support over multiple service periods (Figure III.9). MISSSEY participants were most likely to return for services across multiple service periods, which is consistent with the drop-in nature of their services. However, across all agencies there are a subset of youth who return for services multiple times. Typically, approximately 7 weeks pass between service periods, with each service period lasting about 1 week. As noted earlier, these patterns suggest that a number of participants are able to return for short-term support when they need it, even if it is weeks after their initial contact with the agency.





Source: Cityspan.

Note: A service period is defined as a time interval in which no more than a month passes between service contacts.

Agencies offer a safe, welcoming space for youth, but participants' sense of safety can be affected by external factors. Drop-in facilities provide a first step for agencies to develop relationships with CSE youth. Because CSE youth are coming to the agencies through various pathways, including word of mouth or self-referral, agencies need to be able to provide a welcoming place that encourages youth to return. The facilities at MISSSEY and DreamCatcher aim to provide a homelike environment to encourage continued interaction with youth who enter their drop-in or wellness centers. By helping to meet basic needs, such as offering a washer and dryer participants can use, meals, or bus passes, the facilities encourage the process of building trust with youth. This trust, in turn, is intended to lead the youth to return and become more involved with a community or open up to staff to determine what other referrals or resources from which they could benefit.

According to staff, it is critical that their facilities be perceived as safe and free from threats. This goal was consistent with participants' views on the survey: 66 percent said that it was very important or somewhat important that the agency location is safe and convenient. For some participants, this can mean that the location has no apparent affiliation with law enforcement. Staff at BAWAR specifically noted that being located in the Family Justice Center hinders their ability to serve youth. Because ACPD is in the same building, youth who are on probation are reluctant to go to their facility. As a result, advocates sometimes meet with youth in public places outside the center, which is less secure for both the advocate and the youth. Perceptions of safety may also depend on whether the facilities are located in a neutral location, away from street violence. A staff member at DreamCatcher noted that a recent increase in gang-affiliated youth affects whether they feel comfortable seeking services from the agency. According to the staff interviewed, the cul-de-sac where DreamCatcher and MISSSEY are located was considered neutral territory, but may now fall in a gang territory.

**Youth often dictate whether agencies try to engage their families in services.** Although staff acknowledged that accessing family support systems could help increase successful transitions for youth, some noted that this can be challenging as family members may be abusive, involved in the youth's exploitation, or otherwise not a positive influence in youths' lives. As a result, it is not standard practice across the sub-strategy to involve families in service provision, and staff often rely on youth to dictate the degree of family involvement. An exception is DreamCatcher, which attempts to facilitate family mediation and make referrals to family therapy as part of its efforts to help youth find a permanent home.

### What are the needs of participants?

Appropriate mental health services are an unmet need for many CSE youth. Appropriate options are limited for participants who are in need of therapy. At DreamCatcher, mental health graduate student interns are available on a limited basis to meet with participants. While WCCC is a primary resource for CSE youth served by Oakland Unite with mental health needs, not all participants are eligible to receive care from the organization. Outside of these agencies, respondents noted that most mental health services operate under the assumption that trauma has ended, whereas CSE youth may still be experiencing intermittent trauma while receiving therapy. In addition, respondents said that by the time a trusting relationship has developed between the youth and provider, the youth may have reached the limit on services he or she can receive. In addition, a long-term care plan is often needed to help CSE youth recover from their trauma and move past their exploitation.

**Staff burnout makes it difficult to provide the stable relationships that many youth need.** Staff at the agencies sometimes fill the role of a stable, caring adult in a youth's life. As such, they become the de facto support for addressing participants' trauma and other needs. As initially proposed, BAWAR intended to work with participants as long as they were in crisis and needed services. However, staff reported that high levels of staff burnout and turnover led to instituting a limit on the number of sessions between the participant and advocate, after which the participant's case is reevaluated to determine the best next steps. Direct service staff at DreamCatcher also indicated that staff need to care for themselves amidst the trauma and

challenges they encounter with the youth they serve and are not always able to provide the ongoing relationship with a caring adult that some youth need.

**Housing continues to be a major need for CSE youth.** Lack of housing was frequently cited as a challenge facing CSE youth. This information is consistent with participant survey responses, where only 39 percent of respondents said it was very likely that they would have a safe place to live one year into the future—by far the lowest among all Oakland Unite sub-strategies. Even with the opening of Claire's House<sup>5</sup> and Nika's Place to specifically serve CSE youth, informants expressed that demand exceeds supply. In addition, these two facilities focus on minors, and are thus not an option for exploited TAY.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Claire's House is a short-term residential therapeutic program operated by Catholic Charities that serves CSEC ages 12 to 17.

The sub-strategy's expanded age eligibility will allow agencies to support TAY, who have been an underserved group with different needs. Informants suggested that fewer services are available for TAY even though they tend be further along the Stages of Change continuum than younger participants. As noted in Chapter II, Oakland Unite recently expanded eligibility to include TAY, which will allow older CSE youth to receive support from the agencies. Informants noted that services will need to take into account the different needs of TAY compared to younger participants. Agency staff observed that TAY may need less intensive outreach than younger participants, as TAY are more likely to be ready to make a change. As another example, MISSSEY staff noted that their trauma-informed curriculum resonates more with CSEC than with older youth.

TAY also experience different challenges. For example, while younger children can be placed back into the home of a family member, ideally, or be eligible for other types of housing through foster care or Claire's House and Nika's Place, these are not options for TAY. In addition to housing, many TAY are also seeking jobs and child care. As part of a growing recognition of the needs of CSE TAY, a pilot project is underway outside of Oakland Unite between WCCC and MISSSEY to assist trafficked TAY with health care, housing, and employment opportunities.

# How do agencies collaborate with other partners within and outside of Oakland Unite?

Agencies say they have benefitted from collaboration and cross-agency referrals within Oakland Unite. Staff across the agencies noted that Oakland Unite has fostered connections between them and cited each other as referral sources and partners in supporting CSE youth. One informant noted that the connections have also helped staff feel more supported, as working with the unique needs of this population can be isolating. A staff member at DreamCatcher also pointed out that Oakland Unite was a valuable resource when their agency experienced an uptick in the number of gang-affiliated youth seeking services. Through Oakland Unite, DreamCatcher was able to connect with a knowledgeable resource about gang dynamics in Oakland and with others working in that field.

However, there is room for more cross-agency referrals across the Oakland Unite network. Although the sub-strategy is designed to meet different needs of CSE youth, only 13 percent of participants received services from more than one CSE youth intervention agency as part of Oakland Unite (not shown). The greatest number of shared participants was between BAWAR and MISSSEY (Table III.2). One informant suggested that the shared goals and target populations of BAWAR and MISSSEY create an opportunity for closer collaboration that would be further facilitated by being in the same physical space. Staff at MISSSEY relayed that participants want a one-stop shop where they can access multiple services, and having a safe, private place to meet with youth is a key part of BAWAR's service model.

	Percentage of participants who also receive services from:				
	BAWAR	DreamCatcher	MISSSEY	Other Oakland Unite sub-strategies	
BAWAR	-	3%	20%	27%	
<b>Dream Catcher</b>	5%	-	12%	11%	
MISSSEY	29%	12%	-	51%	

#### Table III.2. CSE youth participation in multiple Oakland Unite agencies and sub-strategies

Source: Cityspan.

Note: MISSSEY includes participants in the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy only. Shading reflects the relative frequency of participant sharing overall.

A larger share of participants (21 percent) received services from another Oakland Unite substrategy (not shown). Most of these youth received life coaching from MISSSEY, which until 2019 was funded by Oakland Unite under the youth life coaching sub-strategy. (Starting in fiscal year 2019–2020, another agency—Young Women's Freedom Center—will offer life coaching to CSE youth leaving the Transition Center of the Juvenile Justice Center). Although Oakland Unite offers services to young adults, including life coaching and employment and education support, TAY were four times less likely than minors to receive services from another Oakland Unite sub-strategy. One informant noted that it can be challenging to build strategic partnerships with agencies outside of the CSE strategy because those agencies are not equipped to address the needs of CSE youth.

Informants provided mixed feedback regarding collaboration with law enforcement. One

informant said that recent efforts have resulted in improvements in how law enforcement is viewed as potential collaborators working to support CSE youth. BAWAR works closely with OPD, and the two have trained each other's staff. BAWAR has taught staff at the police academy to recognize the signs of CSE, to see a referral to BAWAR as a first response to helping youth connect with necessary services, and to understand how other agencies collaborate to serve CSE youth. However, another informant noted the effectiveness of law enforcement training depends on "what they're willing to learn about how to better support youth." Similarly, another informant noted that working with ACDAO can be "hit-or-miss." As noted earlier, the passage of Senate Bill 1322 may have reduced the ability of law enforcement to help a minor separate from their exploiter and created a gap in law enforcement objectives related to CSEC. Finally, recent scandals within OPD have eroded trust in the organization.<sup>6</sup>

**Informants see an opportunity to develop a closer partnership with schools, beyond just accepting referrals.** OUSD school staff may receive training from MISSSEY or WCCC, and some school staff are consistent sources of referrals. However, implementation of the district's response protocol may be applied unevenly across schools. One informant pointed out that, given teachers' many responsibilities, training of other types of staff at schools would be beneficial to the identification and support of CSE youth so that the burden does not fall solely on teachers. In addition, multiple staff from agencies told stories that reveal the lack of a universally shared

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For more information, see: <u>https://slate.com/news-and-politics/2016/06/the-oakland-police-department-scandal-explained.html</u>

perspective on the best way for schools to support CSE youth. In one example, agency staff described a scenario in which a CSE student returned to school, which was a positive step. However, a teacher called the student's probation officer for an apparent probation violation, which resulted in the youth being arrested again while at school. Staff said that returning to custody undoes the progress youth have been making outside of the justice system.

# What role does Oakland Unite play in broader efforts to support CSE youth in Oakland?

**CSE youth intervention agencies benefit from the technical assistance Oakland Unite provides.** Technical assistance needs identified by respondents outside of the agencies included improving organizational infrastructure, obtaining additional grant funding, and tracking outcomes beyond the number of youth served. Oakland Unite has partnered with Bright Research Group to offer technical assistance to all agencies in the network, and has developed a learning agenda with topics such as healing modalities for survivors of gender-based violence.

With Oakland Unite's expansion of the gender-based violence strategy, there are opportunities to further integrate CSE youth intervention into broader violence prevention efforts. Multiple informants noted that increased collaboration could take place with other efforts by Oakland Unite to prevent and interrupt violence, as the communities affected by gun violence (which have historically been the focus of violence prevention efforts) are also impacted by gender-based violence. However, while CSE-focused agencies view exploited youth as victims, several informants noted that organizations that do not focus on CSE may not share this perspective. Untrained providers may thus blame the youth for making bad choices and not know how to best support them. Informants also noted that the same individual who participates in interventions to prevent gun violence may also be involved in trafficking or abusing CSE youth. From their perspective, interrupting CSE means that violence prevention efforts also need to address the role of buyers and sellers and provide education and alternatives for these individuals. Oakland Unite's expansion of the gender-based violence strategy acknowledges these dynamics and offers opportunities for further integration.

**Institutions and stakeholders across Alameda County have different views of CSE youth and how they should be treated.** Outside of Oakland Unite, institutions that come in contact with CSE youth, such as law enforcement agencies, the juvenile justice system, schools, the child welfare system, healthcare providers, and communities affected by CSE may also lack a shared perspective on the issue. One informant in particular noted that, beyond Oakland, other police jurisdictions in the county need to be in agreement with how youth are identified and treated. Informants believe that if everyone viewed CSE youth as victims entitled to certain protections, this framing of the issue could help destigmatize CSE for those youth who need help and promote a shared approach to supporting them. Developing a shared understanding of CSE across these key institutions and stakeholders has the potential to shift the conversation away from blame and toward rehabilitation.

Multiple agencies and branches of government are tackling the issue of CSE in Alameda County, but a cohesive strategy is lacking. For years, Oakland and Alameda County have been at the

forefront of efforts to tackle CSE and support victims. However, different informants indicated that service providers, law enforcement, the juvenile justice system, child welfare system, schools, health care settings and the people in the communities where CSE is taking place need to have better communication and collaboration. In addition, several informants noted that because many of the systems that CSE youth encounter are not Oakland-specific, addressing the issue of CSE youth needs to involve government agencies and stakeholders throughout Alameda County. In recognition of the need for increased collaboration across the county, initiatives borne out of ACDAO and Alameda County Social Services have attempted to create a more coordinated system of addressing CSE needs.

With co-chairs from ACDAO and Oakland Unite, AC United was borne out of a state-wide assessment that indicated that a council serving these functions was a best practice to combat CSE. However, according to informants, this effort has not yet fulfilled its purpose. Informants recommended that the council needs representation and commitment from key stakeholders in the community, and strong leadership to keep a large and diverse group of members focused on core objectives. Maintaining a consistent, ongoing schedule of meetings is also important.

One informant also noted the importance of having representation from the City of Oakland in discussions with the child welfare-led steering committee that is working to address the issue of CSE countywide. This committee provides a response protocol for CSE youth, as many are eligible for social services. The informant expressed the view that City government should be involved in the development and implementation of the plan, especially due to the need for coordination between law enforcement (at the city level) and child welfare (at the county level).

## **IV. CONCLUSION**

In this report, we describe the implementation of Oakland Unite's CSE youth intervention substrategy. In summary, we offer the following key findings:

Agencies serve the intended population of girls and young women of color with a history of victimization, contact with law enforcement, and school disengagement. The profile of participants was consistent with other research on CSE youth, suggesting that agencies are serving the intended population. Participants' first reported victimization frequently preceded their first arrest and occurred by age 14, yet youth were more likely to come to services after an arrest than after a victimization incident.

Agencies are following many best practices in their work. Although Oakland Unite is still developing shared standards of practice, the CSE youth intervention agencies are already implementing many best practices. For example, all agencies have a shared understanding of the CSE youth population, which is grounded in the expertise and lived experience of providers. Staff commonly referred to the Stages of Change model as a way to understand participants' readiness for change and described using an approach they termed "meet them where they are," which is consistent with harm reduction. In addition, the agencies have a flexible open-door policy that allows youth to return for services as needed.

Although the services offered by Oakland Unite agencies focus on short-term crisis response, many youth return for support over time. Almost half of participants receive support over multiple service periods. Participants' engagement with services spikes every few weeks, with participants returning and receiving a higher intensity of services from time to time. These patterns suggest that a subset of youth build a continuum of care by returning to the agencies as needed after their initial crisis has been addressed.

The sub-strategy's expanded age eligibility will allow agencies support TAY, who have been an underserved group with different needs. TAY appear less likely to be in a moment of crisis when they come to services and are perceived to be further along in the Stages of Change continuum. Despite exhibiting greater readiness to make a change in their lives, however, they often are too old to receive needed support services. In addition, they tend to have different needs related to housing, employment, and child care than younger participants. Oakland Unite's decision to expand CSE services to TAY should offer opportunities to serve these older youth.

**CSE youth's unmet needs include mental health support; stable relationships with caring adults; and safe, stable housing.** Oakland Unite agencies focus on helping youth through crisis response and stabilization, which are the first two tiers of the California Department of Social Services' recommended three-tiered response to support CSEC. However, the last tier—ongoing support—may not be addressed. The unmet needs that were identified may require longer-term care and relationship building, either through Oakland Unite or other partners.

Despite strong collaboration within the sub-strategy, there is room for more cross-referrals as well as greater collaboration with other Oakland Unite strategies. Although the sub-

strategy is designed to meet different needs of CSE youth, only 13 percent of participants received services from more than one CSE youth intervention agency. A larger share received services from another Oakland Unite sub-strategy (21 percent), but most were minors who participated in life coaching at MISSSEY. In addition to expanding cross-referrals, there may be other opportunities to increase collaboration between the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy and other efforts by Oakland Unite to prevent and interrupt violence, given that both are interrelated. However, this collaboration may require first developing a shared understanding of CSE youth across the network.

Although agencies serving CSE youth have a shared understanding of the population, the broader violence prevention community does not have a standard identification process. Despite efforts from HEAT Watch, WCCC, and other agencies to develop protocols and tools to help youth-serving adults identify signs of CSE, the process of identifying and referring youth at risk of or experiencing CSE does not appear to be standardized in Oakland. As referrals broaden beyond law enforcement, it may become even more important for Oakland Unite agencies across all strategies to have shared identification criteria.

Multiple agencies and branches of government are tackling the issue of CSE in Alameda County, but a cohesive strategy is lacking. Although initiatives borne out of ACDAO and Alameda County Social Services have attempted to create a more coordinated system of addressing CSE youth needs, the county has not yet achieved a cohesive strategy for identifying and serving CSE youth. Different informants indicated that stakeholders need to have better communication and collaboration.

#### Considerations for the future

Based on these findings, we offer some considerations for Oakland Unite to continue to improve program services:

**Continue to develop standards of practice for CSE youth intervention agencies.** Although each agency provides different services, shared standards of practice, including a standardized identification tool, could help ensure they each consistently draw from evidence-based practices in providing support to CSE youth. This could include using the Stages of Change model not only to identify where youth lie on the continuum but also to develop a response plan for youth who exhibit different levels of readiness for change, as GEMS and ACT do. Approaches could also include elements from harm reduction and motivational interviewing. Oakland Unite is already working with Bright Research Group to develop standards of practice and a training plan for the network that covers many of these topics.

**Support agencies in collecting additional participant data that can be used for continuous improvement.** Currently, limited information is collected systematically on the needs and outcomes of participants. Agencies could begin collecting data on risk factors and meaningful short-term outcomes, such as changes in self-reported attitudes and social-emotional skills or achievement of participant goals related to housing and other needs. Collecting data when

participants first begin services and throughout their engagement with the agencies could help them assess their effectiveness to better serve youth.

**Continue to integrate CSE and other gender-based violence responses into broader violence prevention efforts.** Oakland Unite could foster stronger connections between CSE-focused agencies and Oakland Unite agencies focused on other types of community violence. This work has already begun with the development of an expanded gender-based violence strategy in fiscal year 2019–2020 and the identification of training needs across the network with Bright Research Group. A next step toward fostering these stronger connections could be to define, across strategies, what CSE is, how to identify CSE youth, and how to respond appropriately to those involved on all sides of exploitation. These efforts could also include encouraging more cross-referrals with Oakland Unite life coaching and EESS, particularly for serving TAY needs.

**Promote a shared understanding of CSE youth identification and response across the county through advocacy, protocols, training, and research.** Beyond Oakland Unite, creating an infrastructure where there is "no wrong door" means that all stakeholders who come in contact with youth need to be able to identify those at risk and connect them with appropriate services. Taking an active role in AC United is one way for Oakland Unite to promote a consistent understanding of the problem and a cohesive strategy to combat CSE.

In Los Angeles and Multnomah Counties, developing a single response protocol and training a large number of staff have been core to the response model. Both counties also emphasized working closely with child welfare, schools, and hospitals, in addition to law enforcement, to create formal referral structures. Multnomah County in particular has worked to ensure that both minors and TAY have access to a full continuum of care and housing. Although Oakland Unite has focused on short-term responses, there may be opportunities to raise awareness, as well as additional funds, for longer-term needs under the new Department of Violence Prevention.

Finally, part of developing a shared understanding of CSE youth could involve promoting more data sharing and research. Currently, data on CSE youth are collected by various stakeholders, including Oakland Unite, ACDAO's SafetyNet, OUSD, and the Assessment Center. However, there has been little linking and analysis of these data to date, even though they could assist in assessing the scope of youth CSE in the area as well as identifying predictive factors. As data sharing requires legal and technical capacity to develop agreements, processes, and analyses, it could be helpful to identify an overseeing agency for this effort, such as the HEAT Institute, the new Department of Violence Prevention, or the Alameda County Public Health Department, which already has a data and research team.

#### Areas for future research

We see several areas for additional research and analysis that could support Oakland Unite in understanding and improving program effectiveness in the coming years. Although relatively limited rigorous research exists overall on services for CSE youth, this is especially true for short-term crisis intervention and stabilization services compared to more intensive programs. To assess the effectiveness of these services, we recommend identifying and collecting relevant outcomes that are expected to change among participants in the short run, including self-reported attitudes, feelings of safety, and plans for the future. We also recommend assessing implementation fidelity once shared standards of practice have been developed. Implementation fidelity is an important complement to effectiveness research, as it helps programs identify what is being evaluated and interpret the results. A different vein of research that could take advantage of existing administrative data would be to conduct predictive analytics to identify the factors that predict CSE among local youth and thus inform responses before youth come into contact with law enforcement.

## REFERENCES

- Ackerman-Brimberg, Mae, Kate Walker Brown, and Allison Newcombe. "Los Angeles Law Enforcement First Responder Protocol for Commercially Sexually Exploited Children What We've Learned: A Four Year Look." Los Angeles, CA: National Center for Youth Law and Los Angeles County Probation Department, 2018.
- Alrabe, Khaled, and Eric Stover. "Lifelines: Supporting Human Trafficking Survivors in the San Francisco Bay Area." Berkeley, CA: Human Rights Center and International Human Rights Law Clinic, 2018.
- Basson, Danna, Erin Rosenblatt, and Hannah Haley. "Research to Action: Sexually Exploited Minors (SEM) Needs and Strengths." Oakland, CA: WestCoast Children's Clinic, 2012.
- Child Welfare Council CSEC Action Team. "Improving California's Multi-System Response to Commercially Sexually Exploited Children: Resources for Counties." Child Welfare Council CSEC Action Team, 2015.
- Clawson, Heather J., and Lisa Goldblatt Grace. "Finding a Path to Recovery: Residential Facilities for Minor Victims of Domestic Sex Trafficking." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, 2007. Available at <u>https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1009&context=humtraffdata</u>. Accessed September 20, 2019.
- Commercial and Sexual Exploitation (CSEC) Steering Committee. "Multnomah County: Community Response to Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children (CSEC)." CSEC Progress Report: January 2012. Multnomah County, OR: CSEC Steering Committee, 2012.
- Dierkhising, Carly B., Kate Walker Brown, Mae Ackerman-Brimberg, and Allison Newcombe. "Commercially Sexually Exploited Girls and Young Women Involved in Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice in Los Angeles County: An Exploration and Evaluation of Placement Experiences and Services Received." Los Angeles, CA: National Center for Youth Law, 2018.
- Downey, Briana. "Human Trafficking Services Through a Trauma-Informed Lens: Applications for the Child Welfare Context." 2019. Available at <u>https://mackcenter.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/human\_trafficking\_services\_through\_a\_trauma-informed\_lens.pdf</u>. Accessed September 20, 2019.
- DuBois, David L., and Jennifer K. Felner. "Mentoring for Youth with Backgrounds of Involvement in Commercial Sex Activity." National Mentoring Resource Center Population Review, January 2016.
- Eslami, Esa, Johanna Lacoe, Naihobe Gonzalez, Sarah Crissey, Charles Tilley, and Natalie Larkin. "2016–2018 Oakland Unite Agency Report." Oakland, CA: Mathematica, 2019.

- Gibbs, Deborah A., Jennifer L. Hardison Walters, Alexandra Lutnick, Shari Miller, and Marianne Kluckman. "Services to Domestic Minor Victims of Sex Trafficking: Opportunities for Engagement and Support." *Children and Youth Services Review*, vol. 54, 2015, pp. 1–7.
- Girls Education and Mentoring Service (GEMS). "What We Do." 2019. Available at <u>https://www.gems-girls.org/what-we-do</u>. Accessed September 20, 2019.
- Gonzalez, Naihobe, Johanna Lacoe, Ebo Dawson-Andoh, Armando Yañez, Natasha Nicolai, and Sarah Crissey. "Final Report: Evaluation of Oakland Unite: Year 1 Strategy Report." Oakland, CA: Mathematica Policy Research, November 16, 2017.
- Gonzalez, Naihobe, Johanna Lacoe, Armando Yañez, Alicia Demers, Sarah Crissey, and Natalie Larkin. "Oakland Unite 2017–2018 Strategy Evaluation: Life Coaching and Employment and Education Support for Youth at Risk of Violence." Oakland, CA: Mathematica, July 11, 2019.
- Grady, Barbara. "Youth Trafficking in Oakland: Big Business Despite Government, Police Efforts (Series Part 1)." *Oakland Local*, May 5, 2010.
- HEAT Watch. "HEAT Watch Toolkit." Oakland, CA: HEAT Watch, 2019. Available at <a href="http://toolkit.heatwatch.org/files/Toolkit Exec\_Summary\_compressed.pdf">http://toolkit.heatwatch.org/files/Toolkit Exec\_Summary\_compressed.pdf</a>. Accessed September 20, 2019.
- Krieger, Kathleen, Rose Feinberg, Merissa Gremminger, Jennifer Hardison Walters, and Shilpi Misra. "Evaluation of Domestic Victims of Human Trafficking Demonstration Projects: Service Models of the Second Cohort of Projects." Washington, DC: Administration for Children and Families, Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, 2018.
- Lenz, A. Stephen, Rachel Henesy, and Karisse Callender. "Effectiveness of Seeking Safety for Co-Occurring Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Substance Use." *Journal of Counseling and Development*, vol. 94, no.1, 2016, pp. 51–61.
- Moynihan, Melissa, Claire Pitcher, and Elizabeth Saewyc. "Interventions That Foster Healing Among Sexually Exploited Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review." *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, vol. 27, no.4, 2018, pp. 403–423.
- My Life My Choice. "Survivor Mentoring." Boston: My Life My Choice, 2018. Available at https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5c9a6c6a12b2be00012725d9/t/5cb4895beb39315a7cf 5aa9a/1555335516403/171011\_MLMC\_Survivor\_OnePager\_Vista\_bleeds.pdf. Accessed September 20, 2019.
- Najavits, Lisa M., Robert J. Gallop, and Roger D. Weiss. "Seeking Safety Therapy for Adolescent Girls with PTSD and Substance Abuse Disorder: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *Journal of Behavioral Health Services and Research*, vol. 33, no. 4, 2006, pp. 453– 463.
- Nedeau, Sarah, Natalie Weaver, and Sarah Ohlsen. "Collaborative Crisis Response for Commercially Sexually Exploited Youth and Young Adults." Multnomah County, OR: Commercial and Sexual Exploitation Steering Committee, 2017.
- Office of Supervisor Hilda L. Solis. "LA County to Expand Housing Options for Sexually-Exploited Children." July 9, 2019. Available at <u>https://hildalsolis.org/la-county-to-expand-housing-options-for-sexually-exploited-children/</u>. Accessed September 20, 2019.
- Ohlsen, Sarah. "Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children: A Status Report for Our Jurisdiction." Multnomah County, OR: Commercial and Sexual Exploitation Steering Committee, 2015.
- Plaza, Kristy. "How LA County Began to Face Its Big Problem with Youth Being Sex-Trafficked." Juvenile Justice Information Exchange, May 29, 2017. Available at <u>https://jjie.org/2017/05/29/how-la-county-began-to-face-its-big-problem-with-sex-</u> trafficked-kids/. Accessed September 20, 2019.
- Prochaska, James O., and Carlo C. DiClemente. "Stages and Processes of Self-Change of Smoking: Toward an Integrative Model of Change." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, vol. 51, no. 3, 1983, pp. 390–395.
- Saewyc, Elizabeth M., and Laurel D. Edinburgh. "Restoring Healthy Developmental Trajectories for Sexually Exploited Young Runaway Girls: Fostering Protective Factors and Reducing Risk Behaviors." *Journal of Adolescent Health*, vol. 46, no. 2, 2010, pp. 180–188.
- Simich, Laura, Lucia Goyen, Andrew Powell, and Karen Mallozzi. "Improving Human Trafficking Victim Identification—Validation and Dissemination of a Screening Tool." Brooklyn, NY: Vera Institute of Justice, 2014.
- Thomson, Susan, David Hirshberg, Amy Corbett, Nikki Valila, and Denise Howley. "Residential Treatment for Sexually Exploited Adolescent Girls: Acknowledge, Commit, Transform (ACT)." *Children and Youth Services Review*, vol. 33, no. 11, 2011, pp. 2290–2296.
- Walker, Kate. "Ending the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children: A Call for Multi-System Collaboration in California." Sacramento, CA: California Child Welfare Council, 2013.

# Appendix A:

# Additional information on CSE policy and programs

In Appendix A, we offer additional detailed information on the CSE policy context and provide examples of related efforts and promising programs in other parts of the country.

## State, county, and city policy contexts

In 2006, the state passed the California Trafficking Victims Protection Act (CTVPA), which required the Attorney General to prioritize CSEC, made human trafficking a felony, provided avenues for victims to receive damages, and created a statewide taskforce on the issue (Walker 2013). In 2012, the California Against Slavery and Exploitation (CASE) Act, also known as Prop 35, strengthened exploiter penalties and victims' court defense capabilities, while also requiring human trafficking response trainings for law enforcement, although the state did not impose any penalties for agencies that neglected to provide training (Alrabe and Stover 2018; Walker 2013). Subsequent legislation further improved CSEC protections in court testimony and outside the juvenile justice system through child welfare, replaced group homes with short-term residential treatment centers, and created funding channels for CSEC support efforts (Alrabe and Stover 2018; Walker 2013). Most recently, California passed a safe harbor law, Senate Bill 1322, which took effect in 2017 and prohibits arrests of minors younger than 18 on prostitution, loitering, or solicitation charges.

Within Alameda County, HEAT Watch has served as a hub for efforts to develop a coordinated response to supporting CSEC through "a five-point collaborative strategy" (HEAT Watch 2019). The initiative's five components are: (1) robust community engagement, (2) training for and sensitization of law enforcement, (3) vigorous prosecution, (4) education of and advocacy with policy makers, and (5) wraparound services for victim and survivors. This blueprint has become a nationally recognized, award-winning model for responding to the needs of human trafficking victims.

The HEAT Watch umbrella includes a number of programs. ACDAO also created the Bay Area HEAT Coalition, a network of system, community, and service provider stakeholders that share practices for addressing human trafficking, and the HEAT Institute, which has identified gaps in data and research and produced trauma-informed protocols for law enforcement agencies, emergency departments, and clinics in Alameda County to use in identifying signs of CSE youth. Under HEAT Watch is also the Young Women's Saturday Program, a 16-week aftercare and youth development course aimed at teaching young women self-reliance following exploitation.

Another notable program created under HEAT Watch is SafetyNet, a weekly, multidisciplinary case review of youth who have been exploited or are at risk of exploitation following initial involvement with the juvenile justice system. SafetyNet meetings include 15 agencies that interact with CSEC and at-risk youth, including BAWAR and MISSSEY. Agency representatives work together to connect youth to services and resources that meet their individual needs. As part of SafetyNet, ACDAO maintains a database of CSE youth with information from the different agencies involved. ACPD has also partnered with MISSSEY and WCCC to counsel CSEC who are in juvenile hall and worked with BAWAR to administer a victim assessment.

County-level efforts like HEAT Watch, AC United, and others have been complemented by past initiatives led by city agencies. In 2013, the Oakland City Council passed a resolution convening the CSEC Task Force, a collaborative comprised of organizations that work with victims of sex trafficking. The task force included elected officials and representatives from public safety agencies, service providers, OUSD, and advocate organizations, and has since been incorporated into AC United to represent the needs of Oakland. Recommendations from the task force in 2016 included expanding housing and placement options for children and TAY and requiring that all City employees participate in CSE trainings (City of Oakland CSEC Task Force 2016). Training for all public-facing City employees was completed in September 2019. OUSD also convened a CSEC Task Force in 2011, which brought together school administrators and community service agencies to provide trainings on child trafficking to school employees. Most recently, the district began tracking data on students suspected of or confirmed of being sexually exploited and developed a response protocol involving county, city, and nonprofit collaborations, including required referrals to MISSSEY.

# Related efforts in other regions

Other jurisdictions nationwide have demonstrated a similar commitment to confronting and eradicating commercial sexual exploitation. We highlight key aspects of coordinated CSEC efforts in Los Angeles County, California, and Multnomah County, Oregon.

## Los Angeles County, California

Los Angeles County's approach to CSE prevention is coordinated by the Los Angeles County CSEC Integrated Leadership Team, which was founded in 2015 to bring together key stakeholders and connect CSEC with the services they need. Both the Los Angeles County Probation Department and the county's Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) have specialized CSEC units with lower caseloads, regularly scheduled multidisciplinary team meetings for CSEC, and specialized CSE courts (Dierkhising et al. 2018). The Succeeding through Achievement and Resilience Court serves probation-involved youth in a manner similar to Alameda County's SafetyNet. In addition, the Dedication to Restoration through Empowerment, Advocacy, and Mentoring Court serves CSEC who fall under the DCFS's jurisdiction. After being identified as CSEC, they are connected with an advocate from a community-based victim advocacy agency contracted by the court who meets with youth regularly and attends these weekly multidisciplinary team meetings. This community-based advocate helps guide CSEC victims through the web of agencies and refers them to other service providers.

Understanding that many county officials may come into contact with CSEC and have the opportunity to refer them to services, the CSEC Integrated Leadership Team emphasizes identification and response training for all county employees. As of 2017, around 12,000 county probation officers, social workers, schools, and other providers were trained in CSEC response (Plaza 2017). In 2013, Los Angeles County developed the First Responder Protocol for CSEC, a set of trauma-informed response guidelines for the first 72 hours following law enforcement identification of a potential CSEC victim (Ackerman-Brimberg et al. 2018). Within the first 90

minutes of contact, law enforcement officers are expected to assess and address urgent medical needs of victims and transport them to a staging agency, where they are connected with a community-based advocate and representatives from the probation and DCFS teams described earlier. The advocate provides clothes and food and takes the child for a medical exam. Over the next 72 hours, a safety plan is developed by a multidisciplinary team, and next steps are taken to ensure the youth is connected with longer-term support systems. This protocol helps ensure that youth do not fall through the cracks.

Most recently, Los Angeles County is working to expand housing options for CSEC. Although some funding already exists in the county to provide housing to youth identified as CSEC, the county identified a shortage of dedicated housing. More than a third of minors and TAY who were victims of sex trafficking and served in 2018 by the Coalition to Abolish Slavery and Trafficking (a core service provider for CSE victims in Los Angeles) reported that they were also experiencing homelessness (Office of Supervisor Hilda Solis 2019). County departments are working to develop a plan to create more housing placement options and provide supports for youth identified as CSEC or at risk of exploitation. The county has also recently expanded housing options for youth in the foster care and probation systems.

## Multnomah County, Oregon

Collaboration and coordination are the central tenets of Multnomah County's CSEC response. In 2009 the county established the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children Steering Committee under a grant from the U.S. Department of Justice's Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. The committee meets quarterly, at a minimum, to provide structure for a diverse and comprehensive set of stakeholders to take stock of the state of CSEC and identify gaps in service provision. Collaborating agencies include law enforcement, the Oregon Department of Human Services CSEC Unit, the Multnomah District Attorney's Office, and a broad array of victim service providers. The Committee's "no wrong door" philosophy and clearly defined roles and responsibilities emphasize referrals across all agencies, aiming to ensure that youth encountering *any* partner agency will be brought into a full continuum of care provided by partner agencies (CSEC Steering Committee 2012).

The Sexual Assault Resource Center (SARC) serves as a key connection between victims and partner agencies when they come into contact with CSEC. This role ensures that victims receive the same supports, regardless of whether they were first identified by law enforcement, human services, or another agency. SARC provides around-the-clock crisis response resources, has a drop-in center, and operates two long-term case management programs: the Survivors Together Reaching Your Dreams Empowerment (STRYDE) program for youth ages 12 to 18 and the Resilient Young Adult Survivor Empowerment (RYSE) program for TAY ages 18 to 25. SARC also assists in connecting victims with partner agencies depending on youths' needs and provides opportunities for peer connection and community building via regularly scheduled group activities. Both programs use a survivor-to-leader model guided by a strengths-based philosophy that values the capacity, knowledge, and potential of victims. Each month, SARC supports more than 80 youth and young adult survivors (Nedeau et al. 2017).

In addition, emergency and long-term residential support for youth ages 14 to 21 are provided by Janus Youth Program's Athena House, and LifeWorks Northwest operates an intensive mental health and substance abuse treatment program for both CSEC and TAY. To ensure that these services constitute a full continuum of care for CSEC victims, the Steering Committee also has a Victim Service Advisory Committee (VSAC) made up of direct service providers that meets monthly to assess any gaps or areas of improvement (Ohlsen 2015). Multnomah County recognized that TAY often age out of crucial support systems, which requires efforts to expand services for TAY. The county utilized funding from the Administration for Children and Families Domestic Victims of Human Trafficking grant to expand services for TAY. This effort expanded Janus Youth Program and LifeWorks services for young adults and established the STRYDE program (Krieger et al 2018).

# Promising programs for supporting CSEC

Programs to support CSEC victims can take a variety of forms. In a meta-analysis of available literature, Moynihan et al. (2018) identified five main categories of services: (1) health or social services, (2) intensive case management models, (3) psychoeducational therapy groups, (4) residential programs, and (5) other types (examples include a drop-in alternative school program and a cash-transfer program). Oakland Unite CSEC agencies, like many other programs, provide services that fall into multiple categories. Research on the effectiveness of programs serving CSEC populations is limited, however. In Moynihan et al.'s meta-analysis, only eight studies included comparison groups. DuBois and Felner (2016) also highlighted a lack of research with sufficiently large sample sizes and reliable outcome data in their meta-analysis of mentoring programs for CSEC populations. Despite these limitations, a number of programs are evidence-based and/or demonstrate promising results (Table A.1).

# Table A.1. Summary of promising programs for CSE youth

Runaway Intervention Program (RIP)	RIP operates in conjunction with the hospital-based Child Advocacy Center in Minnesota to serve runaw ay girls with a history of sexual exploitation. The program employs advanced practice nurses to provide case management and utilizes girl empow erment groups and home visits to help promote healthier relationships, mental health, and behavioral health. The intervention lasts up to 12 months and includes participants spending three hours w eekly with a therapist. A study found that participants demonstrated improvements in familial relations compared to abused girls from a comparison group after 6 months (Saew yc and Edinburgh 2010). By the 12-month follow up, RIP participants w ere no longer statistically different from a sample of non-abused girls in drug use and sexual risk behaviors and had low er rates than the non-abused girls of suicide ideation and attempts. Girls with low er levels of self-esteem and family connectedness and higher levels of emotional distress at baseline show ed the greatest improvements.
Girls Educational and Mentoring Services (GEMS)	GEMS provides a variety of supports, including crisis care, case management, education services, youth development, and transitional and supportive housing (GEMS 2019). The organization incorporates guiding principles from the fields of domestic violence, positive youth development, gender-specific programming, and addiction into their programs. GEMS hires survivors to mentor youth and trains them to employ transformational relationship practices as delineated by the Roca intervention model using a range of methods, including motivational interview ing and cognitive behavioral therapy. The organization also uses an adapted version of the Prochaska and DiClemente (1983) Stages of Change transtheoretical model to tailor their approach according to the stage w here youth find themselves. For example, if a youth is in the pre-contemplation stage, the goals are to help them develop a reason for changing, validate their experience, encourage self-exploration, and leave the door open for future conversations. No evaluations of GEMS exist at this time.
My Life My Choice	My Life My Choice is a well-established CSEC support program in Massachusetts that has show n promising early evaluation results (My Life My Choice 2018). Program participants are paired with survivor mentors and receive intensive case management, community leadership and engagement opportunities, and specialized clinical and substance abuse recovery support. Youth are expected to build meaningful relationships with their survivor mentors, who meet with them weekly for one to two hours, traveling to see them wherever they are placed. Youth cannot age out of the program and can continue to access their mentor as long as they choose. Preliminary before-and-after results found that program participants were five times less likely to report being commercially sexually exploited after completing one year of the program and also reported a decrease in drug use and an increase in social support and coping skills.
Acknowledge, Commit, Transform (ACT)	ACT serves youth in Massachusetts through intensive and long-term residential treatment, pairing counseling with My Life My Choice survivor mentoring. To improve participant retention, ACT changed its service model to focus on girls who both self-reported sexual exploitation and demonstrated a willingness to commit to changing their lives according to the Stages of Change model. These benchmarks, along with readiness to adjust to life in a group home, are assessed by a motivational interview at intake. If girls are not deemed ready, they can be entered into a nonresidential program to help prepare them for ACT. This transition led to a 78 percent decrease in unplanned discharges compared to earlier iterations of the program (Thompson et al 2011). Of those who did have a planned discharge, the majority w ere still in a safe environment three months later. Thomson et al. (2011) also found that the residential aspect of the program helped girls stay put and provided structure in a homelike environment.
Seeking Safety	Seeking Safety is a counseling model to help people attain safety from trauma /or substance abuse. Although this model is not exclusively focused on CSE youth, strong evidence exists of its effectiveness. Based on a meta-analysis of 12 quasi-experimental or experimental studies, Lenz et al. (2016) found that the program w as effective in decreasing symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder and substance abuse for a broad range of individuals. In a randomized controlled trial specifically focused on adolescent girls, the program w as effective in improving a variety of mental health outcomes (Najavits et al. 2006). The Seeking Safety program is designed to be integrated with other treatments and can be implemented in an individual or a group format. The program consists of 25 sessions but can be adapted to focus on a subset of those sessions if counselors have few er than 25 sessions to w ork with individuals.

# Appendix B:

# Additional information on data sources

This report is based on qualitative and quantitative analyses of multiple data sources. We discuss both the qualitative and administrative data sources in this appendix. All data collection procedures were reviewed and approved by the Health Media Lab Institutional Review Board.

# Qualitative data

The qualitative component of this report included primary data collection through a participant survey, site visits, interviews with agency staff, and a review of materials provided by Oakland Unite and collected during site visits.

# Survey data

The purpose of the survey data collection was to gather information about Oakland Unite directly from strategy participants. The general topics of study included experiences and satisfaction with services, importance of agency characteristics, thoughts about the future, experiences with violence, and demographic characteristics. Before the survey was administered, it was pretested with former Oakland Unite participants in two strategies. The pretest focused on respondents' understanding of questions, difficulty of answering, and the time required for completion. Based on this pretest, the survey was revised and the final version was translated into Spanish.

The surveys were fielded with participants at each agency during September and October 2018. Survey administration was typically conducted on two back-to-back days where any Oakland Unite participant who visited that agency on one of the days was asked to complete a survey. Due to the differences in services provided and the number of participants at each agency, some sites delayed the start of data collection or included additional days. Nearly all surveys were conducted using a paper copy of the survey, with 5 percent of respondents electing to use a web version. The survey took approximately five minutes to complete. As no identifying information was included on the survey, all responses were anonymous. In total, 28 participants completed a survey across the three CSE youth intervention agencies. Because the number of surveys varied by agency, the responses were weighted proportional to the number of completed surveys at each agency. This means that each agency contributed equally to the sub-strategy averages regardless of the number of participants who completed a survey.

# Site visits and interviews

The purpose of the site visits and interviews was to gather information about Oakland Unite strategy implementation from agency staff. The general topics of study included participant engagement, program implementation, program progress and tracking, collaboration networks, and successes and challenges. Site visits took place in winter 2017 and summer 2019. During each visit, Mathematica staff conducted semistructured interviews with grantee staff members, including managers and frontline staff. Across the two years, we conducted 21 interviews at the three agencies providing services in the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy, plus 6 additional key informant interviews with stakeholders in policy and advocacy, law enforcement, community health, and coalition-building (Table B.1).

Data collection period	Site visits conducted	Director or program manager interviews	Frontline staff interviews	Key informant interviews
Winter 2018	3	3	9	0
Summer 2019	3	3	6	6

#### Table B.1. Site visit and interview summary

At each site, we interviewed site directors or managers for approximately 45 to 60 minutes, focusing on topics such as defining and reaching the program's target population, program performance measures, and staffing. Interviews with frontline staff members at each site were typically 30 to 45 minutes and focused on participant engagement, service provision, and program data. For agencies with grants across multiple strategies, we interviewed frontline staff members for each strategy. For key informant interviews, we conducted phone calls that were typically 30 to 60 minutes long.

Interview protocols included a set of topics, with questions varying depending on which type of respondent was interviewed. The protocols also included targeted questions about the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy, which asked about best practices specific to it and additional details about services and outcomes. The interviews were semistructured, meaning the evaluation team asked the same questions during each interview, but responses were open-ended and the interviewer had flexibility to probe for details or clarification in the responses. During the site visits, a note taker recorded responses in a standardized template, which linked the responses to specific interview questions and to broader topics for analysis. The evaluation team analyzed responses across interviewees within the site and across agencies within the same sub-strategy. The goals were to highlight key themes about the implementation of the sub-strategy and to identify similarities and differences between agencies.

In addition to site visits and key informant interviews, the evaluation team reviewed materials provided by Oakland Unite staff and collected directly from agencies during the site visits. The documents included the scope of work statement, agency budgets, quarterly reports, and intake forms. We used this information to better understand the types of services offered by each agency as well as their benchmarks and performance measures.

Although the qualitative data provided rich information about the agencies and the Oakland Unite program, this evaluation approach has some limitations. In particular, the participant surveys were done with a convenience sample of clients who happened to be on-site, or with clients specifically selected for participation by the agency, so their responses may not reflect the experiences of all clients. As with all data from interviews, particularly those including sensitive topics, a potential for social desirability bias also exists, as staff may provide responses that reflect favorably upon themselves. Although we specifically informed each interviewee that their answers would be kept confidential and would have no impact on their employment or the agency's participation in Oakland Unite, respondents may still have felt that negative responses could have repercussions. We designed our site visit procedures to minimize the potential for this bias, including interviewing in private spaces and emphasizing the confidential nature of the research in the consent language, but we cannot rule out the effect of these factors in the results.

# Administrative data

The quantitative analyses in this report used administrative data from Oakland Unite, the Oakland Police Department, the Alameda County Police Department, the Oakland Unified School District, and the Alameda County Office of Education that were linked together (Table B.2).

## Table B.2. Administrative data sources

Data source	Total number of individual records retrieved	Date range
Alameda County Office of Education (ACOE)	1,492	August 1, 2014, to June 30, 2018
Alameda County Probation Department (ACPD)	23,377	January 1, 2010, to December 31, 2018
Oakland Unite Cityspan data	8,631	January 1, 2016, to December 31, 2018
Oakland Police Department (OPD) arrest incidents	76,630	January 1, 2006, to December 31, 2018
Oakland Police Department (OPD) victimization incidents	392,680	January 1, 2006, to December 31, 2018
Oakland Unified School District (OUSD)	82,028	August 1, 2010, to June 30, 2018

## **Oakland Unite data**

All Oakland Unite agencies are required to maintain administrative records in a common database managed by Cityspan. Agencies use the database to record service contacts and hours, milestones reached, incentives received, referral sources, and demographic and risk information about each participant. The data extract we received from Cityspan included participants who received services between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2018. Although some individuals may have begun participating in Oakland Unite in the prior year, we did not have information about any services they received before January 1, 2016.

Between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2018, 69 percent of the 564 participants in the CSE youth intervention sub-strategy consented to share their personal information for evaluation purposes. Accordingly, Cityspan did not provide names, dates of birth, or addresses for participants who did not consent. Although nonconsenting participants are included in most descriptive statistics about Oakland Unite, they are excluded from any analyses of victimization, arrests, probation, and schooling because these analyses require identifying information so participants can be linked to outside records.

## **OPD** data

OPD provided data on arrests and victimization incidents that occurred between January 1, 2006, and December 31, 2018. The arrest data included information about each arrest incident, including its location, statute code, and Uniform Crime Reporting statute category code, as well

as information about the arrestee, including name, date of birth, address, and demographics. The victimization data included similar information for each incident involving a victim of a crime. We used the Uniform Crime Reporting statute categories and statute codes to determine each arrest or victimization incident's type. For example, we classified incidents by whether they involved a gun or other weapon, public order, property, drugs, a violent offense, or a violation of probation. For victimization incidents, we also identified a broader category of violent incidents, including whether they involved homicide, rape, robbery, assault, offenses against the family and children, prostitution, human trafficking, or sex offenses. For arrest or victimization incidents with multiple offenses, we used the most serious offense to determine the severity.

## ACPD data

ACPD provided data on state and local Criminal Offender Record Information for individuals age 13 and older served through the Juvenile Division between 2010 and 2019, and records for individuals ages 18 to 40 served through the Adult Division, including realigned populations, also between 2010 and 2019. The Juvenile Division data files included arrest date and arrested offenses, sustained offenses, disposition, and facility information. These files included juveniles arrested throughout Alameda County, including the City of Oakland. The Adult Division file included only information on sustained offenses for individuals who were on formal probation. The ACPD data was matched to the other data sources using first and last name, date of birth, race and ethnicity, and gender. Mathematica conducted the match on-site at ACPD and removed identifying information from the matched file before conducting the analysis.

## OUSD data

OUSD provided data on all individuals enrolled in the district at any point between August 1, 2010, and June 30, 2018. For each academic year, the data included information about the student's school, days enrolled, days absent, days suspended, and academic performance. In addition, the data contained demographic and identifying information about each student.

## ACOE data

ACOE provided data on all individuals enrolled in the county's community schools at any point between August 1, 2014, and June 30, 2018. For each academic year, the data included information about the student's days enrolled, days absent, days suspended, and academic performance. In addition, the data contained demographic and identifying information about each student.

## **Data matching**

To conduct the analyses, we needed to link individuals within and across data sets. To conduct these matches, we used an algorithm to assign individuals a unique identifier both within and across data sets. The algorithm used consenting individuals' identifying information, including their first and last name, date of birth, gender, and address, to perform matches. All of these data points did not have to be available or match exactly for records to be matched. Instead, the algorithm was designed to take into account the likelihood that two or more records represented

the same person, even if minor differences existed across records (such as in the spelling of names). The algorithm placed the most weight on name and date of birth but also used gender and address, if available. These weights were carefully calibrated to avoid erroneous matches while still allowing flexibility.

We received 9,700 unique Cityspan IDs in the Oakland Unite data. The matching algorithm identified 8,631 individuals, which reflects that a number of people received services from more than one Oakland Unite agency. However, this number may still overcount the unique individuals served by Oakland Unite, because we were only able to identify participants who received services from more than one agency if they consented to sharing their identifying information for evaluation. Of the 8,631 individuals identified in the Oakland Unite data, we matched 1,780 records to OPD arrest data, 1,627 to OPD victimization data, 1,625 to ACPD data, 1,319 to OUSD data, and 273 to ACOE data; 4,074 did not consent to share their identifying information with evaluators and thus could not be linked to other records.

## **Data security**

Mathematica exercises due care to protect all data provided for this evaluation from unauthorized physical and electronic access. Per our current data-sharing agreements, we do not share identifiable data with Oakland Unite or any other entity. All data are stored in an encrypted project-specific folder in a secure server. Access to this folder is restricted to authorized users through access control lists that require approval from the evaluation's project director. Only staff members who were needed to complete the evaluation objectives were granted access to the restricted data folder; they included three researchers (including the project director) and a lead programmer. These staff members have all completed data security training and background checks and are up to date on Mathematica's data storage and security policies.

## Mathematica

Princeton, NJ • Ann Arbor, MI • Cambridge, MA Chicago, IL • Oakland, CA • Seattle, WA Tucson, AZ • Woodlawn, MD • Washington, DC

## EDI Global, a Mathematica Company

Bukoba, Tanzania • High Wy combe, United Kingdom



mathematica.org